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Corporate Profile
2w A

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in purchasing, processing,
designing, production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery
products and operation of strategic investment and financial services, with the
objective to include investments in real estate agency business and real estate
investment funds and other potential investment opportunities.

The Company was spun-off from Man Sang International Limited and listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’) by way of introduction on 17 October 2014 under the stock code
of 1466. In March 2017, the name of the Company was changed from Man
Sang Jewellery Holdings Limited to Affluent Partners Holdings Limited.

The Group is one of the world’s largest merchants, purchasers and processors
of pearls. The processing and production of pearls and jewellery are conducted
at the Group's production facilities in Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

During the current financial year, the Group has maintained its investment in
the co-working space industry which are included in the strategic investment
and financial services operating segment.

The Group will continue to explore new business opportunities so arising in
order to maximise shareholders’ value in the coming future.
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Financial Highlights
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KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FEMBERB

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE

Consolidated Income Statement  ZHR& K FH XK 2022 2021 Change

2022 F 2021 4F 25 %
Revenue (HK$'000) WA (FETT) 62,647 43,324 19,323 446
Gross profit/(loss) (HK$'000) EAM(EB)(FET) 10,992 (8,623) 19,615 2275
Loss before income tax (HK$'000) BRETISHIRIEE (T45T) (15,462) (52,077) 36,615 703
Loss for the year attributable to REZ 2 ARRARRE

equity holders of the Company FEIEEE (FABT)

(HKS'000) (15,462) (51,785) 36,323 70.1
Basic and diluted loss per share FREARNEEEE (Restated)

(HK$) (%B7) (g E5)

(0.04) (0.21) 0.17 81.0
As at 31 March
®3A31H
Consolidated Statement of R E AR R R
Financial Position 2022 2021 Change
2022 F 2021 k) %
Net assets (HK$'000) BERE(TET) 35,867 45,945 (10,078) 219)
Cash and cash equivalents BeRERRE (FHT)

(HKS'000) 23,585 24424 (839) (34)
Shareholders’ equity (HK$'000) R (FAT) 35,867 45,945 (10,078) (21.9)
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS FEBHELLR

2022 2021 Change

2022 F 2021 6 &

Gross profit/(loss) margin® EFE(FBER)O 17.5% (19.9% 374

percentage points

374188 75 Bh

Return on equity® [ E & R @ (43.1)% (112.7)% 69.6

percentage points

69.6 18 H 7 B4
Current ratio (times)® MENE(F)0 1.7 20
Gearing ratio® BERBELEO 0.83 0.65

M Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the Group.

(2) Return on equity is defined as the ratio of loss attributable to equity holders of the Company 2
to total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.

EMNREREBEENBRIALRA -

BREDERAERARARREEBERALR
BIRCREGaER 2 R -

(3) Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities. (3) AL ERATETARDEERERNADAGBHEEY
Lt o
(4) Gearing ratio represents total borrowing, including current and non-current portion, divided () BRBELREEELE (BRERBMIERHTD)

by total equity.

FRoAfBfERS -
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Chairman’s Statement
R

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), | hereby
present the results of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022 ("FY22").

PERFORMANCE

Since January 2020, many countries have imposed travel restrictions, public
health measures and quarantine requirement of travellers in order to contain
the outbreak of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) (the “Outbreak”) which
resulted in the weakened consumer sentiment in the world which reduced the
total Group's sales contribution in pearl and jewellery products. While the
Outbreak is yet stable, we expect that the revenue from pearls and jewellery
business will maintain in this level. The Group will continue to observe the
high-consumption products market, to review and adjust business
development strategies in a timely manner and deploy cost control measures
in a bid to deploy for steady performance in the future.

During FY22, the rescission of the sale and purchase agreement in respect of
the UK property and the release of the Company’s obligation in respect of the
guarantee was become effective. As a result, the Group has no remaining
capital commitment as at the end of reporting period.
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with the real estate investment business and the co-working
space industry, we anticipate that the Strategic Investment and Financial
Services Segment will diversify the income streams of the Group, and generate
additional investment returns on the available funds of the Company from
time to time. We expect that the segment will be the growth driver of the
Company and will actively make continuous efforts to find appropriate
investment projects in the future.

With the completion of the rights issue after end of reporting period that can
ease the liquidity pressure and improve the financial position of the Group. The
Group will further use its resources as a listed company to add value for the
acquisition project to increase its profitability and return. Meanwhile, the Group
will continue enhancing the development of the mature pearls and jewellery
business, actively participating in various important jewellery & gem fairs
around the world and optimising operation efficiency and productivity in a bid
to stay competitive.

With the existing Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment, the
Group will focus its investments and operations more in the real estate, co-
working spaces and investment and asset management sectors especially in
Europe and Asia.

APPRECIATION

I' would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to all our
shareholders, customers and other business partners for their long-term
attention and support to the Group over the years. | would also like to thank
the senior management team and all the staffs of the Group for their
dedication, hard work and contributions to the Group during the past year.

Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o BRLRE w w Je o3 T

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Board hereby reports the results of the Company and the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (“FY22"). During FY22, the consolidated loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$15.5 million (year ended
31 March 2021 ("FY21"): HK$51.8 million), representing a substantial decrease
in losses of 70% as compared with that in FY21. The basic loss per share was
HKS$0.04 (FY21 (restated): HK$0.21), representing a substantial decrease of 81%
as compared with that in FY21 mainly due to the increase in revenue and
decrease in fair value losses as compared with that in FY21.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Pearls and Jewellery Business Segment

The Group is one of the world’s largest merchants, purchasers and processors
of pearls, with its customers spanning through 50 countries and regions
around the globe. Leveraging its own competitive advantages, which include
the close and stable relationship with customers and suppliers, the Group has
offered vertically integrated product chain and built a renowned reputation in
the pearl and jewellery industry.

The global market sentiment for pearl and fine jewellery continued to be very
weak during the year which had an adverse impact on demand of the Group’s
pearl and jewellery products. While the Company expect the impact of
COVID-19 outbreak on the Pearls and Jewellery Business Segment in these
countries is not long-term on the basis that (i) the increased popularity of
online shopping by consumers which allows consumers to buy online in the
event of closure of physical stores following the lockdown measures; (ii) recent
breakthrough in the development and use of vaccines for preventing COVID-19
infections by well-established international pharmaceutical companies; and (iii)
the easing of national partial lockdown measures in the United States and
Europe. The segmental revenue generated from the Pearls and Jewellery
Business Segment increased from HK$41.2 million in FY21 to HK$59.9 million in
FY22. For FY22, the return on capital of pearls and jewellery products was 3.7 %
(FY21:(57.0)%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

While the Board considers the market sentiment is continuously improving,
nevertheless, the unprecedented circumstances brought about by the
COVID-19 pandemic continue to pose challenges to the business of the Group,
the Group will continue to strictly control costs and improve operation
efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay competitive. The Group will continue
to actively participate in various important jewellery and gem fairs around the
world when the Outbreak is stable in order to maintain its diversified customer
base.

Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment

During FY22, the Group maintained the real estate investment business
through the Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment. This
segment has been in operation and its objectives include investments in real
estate agency business, real estate investment funds and co-working space
industry as well as other potential investment opportunities.

On 22 February 2018, the Group entered into a subscription agreement with
Orient Capital Opportunity Fund SPC (the “Investment Fund”) pursuant to
which the Group has agreed to subscribe for participating shares of the value
equivalent to HK$76 million in the Investment Fund in respect of the Orient
Capital Real Estate Fund SP (the “Sub-Fund”) in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the subscription agreement and the private placing
memorandum. The principal investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to
achieve capital returns by investing solely in a residential estate project (the
“Project’) in West London. As at 31 March 2021, the Group has contributed
HK$41.8 million to the Sub-Fund.

Upon negotiations between the vendor of the Project (the “Vendor”) and the
Investment Fund, the Vendor has expressed its agreement to (i) rescind the
sale and purchase agreement of the Property (the “SPA") and release the
purchaser, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Sub-Fund, (the “Purchaser”) from
all its liabilities and obligations under the SPA; and (ii) release the guarantors
(including the Company) from their liabilities and obligations in respect of the
guarantee (collectively, the “Rescission and Release”) whereas the deposit
and instalments will be forfeited in favour of the Vendor (the “Forfeiture”).

o BRLRE w w Je o3 T
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o BRLRE w w Je o3 T

The Company, having considered the property market of the United Kingdom
after Brexit, having regard to the outlook of global economy under the
continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the opportunity of the
Group to be released and discharged from its onerous obligations of making
further payments in the aggregate amount of approximately HK$34.2 million
for a property project with major risks and uncertainties associated with it, has
endorsed the Rescission and Release and the Forfeiture.

During FY22, the Company had been informed by the Investment Fund that
the Rescission and Release had become effective pursuant to a rescission
agreement entered into between the Vendor and the Purchaser and a deed of
release given by the Vendor in favour of the Company. During FY21, the Group
further recognised a fair value loss on the investment in the Sub-Fund
amounting to approximately HK$4.7 million.

On 11 January 2022, the entire investment in the Sub-Fund was disposed of to
an independent third party.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 22 February 2018, 2
March 2018 and 14 May 2021.

Since June 2019, the social movement has been dampening the economic
activities in Hong Kong. The business operating environment in Hong Kong
became uncertain and challenging, as well as weaker consumer sentiment,
decline of visitor arrivals from mainland China to Hong Kong. As a result, the
clients of co-working business had been affected significantly and it attributed
to the decline of the demand of co-working spaces. In addition, since the
Outbreak in January 2020, the travel restrictions, public health measures and
quarantine requirement of travellers which were imposed by Hong Kong
government and other countries have adversely affected the operation of co-
working business, which has in turn affected the demand of co-working space,
as well as the average rental income of co-working space. In order to reduce
losses and maintain the business, the management of the co-working business
has downsized the co-working space network in Hong Kong. However, the
Group is optimistic regarding the demand of co-working space after the
pandemic, due to the change in the working hours and location.

Looking forward, with the completion of the loan notes, its subsequent real
estate agency business and the investment in the co-working space industry,
we expect that our strategic investment and financial services segment will
diversify the income streams of the Group and generate additional investment
returns on the available funds of the Company from time to time. In view of
the recent market downturns, we considered to minimise our investments in
the United Kingdom. We expect that the segment will be one of the growth
drivers of the Company in the future and we will make continuous efforts to
find appropriate investment projects. The Group will further use its resources
as a listed company to add value for the acquisition projects, so as to increase
its profitability and return.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no financial guarantee.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 28 September 2021, a total of 53,272,000 placing Shares were placed by
Kingston Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent’) to not less than six placees
at placing price of HK$0.103 per placing Share pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the placing agreement entered into between the Company and
the Placing Agent on 1 September 2021, representing approximately 16.67% of
the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue
of the placing Shares immediately upon completion of the placing.

The above placing Shares were allotted and issued under the general mandate
granted to the Board at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
26 August 2021. The net proceeds from the placing, after deduction of the
placing commission and other related expenses, amounted to approximately
HKS$5.2 million was used for general working capital for the Group including
the partial settlement of the Group’s loan and accrued interests of
approximately HKS1 million. Details of the transaction were disclosed in the
Company's announcements dated 1 September 2021 and 28 September 2021.

o BRLRE w w Je o3 T
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o BRLRE w w Je o3 T

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 12 May 2022, the Company completed a rights issue at a price of HK$0.11
per rights share on the basis of one (1) rights share for every one (1) existing
share held by the qualifying shareholders on the record date (i.e. 14 April 2022)
(the "Rights Issue”). Details of the Rights Issue are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 28 January 2022, 17 February 2022, 1 April 2022, 12 May
2022, the Company’s circular dated 17 March 2022 and the Company’s
prospectus dated 19 April 2022 respectively. The net proceeds from the Rights
Issue were approximately HK$32.9 million after deducting estimated rights
issue commission and professional fees and other expenses, approximately
HK$27.2 million of which have been earmarked for the partial repayment of the
Group's other borrowings and accrued interests and the remaining of which
are for the general working capital of the Group.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with the real estate investment business and the co-working
space industry, our targets are the countries along Eurasia. We anticipate that
the Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment will diversify the
income streams of the Group, and generate additional investment returns on
the available funds of the Company from time to time. We expect that the
segment will be the growth driver of the Company and will actively make
continuous efforts to find appropriate investment projects in the future.

Overall speaking, the social movement in Hong Kong and the Outbreak is
expected to adversely impact on the business performance of the Group but
the actual impact has yet to be quantified. Based on the Company’s current
observation and estimation, the downtrend on the Group’s revenue is
expected to be carried forward to certain extent for the second half of 2021
due to the slow down of economic activities and the change of consumption
pattern caused by the Outbreak. The Group is taking all practicable measures
to cope with the challenges ahead, while striving for the highest caution
standard to protect the health and safety of our staff and our customers. The
Company will continue to monitor the development of the Outbreak and its
impact on the Company'’s operations and react actively to its impacts on the
financial position and operating results of the Group.

The Group will further use its resources as a listed company to add value for
the acquisition project to increase its profitability and return. Meanwhile, the
Group will continue enhancing the development of the mature pearls and
jewellery business, actively participating in various important jewellery & gem
fairs around the world and optimising operation efficiency and productivity in
a bid to stay competitive. While the Outbreak being yet stable, the Directors
expected that the revenue from pearls and jewellery business will continue to
further deteriorate.

With the development of the existing Strategic Investment and Financial
Services Segment, the Group will focus its investments and operations more in
the real estate, co-working spaces and investment and asset management
sectors especially in Europe and Asia.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group currently is principally engaged in purchasing, processing,
designing, production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery
products and operation of strategic investment and financial services.

Revenue and Gross Profit

Revenue increased to HK$62.6 million for FY22 (FY21: HK$43.3 million),
comprised sales of pearl and jewellery of HK$59.9 million (FY21: HK$41.2
million) and interest income on strategic investment and financial services of
HKS$2.7 million (FY21: HKS2.1 million), mainly as a result of the increase in the
sales of pearl and jewellery.

Gross profit increased by HK$19.6 million to HK$11.0 million (FY21: gross loss of
HK$8.6 million). The gross loss margin of 19.9% during FY21 was mainly due to
the provision for impairment loss on inventories amounted to HK$10.0 million.

Selling and Administrative Expenses (the “S&A
expenses”)

S&A expenses mainly comprised selling expenses of HK$0.8 million (FY21:
HKS$0.6 million) and administrative expenses of HK$14.8 million (FY21: HK$20.7
million). S&A expenses decreased by HK$5.7 million or 26.8% to HKS15.6 million
(FY21: HKS21.3 million) in FY22. The decrease in S&A expenses was mainly due
to the result of cost control measures deployed by the Group during FY22.

Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company substantially decreased
by HK$36.3 million or 70.1% to HKS$15.5 million in FY22 (FY21: HK$51.8 million)
was mainly due to the decrease in provision of impairment losses on
inventories from HK$10.0 million in FY21 to HK$1.5 million in FY22 and the
reversal of allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables, net during
the year as compared to FY21.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the year, the Group funded its operations through a combination of
cash generated from operations, equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company and proceeds from placing of new shares. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group's total equity was HK$35.9 million (2021: HK$45.9 million), representing a
decrease of 21.8% from last year.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$23.6
million (31 March 2021: HK$24.4 million). Cash and cash equivalents were
mainly denominated in United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
The Group's net current assets were HK$34.1 million (31 March 2021: HK$44.5
million). The current ratio, represented by the total current assets divided by
the total current liabilities, was 1.7 (31 March 2021: 2.0).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had outstanding borrowings of HK$29.8 million
(31 March 2021: HK$30.0 million) of which a borrowing amount of HK$29.8
million (2021: HK$28.0 million) is secured by other receivables with carrying
value of HK$20.6 million and is at interest rate of 15% per annum and is
scheduled to be repayable on 25 July 2022. With the available cash and cash
equivalents and cash generated from operations, the Group has adequate
financial resources to meet the anticipated future liquidity requirements and
capital expenditure commitment.

Capital Structure and Share Consolidation

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
319,648,964 (31 March 2021: 266,376,964) of HK$0.02 each (the “Shares”) and
its issued share capital was HK$6,392,979 (31 March 2021: HK$5,327,539).

On 1 September 2021, the Company entered into the placing agreement with
the placing agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
place, through the placing agent on a best-efforts basis, up to 53,272,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.103 per placing share to certain
independent placees. Accordingly, the Group’s share capital increased by
approximately HK$1,065,000 and the remaining balance of approximately
HK$4,162,000 was credited to the share premium account.

Save as disclosed above, there was no movements in either the Company’s
authorised or issued share capital during the year under review.
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Capital Commitments

At the end of reporting period, the Group had no significant commitments
outstanding.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries
during FY21 and FY22.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from various currencies,
such as United States dollars, Great Britain Pounds and Renminbi, which were
the major foreign currencies transacted by the Group during FY21 and FY22.

Since Hong Kong dollars remain pegged to the United States dollars within a
defined range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk against the United States dollars. The Group has subsidiaries operating in
the PRC, in which most of their transactions, including revenue, expenses and
other financing activities, are denominated in Renminbi. The Group has
investment operating in England which is denominated in Great Britain
Pounds.

The Group manages its foreign currency risk against other currencies by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and may use hedging
derivative, such as foreign currency forward contract, to manage its foreign
currency risk as appropriate.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total workforce of 47 (31 March 2021: 49),
of whom 18 (31 March 2021: 18) were based in Hong Kong. The total staff
costs, including Directors’ emoluments and mandatory provident fund, was
approximately HK$11.2 million in 2022 (2021: HK$16.0 million). Employees were
remunerated on the basis of their performance and experience. Remuneration
packages, including salary and year-end discretionary bonus, were determined
by reference to market conditions and individual performance.

Key performance indicators

The Company has defined the following key performance indicators ("KPls")
which are closely aligned with the performance of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March
BZE3AMBLEE

2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FTET FHAT
Revenue Wiza 62,647 43,324
Loss for the year attributable to equity REEARRAIRREGEE
holders of the Company (15,462) (51,785)
Equity attributable to equity holders EARRREIGER
of the Company 35,867 45,945
Return on capital employed in sale HELUHRREEDMA
of pearls and jewellery products = WAEIE: 1 3.7% (57.0)%
Return on capital employed in strategic RIS E RIS IR FT B
investment and financial services B 7 B 2 (34.4)% (7.5)%
Notes: S

Q) Return on capital employed in sale of pearls and jewellery products represents segment profit
or loss from sale of pearls and jewellery products business divided by average capital
employed and is measured as a percentage.

)] Return on capital employed in strategic investment and financial services represent segment
profit or loss from strategic investment and financial services divided by average capital

employed and is measured as a percentage.

Commentary on the performance of the Group against each of these KPIs is set
out in “BUSINESS REVIEW" above.

These KPIs are reviewed regularly and amended occasionally to correspond
with the changing mix of the Group’s principal activities.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s management reviews the Group's internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. They have determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is principally engaged
in purchasing, processing, designing, production and wholesale distribution of
pearls and jewellery products and operation of strategic investment and
financial services. Accordingly, the Group has identified two operating
segments — sales of pearls and jewellery products segment and strategic
investment and financial services segment.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A summary of the principal risks and uncertainties which may impact the
Group's financial conditions, results of operations or future performance and
how the Group mitigates these risks is set out below.

This summary should not be regarded as a complete and comprehensive
statement of all potential risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, but rather
those risks which the Group currently believes may have a significant impact
on the Group's performance and future prospects.
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B0 NP RN ES

AREREARRE 2NN - BEREIRE
KRz T BB R TABAEEHRE RAKE LN
AR AR % R R BN T -

SR E T AR E S AR EE R < TR BER
@R HBAR R Z TBF R - HEARER
R REZFE R %ﬁﬁﬁlZ%ﬁ&%XM
SBREATE

Principal risks

TERB

Description

AES

Mitigating actions

B R

Strategjic risk
RES M E R

Economic risk
17 [ B

Credit risk

e
I:l/\

Business risk

XBER

Strategic risk is the risk that medium and long term
profitability and/or reputation of the Group could be
adversely impacted by the failure either to identify or
implement the correct strategy, or to react
appropriately to changes in the business environment.
SRS 1 R\ B A IR oK B 38 Bl S B Bt LE MR SR S Sl
AREZIFLEEREMEAEETH MKH
BFIRE N RSB BER TR R 2 R o

Economic risk is the risk of any downturn in economic
conditions which could impact the Group’s
performance through higher bad debts as a result of
customers’ inability to repay loans and lower asset
values.
%@H@HEH%@@%ZTﬁ@ﬁ'i@%E
BEPENEEERMEEURRIE NN EEEER
BEMPEAEERR -

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a

customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails

to meet its contractual obligations.

@EH e RHERMITAZEPARIHF REE
THAENERE  AEBAXMBEER AR -

Business risk is the risk that any of our major customers
ceases their business relationship with us.
EBERAEMEIEEFRIEARMERERL
E e

Extensive investment management
experience of the Board.
EXeRREER EEKR -
Regularly review on strategy and
performance of each business unit.
EHRE B EBEL 2 R NKRI
Perform comprehensive due diligence on all
potential acquisitions.

AT EBENESTRETEHEMES -

Regularly review forward looking indicators
to identify economic conditions.

E MR S AT IR R IR DURB B R IR -

Fully understand customers and carry out
credit quality assessment on customers
before granting loans.

REHERAN2E TREPLH TP E
TEEE &L -

Regularly monitor loans and interest
receivable and assess for their recoverability.
EHEREREREAME - WA
BRI

Continually review market trends and
maintain a competitive position by retaining
product quality.

BBRFERER  BERNHSEE
I 4 FFHE F AL 0
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Principal risks

FERME

Description
RE

Mitigating actions

B R

Operational risk
EE R

Liquidity risk
MEEE AR

Price risk

e

Exchange risk
PEE 3¢ [l fex

Operational risk is the risk of increasing labour costs
and labour shortages which could have a material and
adverse impact on the Group’s operation and
profitability.

EERR RS TR L RS TR HAEER
LERBMEIEKEATNEZE 2 R -

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
RBETRARASAERKEEBITHIRZIH
BEZRER -

Price risk is the risk that changes in equity prices will
affect the Group's income and the value of its holdings
of equities.
BERERASBTZEREBRAREMFREEE
2 IREEE Y AR -

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign
exchange rates will affect the Group’s income and the
value of its holdings of assets.
ELRBRABTEAEERANEMBEEER
2 SNEFE R E 2 B -

Regularly assess the requirements of labours
based on forecasts.

REFRAEHFESTHEK -

Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of
financial position.

EHERRBES MIHBRREK
Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover
commitments.
RBEERDE AR BAGE -

Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing only
in securities listed on stock exchanges.
BRERENESFRGM LT ZESM
PREIRBE 2R o

Ensure acceptable and appropriate finance
in place, or believed to be available before
committing investment projects.
AEREEE AR BIEE AIER
NEEER -

Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address
any portfolio issues promptly.
TEHERRFEIREHE AR IE
WEHEERHE -

Spread price risk exposure by investing a
number of equities.

BREZEREZUD RERER o

Closely monitor statement of financial
position and cashflow exchange risk

exposures.
B BRSO R LR & R E S R
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Principal risks

FERME

Description
RE

Mitigating actions

B R

People risk

AERR

Legal and
regulatory risk

FREEERR

People risk is the risk of loss of the services of any
directors, senior management and other key personnel
which could have a material adverse effect on the
Group's businesses.

AZRBRABEMNES SREBABERAMEE
ABRIERE AT BEH AR EB R ERER T
7@k -

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a breach of laws
and regulations could lead to litigation, investigations
or disputes, resulting in additional costs being incurred,
civil and/or criminal proceedings and reputational
damage.
ERNEERRAERER AR FIRESI BERAA
AES AL BREEEINA - RER A
EFREFRBEXBZAR -

Provide competitive reward and benefit
packages that ensure our ability to attract
and retain the employees we need.

R AT ) 2 52R) RAB A B A RE (R
REBERRENRSINEBERTZES -
Ensure that the staff of the Group have the
right working environment to enable them
to do the best job possible and maximise
their satisfaction at work.
WRAEE7ETHGHE TEREL
SEIZFAARMTITEREERT
THEMEE -

Monitor changes and developments in the
regulatory environment and ensure that
sufficient resources being made available to
implement any required changes.
ERRERR 2P RERLERATA
ZERRAEBIRIEAIRE 2 EE -
Seek legal or other specialist advice as
appropriate.
BERSRERIHEMERZER -
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5 E R

CHAIRMAN

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, aged 54, was appointed as an executive director and the
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 27 September 2019 and 18 October
2019 respectively. He obtained a Degree in Business Studies from University of
Glamorgan in 1992 and a Master Degree in Business Administration from
Cardiff Business School in 1993. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
International Accountants. He is also a Chartered Marketer of The Chartered
Institute of Marketing and a member of Institute of Management Accountants.
He has over 26 years of working experience in merger and acquisition, finance
and accounting, banking, asset management and funds operations in various
industries including real estate developments, infrastructure developments,
real estate investment trusts (REITS), securities investments and natural
resources industries. Mr. Cheng is currently an executive director and the chief
executive officer of China Uptown Group Company Limited (stock code: 2330)
and an executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock code:
559), the shares of both are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Cheng was an executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Sino Haijing Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1106), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to
August 2018. He was also a non-executive director of IRC Limited (stock code:
1029), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from February 2017 to March 2020.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Alex, aged 43, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 11 April 2016. Mr. Leung obtained his Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of Auckland, New Zealand in May 2000. Mr. Leung
had worked in two international accounting firms from December 2000 to
February 2012. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accounting and the CPA Australia. He has more than 20 years of
experience in auditing, accounting and corporate management. Mr. Leung is
currently an executive director of China Healthwise Holdings Limited (stock
code: 348), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Leung was an executive director and the group chief financial
officer of Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from October 2014 to
November 2018.
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Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, aged 53, was appointed as an executive director,
company secretary and the chief financial officer of the Company on 1 April
2018. He is also an independent non-executive director of Ocean Line Port
Development Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
(GEM) Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8502) since November 2020
and an independent non-executive director of Great Wall Terroir Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 524) since March 2021.

Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has accumulated over 20 years” working
experience from an international audit firm and public listed companies. He
had spent about 8 years in the international audit firm and was an audit
manager before he left the firm. Thereafter, Mr. Cheung has held different
senjor positions in various public listed companies. He was an executive
director and chief financial officer of Dingyi Group Investment Limited (stock
code: 508), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from October 2011 to March 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 30 September 2020. Mr. Chiu has over
30 years of experience in accounting. Mr. Chiu has held various senior
accounting and finance positions in sectors of property investment and
development, and information technology development business. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the CPA Australia. Mr. Chiu received a Master of Accountancy Degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2006, a Bachelor of Laws Degree
from the Peking University, the People’s Republic of China in July 1998, a
Degree of Master of Commerce in Accounting from The University of New
South Wales, Australia in May 1989, a Bachelor of Administrative Studies Degree
and a Bachelor of Arts (Economics) Degree from the York University, Canada in
June 1986 and June 1985 respectively. Mr. Chiu is currently an executive
director of Kin Shing Holdings Limited (stock code: 1630) and an independent
non-executive director of Kingston Financial Group Limited (stock code: 1031),
KEYNE LTD (formerly known as Nine Express Limited) (stock code: 0009),
Sincere Watch (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 444) and Coolpad Group
Limited (stock code: 2369), all companies are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 30 September 2020. Mr. Dong has
extensive management experience in the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Dong
was an executive director of Greater Bay Area Dynamic Growth Holding
Limited (stock code: 1189) from August 2019 to August 2020 which is listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the chairman and an executive
director of Tech Pro Technology Development Limited (stock code: 3823) from
February 2019 to March 2020, the issued shares of which had been formerly
listed on The Stock Exchange. In addition, from 2002 to 2004, Mr. Dong was a
member of the Standing Committee of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed
Companies, which functions as an effective communication channel between
listed companies and regulatory authorities in Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 14 January 2022. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master of
Arts in International Accounting from City University of Hong Kong and a
Master's Degree of Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in taxation, accounting,
financing, audit field and public listed companies for many years. Mr. Wong is
currently an executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock
code: 559) and an independent non-executive director of China Water Industry
Group Limited (stock code: 1129), both companies are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is also an independent non-executive
director of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8081) and
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (stock code: 8292), both companies are listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard of
corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interests of all of its stakeholders, and the Board is fully
committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards of corporate
governance provide a framework and solid foundation for the Group to
manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high standard of
accountability and protect stakeholders' interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement of policy which
provides guidance on the application of the corporate governance principles
on the Group, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code’) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2022
and, where appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices of the CG
Code, except for the deviations disclosed below.

1. There is currently no officer carrying the title of Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") up to the date of this report. In the absence of a CEO, the duties
of the CEO have been/will continue to be collectively undertaken by all
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr. Leung Alex and Mr.
Cheung Sze Ming. In the opinion of the Directors, the present
arrangement is effective and efficient.

2. Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days
should be given of a regular board meeting to all Directors an
opportunity to attend. During the year ended 31 March 2022, certain
regular Board meetings were convened with less than 14 days' notice to
enable the Directors’ to react timely and make expeditious decisions in
respect of transactions which were of significance to the Group's
business. As a result, the aforesaid regular Board meetings were held
with a shorter notice period than required with no objection by all the
Directors. The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the requirement
of code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code in future.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules") as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific
enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group, which
includes leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management and
performances. The management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management of the Group. The
delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of interim and annual reports and announcements
for the Board's approval before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate
systems of internal controls and risk management procedures; and (3)
compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances
and to ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company's
corporate governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of the Group and for
the exercise of independent judgement. The Directors with various professional
qualifications, experience and related financial management expertise have
contributed to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate
checks and balances to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”). Hence, the Board believes
that the current Board composition satisfies the balance of expertise, skills and
experience to the corporate governance requirements of the Group as well as
the ongoing development and management of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises 3 executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin,
Mr. Leung Alex and Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic
and Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in “Profile of Directors” on pages 20
to 22 of this annual report.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Company, and to review and
approve the Company’s interim and annual results. During the year ended 31
March 2022, 9 Board meetings were held and the attendance of each Director
at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this report.

Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should be
given of a regular board meeting to all directors an opportunity to attend.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, certain regular Board meetings were
convened with less than 14 days’ notice to enable the Directors to react timely
and make expeditious decisions in respect of transactions which were of
significance to the Group's business. As a result, the aforesaid regular Board
meetings were held with a shorter notice period than required with no
objection by the Directors. The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the
requirement of code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code in future. In addition to
Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board met with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors. The Company
Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings to comply
with all applicable rules and regulations. The agenda and the accompanying
Board papers are normally sent to the Directors at least three days before the
intended date of a Board meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are
circulated to the Directors for their comments before being approved. All
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), all
Directors appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at the meeting. At each annual general meeting, one third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Save as disclosed in the “Profile of Directors” set out on pages 20 to 22 of this
annual report, the Directors do not have material financial, business or other
relationships with one another.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the executive Directors are clearly segregated to
ensure independence and proper checks and balances. The Chairman focuses
on the business strategy and direction of the Company, provides leadership to
the Board and ensures proper and effective functioning of the Board in
discharge of its responsibilities. The executive Directors are collectively
accountable to the Board for the overall implementation of the Company’s
strategies and the co-ordination of overall business operations.

There is currently no officer carrying the title of Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ”)
up to the date of this annual report. In the absence of a CEQ, the duties of the
CEO have been/will continue to be collectively undertaken by all executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr. Leung Alex and Mr. Cheung Sze Ming.
In the opinion of the Directors, the present arrangement is effective and
efficient.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors, appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after their appointment
and be subject to re-election at that meeting; and those Directors appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and be eligible for re-
election.

Moreover, all non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for an initial term of one year, which are renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year from the day immediately after
the expiry of the current terms of their respective appointments, subject to
expiration on the earlier of either (i) the conclusion of the annual general
meeting of the Company in the year of the third anniversary of the
appointment or re-election of that Director; or (i) the expiration of the period
within which the annual general meeting of the Company is required to be
held in the year of the third anniversary of the appointment or re-election of
that Director; or (iii) earlier determination in accordance with the Articles and/
or any applicable laws and regulations.

N BAT B

ITEMATESTZACERBMERED - AERE
BY R RHE - TEBEN KR M
ARAZAW - FEEES  WHEREFSH
BITEBEREERNARMEE - WITES
AHARNEZSRE  2ERTARAKER
AR EGEE -

BEAFHRAMIL  BRVEBEFMALHET
BB ((TEAR ) — B - RITERAR — B
R THREHBS B SEERMART
B WML  RREBTERRFHE
EREAE -BEEAR BAIRHITZEBR
TRERER o

FEPATHF

PIERZRENEHER =R ZESR(BIEIEHR
TER)REREZAEZERZEERRAK
g UHRELERET MEEESERER
RAEESEMENENESTENEREEZAR
ATERREFAE XHTEERERE
e

AN - FTBFAITE S (BRBUIFRITESR)
ZNFERR—F  LEBREFTELEREZ
ROTEHERLERESREDEH—F I
RATEEZRFERLERRER  (ZBES
BZESBEREFNARABRRBFRS
REREF (xR EE RS ERERRE=
MEARRABITRRBF KRG HBRE W
(ABREFRBAE) ¢ (i) BRIRABI &AM
EREDI MR ERFRL -



Annual Report 2022 F

Corporate Governance Report

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received confirmation of
independence from all three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic and Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors and concluded that all of them are independent within the definition
of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of
any events which would cause it to believe that the independence of any of
the independent non-executive Directors has been impaired up to the date of
this report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy’) in
October 2014 which was amended in December 2018. The Board Diversity
Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees
increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of the Company’'s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience. The Company will also
take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

G

R R A A

RAFEES EMRAE300) 3100 &k
SIAMEZRTE - ARRIEBEEEZS =B
FMITES(AHBELE  ERAEREK
W) IRIE ETARRIEIBKEL 2B LY
PRER K o

EXeCBEREBEFNITESTNELIE
WRBKREDE EMRBAREZBLAL -
AN BEAREAH  EFSW TR H
EERFE BEEREEMELFTES
ZHEUMRE -

EHET WA ZuLBUR

EECOR04FEI0AENEETERESZ T
tHE(EEEREZTAEBE]) HER
2018 F 12 B - EFEKE L TL KR
HAEREEENEZ T EMEIA i - A
AARATEREEZTILESTSKENE
wm TRAEBEKEEMBEEZ LT
RABEBNRBEEERFEZRNEARE T
%o

ARRRSKEHESTERELZTLE@ERER
ZHRE BRETRRMER - Fi&  EERH
BEESUNBELR - AR THEEH
AEGMEBEARARTR BEFEMARME
BURAES BRA - WHEEEANERATE
RO BEMEFTEEXN B ZTLMEs -

=7



28

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Corporate Governance Report
e SRR 8

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 6 Directors, amongst them, 3
are independent non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review
and control of the management process. The Board is also characterized by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of age, professional
experience, skills and knowledge.

Appointment of Directors is based on meritocracy and the Board Diversity
Policy is among the criteria used in selecting members to join the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with specific written
terms of reference and all members of the Audit Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. Pursuant to its terms of reference, the Audit
Committee is authorised to commit the Company funds in order to obtain
advice from outside legal counsel, accountants, investigatory services or other
expert advice. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee detailing the
authority and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic and Mr. Wong Siu
Keung, Joe. Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings
to review the interim and the annual results, internal control review report and
risk assessment report before their submission to the Board. The attendance of
each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the section headed “Board
and Committees Meetings” of this report.

The audit committee of the Company, which comprises three independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters including
the review of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

RAREEH  EFEHMUEFMAN - EF
BB IFMITES - ABEERE REEE
BIEIEF - THEFHRK  FELR  REERA
BOH EERTHAEZ T ENKBAERK -

EEZ2ZAHUAAET RRA - MEFEK
BZTERRDBEMAETE 2 A& 22
Z— o

wHREAY

EEgCUEKEZR
#E MEEBREE
EX -REFZZEGZBERE BXEER
SERRIAARRES - KEBREINEE
REER - SFtE  PBERB2ERREMEE
BR -ERZEQUZREREFINERZES
ZBRERBE - NARR LB R fHE

EREESH3RBUIFNITEFTHER
£ EREERFEREEEER - BEELE
REGEZBEEXRE -

REZE2002F3A3NHIEFERN EXEES
BITTMAEE  URAZEZSRIAIEFEMFR
HRE2FEE  NDEERFTHRE - ARER
FHAERE c BEZEZEEGRME 2 BB REHIIN
rHE [EEgRTEegS] -

AARR = RBUIERTEFTAR AR EHE
BZEe HERERNAEBRMN 25T R
BIRER - Wilsm AR - BB EERME
WESH BREEHNASEEZE 202293 H31
AIEFE KB AME®E -



Annual Report 2022 F

Corporate Governance Report

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board with specific
written terms of reference and the majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee detailing the authority and
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic and Mr.
Wong Siu Keung, Joe, and an executive Director, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin. Mr.
Dong Bo, Frederic is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee held 2
meetings to review and recommend the proposed emolument of a new
executive Director and the proposed adjustment to the emolument of an
executive Director. The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings”
of this report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March
2022 are set out in note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board with specific
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst
other things, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, considering the reappointment of the Directors and succession
planning for Directors and making recommendations to the Board in respect
of the aforesaid matters. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
detailing the authority and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic and Mr. Wong Siu
Keung, Joe, and an executive Director, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin. Mr. Wong Siu
Keung, Joe is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Board adopted a Director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 21 December 2018 to formally set out the criteria and process on the
selection, nomination and appointment of Directors. According to the
Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of
Directors rests with the entire Board or the Shareholders in general meeting as
the case may be. The Board has delegated the relevant screening and
evaluation process to the Nomination Committee, which identifies suitable
candidates for directorships and recommends them to the Board. In assessing
the suitability of the proposed candidate(s), the Nomination Committee takes
into consideration the candidates’ character, integrity, personal attributes
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience and
expertise that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy,
and the ability to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes, his commitment to devoting adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, fulfilment of the independence requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules (for independent non-executive Directors) and diversity on the
Board. After reaching its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates the
relevant candidate(s) to the Board for approval of appointment. The Board will
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election
of Directors at general meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee held 2
meetings to review the structure, size and composition of the Board; to assess
the independence of all independent non-executive Directors; to recommend
to the Board on the nomination of retiring Directors for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company; and to recommend the proposed
appointment of a new executive Director, a member of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee; and to
recommend the proposed appointment of the Chairman. The attendance of
each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the section headed
“Board and Committees Meetings” of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

Upon appointment, new Directors receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory
obligations of being a Director to ensure that they are sufficiently aware of their
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, receive amendments to or updates on the
relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the Company encourages the
Directors to enrol in a wide range of professional development courses and
seminars relating to the Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
corporate governance practices so that they can continuously improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the year ended 31 March 2022
to the Company. The Company has also continuously updated the Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices.
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The participation by each Director in continuous professional development for ~ &= 20223 A31 HIEFE @ SEFHMRHE 2

the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

FESXERFIIWT :

Reading materials relating
to rules and/or attending
trainings and seminars

MEEEANZMBR R
Name of Director EEHR HERIIRAFE
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BfFER S A 4
Mr. Leung Alex R A v
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REFBUT A v/
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny TSR E 4
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic EREAE v
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe ERS b 4
Mr. Lee Kin Keung g4

(resigned on 14 January 2022)

(202241 B 14 BEHT) -

BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

ERAGRAZREEHR

The individual attendance records of each Director at the general meetings A ZE2022F3 831 AILEE  SEEHERE
and the meetings of the Board and various Committees during the yearended A€ - EF e k2L 8% v AR ED

31 March 2022 are set out below: HH) T
Audit Remuneration Nomination
General Board Committee Committee Committee
meetings meetings meetings Meetings Meetings
Exg EREES FHZEg REZEE
Name of Director EERR BRAE =E = =f =f
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BFEREE 1/1 9/9 - 22 22
Mr. Leung Alex RIS 11 6/9 - - -
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming SRETEUE A 1/1 9/9 - - -
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny HERELE 1/1 6/9 2/2 22 22
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic ERAE 1/1 6/9 2/2 22 22
Mr.Wong Siu Keung, Joe (Note 1) & K& %4 (FifzE1) 3/4 - - -
Mr. Lee Kin Keung (Note 2) Ffgog s & (M 2) 1/1 3/5 22 1/2 1/2
Notes: Bt 5
O] Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 14 (1) FIKR L ER2022F 1 B 14 B EZERBLIENIT
January 2022. e
) Mr. Lee Kin Keung resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 14 January 2022. ) IR AER202F 1 A 4R BB ENITES -

S

Apart from formal meetings, matters requiring Board approval were arranged ~ FRIER &5 - BES S ENEEUEME

by means of circulation of written resolutions.

ERFERTAEHE °
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022 which gives a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of the results and cash flows for
year then ended. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022, the Board has selected appropriate accounting policies, applied
them consistently in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial
statements, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable,
and ensured the preparation of the financial statements on the going concern
basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects. The interim
and annual results of the Company are announced in a timely manner within
the limit of two months and three months, respectively, after the end of the
relevant periods in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing all
information and representation contained in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the services provided by the Company’s
auditor, Moore Stephens CPA Limited, to the Group and associated
remuneration were as follows:
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BERR EMRA D RIES BB A RERE
ARZEAZRAREREAE -

EXEMTE  REARERHEETINEE 2022
FIANBUEFEZARBEGRA M B RRAN
FTA B R R -

12 B T T 4
HZE202F3A31BIEFE » KRG ZIZERED

REFHEEGAMEBMBER A MAEER
2 R RARRAB S0 T -

Fees paid/payable

Services Rendered Frig it = lR%& B ELEA
HKS$'000
FHETT
Audit of financial statements B EHRER 580
Other non-audit services H b IETIZ RS 58
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the design and
implementation of internal controls and risk management which covers
financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk management of the
Company, as well as continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such internal
controls and risk management. The Board has delegated such responsibility to
the management of the Company. The management, under the supervision of
the Board, has established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks faced by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk management that
are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee also
considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, as well as their
training programmes and budgets.

In light of the size and scale of the Group's businesses, the Company does not
establish a separate internal audit department. The Group has engaged an
independent professional firm to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control and risk management systems annually. The
independent professional firm engaged has performed a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems covering
the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. The review covered all key
controls and based on inquiry, observation and analytical review procedures
supplemented by testing of transactions, reports and reconciliation. The overall
opinion on the internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
satisfactory.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions for the year under review and up to the date of
issuance of the annual report is reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, the Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the
Company. Mr. Cheung reported to the Chairman of the Company and is
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters. Mr.
Cheung confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for the year under review and has complied with the
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (the "EGM Requisitionists”) can deposit
a written request to convene an extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM") to the
Board at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 906,
9/F, Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong. The
EGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects of the EGM and
such request(s) must be signed by all the EGM Requisitionists and may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the EGM
Requisitionists.

The Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong will
verify the EGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the EGM Requisitionists’ request.
Promptly after their confirmation that the EGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance
with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if
the EGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the EGM Requisitionists
will be advised of the outcome and a EGM will not be convened as requested.

The EGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-tenth of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM if within
twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the EGM Requisitionists’ request, the
Board does not proceed duly to convene an EGM provided that any EGM so
convened is held within two (2) months from the date of the original EGM
Requisitionists’ request. An EGM so convened by the EGM Requisitionists shall
be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
a General Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands for
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. Shareholders can also send enquiries and proposals putting forward
for Shareholders’ consideration at Shareholders’ meetings to the Board in
writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong as shown
below or directly by raising questions at the general meeting of the Company.

Room 906, 9/F,

Wings Building,

110-116 Queen'’s Road Central,
Central,

Hong Kong

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East,
Hong Kong, or call its customer service hotline at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make enquiries through
the Company’s website and by means of emails to the investor relations
department (email address: ir@affluent-partners.com). The management
always provides prompt responses to any such enquiries. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, there were no changes in the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association. An up-to-date consolidated version of the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association is available on the
Company's website.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in December
2018. The Group considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders
to be its goal. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia, the operating results, cash flow, financial condition and
capital requirements of the Group and the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole. The Company'’s distribution of dividends shall also be subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles
of Association of the Company as well as all applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The Dividend Policy allows the Board to declare special dividends from time to
time in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. There is no guarantee
that any particular amount of dividends will be distributed for any specific
periods. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time.

By Order of the Board
Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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The Directors herein present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the Group
was principally engaged in the purchasing, processing, designing, production
and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products and operation of
strategic investment and financial services.

The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31 March 2022 by
operating segment is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the Group's future
business development during the year ended 31 March 2022 including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 7 and the Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 8 to 19 of this annual report.

Financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 130 of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights on page 5 of this
annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on its principal activities and the
risk of non-compliance with such laws and regulations could lead to litigation,
investigations or disputes, resulting in additional costs being incurred, civil
and/or criminal proceedings and reputational damage.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to promoting an environmentally conscious work
place and aims and places significant emphasis on minimising our
environmental impact and to create a more sustainable future for future
generations.

Our production operations are carried out by the production facilities of Hui
Bao Feng Jewellery (Shenzhen) Limited (“"HBF Jewellery”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, in Shenzhen, which is subject to certain PRC
environmental laws and regulations. The primary waste generated from our
production processes is waste water, which is treated in compliance with the
applicable PRC environmental laws and regulations. To ensure the operation of
HBF Jewellery is in compliance with the applicable environmental law on an
ongoing basis, we have entered into a waste water treatment agreement with
a qualified water treatment company which is responsible for collecting the
waste water in the production process.

HBF Jewellery has been compliant with all relevant PRC environmental related
laws and regulations in all material respects during the year ended 31 March
2022.

Further discussion on the Group's environmental issues and policies will be
contained in the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2022 which will be published in due course.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 63 of this annual report. The Board
does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out
in the section of “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” in the
consolidated financial statements on page 67 of this Annual Report.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 36(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 March 2022, the Company had no reserves available for distribution in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law (2020 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands (2021: the Company’s net reserves available for distribution
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law (2020
Revision) of the Cayman Islands as HK$588,000, which represented the retained
earnings/accumulated losses and share premium.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 43
to 46 of this annual report, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreements during the year ended 31 March 2022.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page 188.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Alex
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny

Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (appointed on 14 January 2022)
Mr. Lee Kin Keung (resigned on 14 January 2022)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr.
Cheung Sze Ming and Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny shall retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Article 164(1) of the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed
duty, in their respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any
of them. Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in force and was in
force throughout the year end 31 March 2022.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy throughout the year, which indemnifies against costs, charges,
losses, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors in the
execution and discharge of their duties.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 22.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its
holding companies was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company has been entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors have any interests in a
business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group or
have any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year ended 31
March 2022.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 17 October 2014. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme (the “Options”) shall not in aggregate exceed
16,969,496 shares, being 10% of the total number of shares in issue at the date
of approval of the refreshed scheme mandate limit at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 28 September 2018 and taken in the effect of the
Share Consolidation. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to
grant an option to any of the directors, officers, employees (including, without
limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract consultants (including
executive and non-executive consultants) of any member of the Group as
determined by the Board. The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by the Company
(and to which the provisions of chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable)
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
No Options may be granted under any schemes of the Company if this will
result in the limit being exceeded. The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options granted to each eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Options) under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12 month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue.
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The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to the
eligible participants to contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to
recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are
valuable to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, grant Options to the
eligible participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an exercise
price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the adoption of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to certain
restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme, Options may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of
grant thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which is not
more than 10 years from the date of grant of Options. There is no general
requirement on the minimum period for which Options must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before Options can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the time of granting
any Option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant subject to
such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without limitation) those
in relation to the minimum period of the Options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 169,600 Options lapsed and no Options
were granted, exercised or cancelled. As at the date of this report, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of Options yet
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 2,096,800, representing
approximately 0.66% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company (i.e.
319,648,964 shares).
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The movements in the Options granted under the Share Option Scheme — i ZE 202243 31 B ILEE @ BIEERET2

during the year ended 31 March 2022 are shown below: B 7 BB I T AR
Number of Options
BREHA
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise
1 April during during during during 31March Date of grant Validity period price of
Name or category of participants 2021 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2022 of Options of Options Options
#2021 F R2025F BRE
SREZHZNER 4818 FRERE FRETHR FREEH FREAN 38318 RUBRERS BRESHES K3
HKS
B
per share
Bk
(Note)
(W3E)
Executive Directors
HrEs
Mr.Leung Alex 100000 - - - - 100000 29-10-2018 29-10-2019to 1340
REERE 20185108298 28-10-2023
W9E10A29AZ
03%F10A 288
100000 - - - - 100000 29-10-2018 29-10-2020to 1340
20185108298 28-10-2023
00F10A9BE
03%F10A 288
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming 848400 - - - - 848400 29-10-2018 29-10-2019to 1340
RESEE 20185108298 28-10-2023
W19F10AVEE
03%F10A 288
848400 - - - - 848400 29-10-2018 29-10-2020to 1340
20185108298 28-10-2023
00F10A9BE
03%F10A 28R
Independent non-executive directors
BUEHTES
Mr.Lee Kin Keung 84800 - - - (84800) - 29-10-2018 29-10-2019to 1340
(resigned on 14 January 2022) 2018108294 28102023
FEasrs 019F10A9EZ
(R0nF1 R14BEHE) WBE0ABE
84800 - - - (84800) - 29-10-2018 29-10-2020to 1340
2018F10A29A 28102023
200510898
03F10A28A
Sub-total 2,066,400 - - - (169,600) 1,896,800
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Number of Options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise
1 April during during during during 31March Date of grant Validity period price of
Name or category of participants 2021 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2022 of Options of Options Options
#2021 H2026 R E
SREZHZAER 4818 ERBRY FREAE  FREE# FREXN 38318 RUBRERH BREEND K4
HKS
BT
per share
ik
(Note)
(i)
Others
Hh
Employees 50,000 - - - - 50000 29-10-2018 29-10-2019to 1340
(3= 2018F 107298 28-10-2023
W19F10AVRE
2036108288
50,000 - - - - 50000 29-10-2018 29-10-2020to 1340
2018F 107298 28-10-2023
W0F10A9BE
2036108288
50,000 - - - - 50000 13-12-2018 13-12-2019t0 1200
08F 128138 12-12-2023
W9 1NABAE
036128128
50,000 - - - - 50000 13-12-2018 13-12-2020to 1200
08F 128138 12-12-2023
W0ENABRE
036128128
Sub-total 200,000 - - - - 200,000
it
Total 2,266,400 - - - (169,600) 2,096,800

it




INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware and save as disclosed in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” on pages 43 to 46 of this report, as at 31 March 2022,
none of the Directors or chief executives and their respective associates had
any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) (i) which will be required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company, or (i) which will be required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 43 to
46 of this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2022 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2022 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
and did not constitute connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as the Directors are aware, the persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who directly or indirectly, had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company,
which are required to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:

FERBR Z w8 o7 B i

R202F3A318 F BESFA - RAQFK
B REERGPEEXEEREESBREGES
N HR &G 5 ) 28 XV EB S 2 K 399 BRAGSC T A #E
B RIRIE(EF RS G 5 336 (5 B8 AZ
R E R MOERIARMALT(RARFE
EREBTHMABRINGAT

Number of Percentage of
ordinary shares the issued
Name of substantial of HK$0.02 Long/short share capital
shareholder Capacity each held position of the Company
FrEAEEREE RN
0.0287T 2 BRITRA
IERRER MR =27) EER#AE /%R Aok
(note)
(Bt &%)
Pacific Wish Limited (Note) Beneficial owner 84,088,691 Long position 2631%
BERARA A (HE) BEREAA e
Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 Long position 26.31%
PR B 5 A (BT3E) REEEEER e
Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 Long position 2631%

et () e g

Note:  These 84,088,691 shares were directly owned by Pacific Wish Limited, which was legally and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing as to 50% and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily as to
50%. As at 31 March 2022, the board of directors of Pacific Wish Limited comprised Mr. Chan
Vincent Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, there was no other person or
entity had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed the independence of all the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied of their independence.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of
the Director are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Changes

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin Appointed as executive director and chief executive
officer of China Uptown Group Company Limited
(stock code: 2330) on 17 June 2022 and executive
director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock
code: 559) on 24 August 2021.

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe  Appointed as executive director of DeTai New
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559) on 25

March 2022.

Save for the above changes, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, which comprises 3 independent non-executive
Directors, has reviewed with the management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters including the review of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended 31 March 2022
contributed by the Group’s major suppliers and customers respectively are as
follows:

Purchases

—  the largest supplier 20%
— five largest suppliers combined 59%
Sales

—  the largest customer 81%
— five largest customers combined 89%

None of the Directors, their associates or substantial Shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) were interested, at any time during the year, in the Group’'s five largest
customers or suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates and the
local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success. The Group strives
to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging employees, providing
quality services to customers and collaborating with business associates
(including suppliers and contractors) to deliver sustainable products and
services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the Company's Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2022, which will be
published in due course.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibility, performance and comparable market statistics.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as at the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws of
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2022.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders are
unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised
to consult their professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2022 were
audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited. A resolution will be submitted to the
annual general meeting to re-appoint Moore Stephens CPA Limited as the
independent auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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K| MOORE

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Affluent Partners
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 63 to 187, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited ?j_ N
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables

(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 20(a) to the consolidated financial statements)

Key audit matter

BEENEE

O (250
HE W 2 TR 0 B A

(BB A MIBRERMEES - 6(0) & 20(a))

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETONEEREEE

As at 31 March 2022, the gross trade receivables of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$23,306,000 and its related
allowance for expected credit loss amounted to approximately
HK$17,639,000.

20223 A31H - ESEERKERETEL R 23,306,000
BT R H B TR E B R4/ 17,639,000 87T ©

The management of the Company performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables and
the sufficiency of the allowance for expected credit loss. The
management of the Company estimated the amount of
expected credit loss based on provision matrix through
grouping of various customers that have similar loss patterns,
after considering the credit profile of respective customers,
ageing analysis, geographical areas, historical settlement
records and on-going trading relationships with the relevant
customers. The management of the Company also considered
the forward-looking information that may impact the
customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances as to
estimate the expected credit loss.
SRAEEEHEKE Rz TR R IEREEEBREE
ZRRMETERTME . BERAEEBKEREBATS
ZEEIER  REROWN - R BEENEEREEEE
FzHEESHME  REREEREEASBARUBER
A2 ZEEPMETRBEEESESE - BEARERERE
MRt EREEBRE BT ETPEERRMAREER
BRAE N 2 RIEMEE RS o

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BPREBRERARERFEHE

obtained an understanding of the Group's provision policy
on trade receivables, the key controls and procedures for
managing and monitoring the credit risk, and validated the
control effectiveness;

TH BEEEZEWERBEERLMRREERE
EEERR TBEHERNEET  UREEGES
M

obtained the ageing analysis of the trade receivables and
discussed with the management of the Company about
their evaluation of the background and financial capability of
the debtors and their credit assessment that the amounts
were recoverable;

BERSERRERZERERAN  LE ERAEERENW
BREMNEHEAZE MM EE N 2 E AR F 4
Al G EERHE

tested the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a
sample basis, to the underlying financial records and post
year-end settlements to bank receipts;

RIABY KM E R RO iR
SRTTWIR AR ORI A 1R E T

inquired the management for the status of each of the
material trade receivables past due as at the year ended and
corroborated explanations from the management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding on-going
business relationship with customers based on the trade
records, checked historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the customers;
BHEEEAMNFABD AN ZEEKRERER
ZIERIWIAL FBRE (NIRIBE HA08k T RIEE P 2 #
BEBHRER BREFEPZBEREEEMNLIEEIARE
BERPZEMBR) ZEEIREZME
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) I3 Sk A it 0 (A

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables W B sk <z T4 e 1R Al ()
(Continued)

(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 20(a) to the consolidated financial (FB2BHGA S RERMFES ~ 6(b) &220@)) (4&)

statements) (Continued)

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HREENSEE BEMMETNAEERBEEE

We have identified the management’s assessment of the  Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)
recoverability of the trade receivables and estimation of H{FEEAHEEE BREF2E : (B)

expected credit loss as a key audit matter because the amounts -« reviewed credit related information of a sample of debtors
involved were significant and the assessment required which were compiled by the management of the Company
significant management judgement and involved high level of as part of their assessment on the recoverability of the trade
estimation uncertainty. receivables;

BB KER BRI ER RO ET A RFERE - s EAREREREZBEBAGERBEER
EEFBZAMERABRENEE  RARMIHEEE ERREF K ERATRE 2 —&5

A BRMEFBEEREELERAEN S RS E T REEMN

ERES . assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit loss

provision methodology including the identification of credit
impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness of the
grouping of trade receivables into different categories in the
provision matrix and the basis of estimated loss rates
adopted in each category; and
ETEHAEEERREBE R AN AN BESBMNEE
BERKER REHERASERERDBR/TR
BRlzEBUERERRRAEAERER 2 EE R

examined the key data inputs, on a sample basis, to assess
the accuracy and completeness, and challenged the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the expected credit loss.
HMEREFEH ABBUTEEEREMTEN - I
EHRANETEREEEHENRR (BEFEL RATE T
BH) -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

38 o 2 it 3 0E (4)

Provision for inventories F B4
(Please refer to Notes 5 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements) (BRHERAE M BHREMFES X 19)

Key audit matter

HBREESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNNEERHEEE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's inventories amounted to
approximately HK$23,976,000 and the provision for impairment
losses on inventories of approximately HK$1,459,000 was
recognised by the Group in the consolidated profit or loss for
the year.

M2022F3A31H BEEBEZFEXR2397600087T
BEEFEREEEEELN14500008TH BEXERAFE
REBRPER -

The management of the Company assessed the provision for
obsolete or slow-moving inventories taking into consideration
of inventory ageing, condition of inventories, historical and
current sales information, as well as different market factors
impacting the selling price of these inventories. In addition, the
management of the Company considered the changes in
prevailing market condition, expected market trends and
customer demands.
E"T ERENERESFHTEERE %%%Fgﬁ/\,
CFEMRR BEREAMEEER  URPELEFF
EEBZTRAMSEE - o BERFE IEE%)‘EEE
i FEHMIEBEREPE R ZE -

We have identified the management’s impairment assessment
of the provision for obsolete or slow-moving inventories as a
key audit matter because the amounts of inventories were
significant and the assessment required significant
management judgement and involved high level of estimation
uncertainty.
BPEHEREHRESFEFEREET IRMET G’
EREAREFNFE RARGFERBEAN  BABMHG
FEEEEFLEAHE WS RS E A THEN

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BMEEERERZBARERFEHE

obtained understanding of, and evaluated, the Group's
provision policy on inventories;

TR BERBEZEERERR:

reviewed and assessed the management’s process of the
identification of obsolete or out-dated inventories and
estimation of the net realisable value of these inventories;
WA RFHEERERRESBRATFE 2R EREZ
ERERABIEEhET

tested the purchase cost, selling price and margins of aged
and obsolete inventories, on sample basis, to the supporting
documents; and

LS B X#HEM%%A ABBHNREFEZREXEN - &
B K A5

reviewed and evaluated net realisable value of inventories,
on sample basis, with reference to subsequent sales
information, the external price data and estimated costs to
be incurred to make the sale and performed testing, on a
sample basis, by tracing to the supporting documents.

s R EEZ TR FE(K2RERHEER
Kt SNEREAR SR M TT 85 S PTEE £ BV A RTRCAR) I35
BN RE B S AT R AROR -
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Expected credit loss assessment of other receivables JHC At W B ok 2 TR 45 & 1R R4
(Please refer to Notes 5 and 20(b) to the consolidated financial statements) (B2 BRI MRS & 20(0))

Key audit matter

BREETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNETNANEEEREE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's gross other receivables
amounted to approximately HK$37,103,000 and of its related
allowance for expected credit loss amounted to approximately
HK$16,206,000.

M202%F3A831H EEBZHEMEREREROR
37,103,000 7T » T AH R T8 BA{E & B 1B R 49 7% 16,206,000
I

The management of the Company performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the other receivables and
the sufficiency of the allowance for expected credit loss. The
management of the Company estimated the amount of
expected credit loss based on the future conditions and
debtors’ creditworthiness (e.g. the likelihood of default by
debtors). The management of the Company believes that they
have considered reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost and effort for this
purpose. Such assessment has taken the quantitative and
qualitative historical information and also, the forward-looking
analysis.
BERREEETHE A MtEK RS AT E M R FEREE
ERBENTRILETHE o ERREEERBARNKRE
T REFANEE(MERARLQOA ML) A RHE
EEESE - BERAEEREMREG RECEEULIEH
BESNHBZNANESHEAREHEEREGREE
¥t o BRARHAE st ME BT ME L ERIA KBRS o

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BMREARSRECAREFEE

examined the relevant investment contracts for the key
terms and the relevant contractual rights and obligations of
the holders of these receivables and assessed the underlying
business substance;
HEKERZ EBGER R FRERRTE A Z 186
AR MNETHHEBIRESRSETRE - XA HA
BEBAE

obtained an understanding of the valuation methodologies
and the processes performed by the management and the
independent qualified valuer and the management's review
process of the work of the independent qualified valuer;
THREBEFTEREBERBYAERMGEMET IR
FF UREBEHRME S ERGEMIEZRERF

obtained the valuation reports and assessed the competence
and independence of the professional valuer, and their
experience in conducting valuation of similar financial
instruments;

EREEREMTEERGEM DB IE &
HETHEUSRI A HEZ KR

evaluated the appropriateness of the methodologies and
valuation techniques used by the management for financial
instruments and assessed the reasonableness and relevance
of key assumptions based on industry knowledge and the
prevailing economic indicators;
AEEEEReRMIAMAZ A EARMERTZBE
M WREBEITERS  BOILEERTHEEERR
BIRMRAERAL
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Expected credit loss assessment of other receivables

(Continued)

(Please refer to Notes 5 and 20(b) to the consolidated financial statements)

(Continued)

Key audit matter

BREETEE

38 o 2 it 3 0E (4)

LAt B WA MR sk < TRUA B0 1RGP ()

(B2 MR E MR MTES & 20(0) (48)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EFANFTNAEERREER

We have identified the management’s assessment of the
recoverability of the other receivables and estimation of
expected credit loss as a key audit matter because the amounts
involved were significant and the assessment required
significant management judgement and estimation uncertainty.
BAPIE S B IR S At FE U BR SR AT W [ 14 RO R £ % %Y TR R
EEBENGARERERENAFE  REA/MSLER
BX - BAEBAFMAFTEEEBIELEXRHE LS KA
FEEIE ©

Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)

BMEEEREACERIZEF - (B)

evaluated the appropriateness of the key inputs by checking
to the external data or by evaluating the rationale of the
management’s judgement on the key inputs by considering
the publicly available information and other available
information from related external parties, to evaluate the
magnitude of their impact on the valuation, where
appropriate; and

FREINABERSE - HBEBERBAFMABER KK
BREBEINAANLZHMAISERMAHEREH TR
BABBZHE 2 BE  HEEEMEZRERE (D
A LR EERABBZREL &

obtained extension agreement and examined relevant key
terms and guarantee from guarantors, examined the
guarantors’ financial ability to provide such financial
guarantee.

HUSIE R s R B R AR R RN 2R B R AR AR -
ERERAREZMBEEROVBES
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2022 of the Group other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee of the Company assists the directors of the Company in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

TSI AZ T

Bk 3 Y8 255 e 28 B R T A S i +F DA A
Z &R

EQARESAHEMENAS - HhERE
B OBEERE202F383BILtEEZER
FIE2IER BB MEHRE R
UL B 2 AR -

BAUGEEMBBRRZBERL NREEME
B BAT T EHREEMENEREATRAZ

5 I 4O
EEEW o

BRUMYGREMBHRRZES > BRANEL
EFEEMER - BT EREMER
EREGAMBHMRIEMEFTBETHAT
R BERFHEERBERUTF FEERHERR
A2 ER > ERBAC AT 2 THE - AR
RREMERFEEREREML - BHMIFHRE
ZEE UM E - RAWEEM RS o

ERLAFEETE GRS W B RA
R JHAiT

BERAEERERBEEEGHMASHRMZE
B BEHRERER R EE R RERD 2 358 2Kt
BEEMTE2RAVBRE  YHERSR
EER A M BHER 2 BB T E RN EGEREER
MER 2 EAHERRAAT ZAREFHER

ERBEAMBREAE  EFARNE &F
FERE 2N WHEERBER MR EER
BREBEMZEE  ULERFBLE RS
it BFEEAREH BEXEBRIAFLE
& PIEEMERZER T RANSERR o

BERAERZBEEHY BERAREFETE
B ESBRMBREBIECEET-
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

2 BB R 2 R AR I B R AR E 2
H"iE

BAZBR  RYHERAMBRRBEREETF
EHRERFRBRMEH 2 ERBERBAEF
REFRE  YHASHERMRBZETIEZR
EHRREAZBERERE L ZRBENRS
BRI AN S TR AR R - TP
RAREARHENEMALTRBRIAER
- ABRRERBKFRE - BTERERR
BRETEAEITZETER —EXRERERM
TR #ERE 3R - S8 ARBR AL AT FR KRR SR AR B
B HEEBHEEEABREA T ERAM
BHRREREFEZFFEEVBRERMEL 2
REERTE - RIB RS SRR AT PR EE K ©

ERBEEEETERETES 2 BES - M
EBRERAEMRFBRERER - AT

Bl R RN IRFF R M EBER A
MBBEREFEEREREL B - &
FARMITE R F AR ZERER - A
REBGE R MEE 2 BTRE  ERK
PMERZER - ANKFFAIE S KR
womE BRER ERRMKEY
MBRES] - BORREEERARFMERE
ﬁfkﬁLZﬂMmﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
& B8 A FR AR BRI 2 [
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WY BRERNFEFZBEREER
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BIE o



Annual Report 2022 F

Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors, use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats of safeguards applied.

TSI AZ T

B B Bl R 7 WAl U R AR
WAL (4)

HEERAFELE St ERZRE N
Eh&E R A RRBEARGE 2 EHRE
BEREAFEEERABREBIEX
THEEN  EMAERY SKER
BREBNELEREE - HEMAR
FHEERTHEEMN - AAERBEN®RE
RIRBEAEIBFEMBHRERT ZH
AEER(NEERETR) B HIFERF
BER -BMzE®RERBEXZBMR
HFEHBIEARG ZETRE - R > K
REBRHIBERALEN BEREELR

25 4T A%
BT o

HESEYBRR 2 BEIHRIA &
BRAR  BERE UREaMBR
REATERRIBERZREE -

B ERENERBAXBEASHUMBE
HERFE T  EE 2 ERE  LEER
EUBRRERER - HMAE BE
BET AR BB RWT - HAIRES
BRAERHAE -

BMEEZZ B EAB (HHaE) 82 & st
BELFRZFEARERETHR - BREEM
FEFERT P 8 R I 2 (T EABRE

BATRAEZZESRIENR  SARMEN
BEBEIE AR ERERER - WAl aE
BEMERAEFERMBLIEZAERER
HAb IR - LAK (%388 ) 2B EVE M 3RELZ
THXRBZHBEREABRZZE SRR

61



62

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Independent Auditor’s Report
BT AZ R

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Yu Ngong
Practising Certificate Number: P06734

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022

B B il R 7 W A% U R R
WAL (4)

"EEZZEGBRBIFTET  HMAEEHE
AR AMBRREAERL A MBEKER
B ERZER - RIS ERBEIRS T H %
FRRELFHA  BRIDERIVER T AH
BBEZEEE IEBHERZERLT AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
= FET FET
Revenue WA 7 62,647 43,324
Cost of sales $HE BN (51,655) (51,947)
Gross profit/(loss) EF(18) 10,992 (8623)
Other (losses)/gains, net Hib (BB), W - F58 9 (736) 4305
Fair value loss on convertible loan notes AR EREE 2
NEEEE - (4,168)
Fair value loss on unlisted property fund FELTWEES Y
NEEEE 25 = (4,710)
Reversal of/(provision for) allowance e (GHE) BWERY
for expected credit losses (“ECL") TEHEEEE ([EH
on trade receivables, net FEBEB) BE F8 20(a) 4,525 (12,905)
Provision for allowance for ECL sHEEMEWERF 2
on other receivables JEHAE B SR RE 20(b) (10,260) (289)
Selling expenses SHERY (801) (582)
Administrative expenses TR (14,806) (20,667)
Operating loss ZiEEE (11,086) (47,639)
Finance income B 5 W 2 28 5 7
Finance costs BA TS RS 28 (4,381) (4,445)
Finance costs, net BIFERCAN » SR EE (4,376) (4,438)
Loss before income tax BrRATE R AIEE 10 (15,462) (52,077)
Income tax credit e e 12 - 292
Loss for the year attributable to equity N2 FRREILFEEEE
holders of the Company (15,462) (51,785)
Loss per share BREER (Restated)
(&&E5))
Basic and diluted HOK o 5 13 HK$(0.04) 7 7T HK$(0.21) /& 7T
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&TT
Loss for the year AFEEEIE (15,462) (51,785)
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hiv 2wk, (EE)
Item that may be reclassified subsequentlyto A& AJfEE# HHEE 18752 THH
profit or loss
— Exchange difference on translation of — MBS INE TSI Rk
financial statements of foreign ZIEH EER
operations 157 (1,140)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) AEEHMb2EmKE (EE) -
for the year, net of tax FRELFEE 157 (1,140)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEERAQRTRREGEE
attributable to equity holders of BB
the Company (15,305) (52,925)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fok o B IR DL AR

Asat 31 March 2022 7202243 A31H

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
= FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMKRE 15 412 533
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 2,142 1216
Investment in associates REEL QAR E 18 = -
Financial asset at fair value through BAFEFAHEMEEKE
other comprehensive income HNEeREE 29 = =
Unlisted property fund FEFTEES 25 - —
2,554 1,749
Current assets REEE
Inventories ey 19 23,976 24,827
Trade and other receivables, deposits JE UL E TR Eo A U BR TR
and prepayments e RIERHIE 20 31,994 40,765
Cash and cash equivalents RERERRS 2] 23,585 24,424
79,555 90,016
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables, contract N E R E b R ERR
liabilities and accruals EHBERETER 22 14,405 13,922
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 1,282 1,271
Other borrowings HibfER 24 29,776 30,000
Amount due to immediate FERTEZ TR A RIFUE
holding company 26 - 339
45,463 45,532
Net current assets REBEEZFE 34,092 44,484
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBERS 36,646 46,233
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BROLE

Asat 31 March 2022 7202243 H31H

2022 2021
2022 2021 5
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
g FTHET FHET
Non-current liabilities IRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 779 288
Net assets EESHE 35,867 45,945
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to equity AR RRELER
holders of the Company
Share capital R A 27 6,393 5328
Reserves HEiE 29,474 40,617
Total equity RS 35,867 45,945
These consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 187 were approved FRRISTEMEZEGATBREER
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022 and are Q02F6 o EESSH A RFRETR - I
signed on its behalf by: ATYEERKREE
Cheng Chi Kin Cheung Sze Ming
BB REFE
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director

FRERATEF BITEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B PR B

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AR R RREMN
Share
Share Share  Translation option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
(&N D EE EifEE BRERR RitEE st
(Note 27) (Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Bft % 27) (FitzEa) (P4zEb) (Pt &) (BitzEd)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET THET THET THET
Balances at 1 April 2020 MN2020F4 1B 2& 3,700 576,509 (1,564) 11,348 (504,861) 85,132
Loss for the year REERE - - . - (51,785) (51,785)
Other comprehensive loss: Hih 2 EERE -
Exchange difference on BEEINERI TS
translation of financial BRZERZTE
statements of foreign
operations - - (1,140) - - (1,140)
Total comprehensive loss AFEE2EEBBE
for the year - - (1,140) - (51,785) (52,925)
Equity-settled share-based PR L E DARR D AR AT
payments (Note 30) R (P 3E 30) - - - 30 - 30
Lapse of share options (Note 30) B % 1 2 (PH +E 30) - - - (1917) 1917 -
Placing of new shares RS (B 27(b))
(Note 27(b)) 1,628 12,080 - - - 13,708
Balances at 31 March 2021 R202153 /318
2 kR 5328 588,589 (2,704) 9,461 (554,729) 45945
Balances at 1 April 2021 202154 1 B2 8 5,328 588,589 (2,704) 9,461 (554,729) 45,945
Loss for the year AEEBHIE - - - - (15,462) (15,462)
Other comprehensive income; A 2 EE1E :
Exchange difference on BEFINETE S
translation of financial BRCERLES
statements of foreign
operations - - 157 - - 157
Total comprehensive loss REEZHAEELE
for the year - - 157 - (15,462) (15,305)
Lapse of share options (Note 30) B R4 26 % (P 7 30) - - - (708) 708 -
Placing of new shares (Note 27(C)#T i n Bl & (F7E 27(c)) 1,065 4,162 - - - 5,227
Balancesat 31 March2022 4202263 HA31H
2EER 6,393 592,751 (2,547) 8,753 (569,483) 35,867
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Notes:

(@)

©

Share premium account of the Company represents the excess of the proceeds received over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of certain subsidiaries whose functional currencies are different from
that of presentation currency.

Share option reserve represents the portion of grant date fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options of the Company.

The Peoples Republic of China (the “PRC") laws and regulations require companies registered
in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be appropriated from the net
profit (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their respective
statutory financial statements, before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory
reserves are created for specific purposes. PRC company is required to appropriate 10% of
statutory net profits to statutory surplus reserves, and before distribution of its post-tax profits
of the current year. A company may discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum of
the statutory surplus reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus
reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the companies, to expand the companies’
production operations, or to increase the capital of the companies. In addition, a company
may make further discretional contribution to the surplus reserve using its post-tax profits in
accordance with resolutions of the board of directors. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, no
statutory surplus reserves is provided as the PRC subsidiaries continued to make losses in their
operations.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
WEBEeRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z2022F3A31H IEFE

2022 2021
2022 4 2021 4F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
Fd5E FET FH&TT
Cash flows from operating activities REERELECRERE
Loss before income tax B PSR Bl B 1E (15,462) (52,077)
Adjustments for: B THEIBVEL 2 FHEE -
Finance income IS 28 (5) 7)
Finance costs IR IO 28 4,381 4,445
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREETE
plant and equipment 10 189 528
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 10 1,166 1,651
Fair value loss on unlisted property fund EEMYEESZ
AEEFBE 25 = 4,710
Fair value loss on convertible loan notes AR EREE 2
AT EFRE - 4168
Gain on disposals of property, LEWME  BERREREZ
plant and equipment g 9 - (156)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMRB ARz W 33 (511) -
Gain on early termination of lease premises 2 R4 IHTHE Y 2 W 9 - (33)
(Reversal of)/provision for allowance (Bm@),FHEEKEZT 2
for expected credit loss on trade TEEEEEERE
receivables, net HER 10 (4,525) 12,905
Provision for allowance for expected FHEE M EUARR
credit loss on other receivables TEAEEBERE 10 10,260 289
Provision for impairment RFERE
loss on inventories, net EiEEE  FE 10 1,459 9,995
Impairment loss on property, plant and mE - WEREER
equipment and right-of-use assets EREEEZRES 9 4 378
Equity-settled share-based payments PR 45 55 AR A7 7 EE
(NE 11 - 30
Written off of property, WY - WEREE
plant and equipment 9 - 888
Written off of prepayments W EH TR AT R IE 10 - 1,491
Operating cash flows before working & E& &S BT~
capital changes REFSRE (3,044) (10,795)
Changes in working capital: EEEREY
Inventories EN= (520) (1,247)
Trade and other receivables, JE WS TR I E At UK
deposits and prepayments R e RIBN A 3,037 14,910
Trade and other payables, contract JES & 3R & E b A
liabilities and accruals B AHBER
EEtEM 1,636 (19,050)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEREE (FH) 2
operating activities BHERE 1,109 (16,182)
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2022 2021
2022 F 2021 %
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
F5E FET FH&TT

Cash flows from investing activities RETHEEZEESHRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B8 E Y12 - B MR E 15 (46) (25)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - BELEEZ

plant and equipment Fri3sk1E 34(b) = 156
Interests received BUF) 8 28 5 7
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of a HERBRARESEZ

subsidiary W& FEE 33 (19) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETE (EH) EEZ

investing activities HEFEE (60) 138
Cash flows from financing activities METHEECRENE
Placing of new shares R0 ah) 5,487 14,398
Share issue expenses from placing KERE 2 BmEITRL (260) (690)
Interest paid to other borrowings HtEEZEMNFE 34(c) (3,207) (4,193)
Interest paid to lease liabilities fﬂf'ﬁ%zaﬁﬂ% 34(c) (79) (204)
Payment for principal portion of lease HEABEAESHD 2K

liabilities 34(c) (679) (1,246)
Proceeds from borrowings BEEmREHRT 34(c) 20 28,000
Repayments of borrowings BiBEE 34(c) (3,000) (28,734)
Repayment to director/former director BRTES AIES - (559)
Net cash (used in)/generated from METEH (EH) EEZ

financing activities HEFEE (1,718) 6,772
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRERRSHDFE

equivalents (669) (9,272)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUzHRERERRE

beginning of the year 24,424 34,491
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEFE RSB 2 g & (170) (795)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRZEERERR S

the year, represented by bank (HIRTHEBRASRTE)

balances and cash 23,585 24,424
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”, collectively with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13
May 2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s principal place of business changed from Office A, 6/F,
Valiant Commercial Building, 22-24 Prat Avenue, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong to Room 906, 9/F., Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road
Central, Central, Hong Kong with effect from 12 November 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in (i) the purchasing, processing, designing,
production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products
and (ii) the operation of strategic investment and financial services
segment, with the objective to include investments in real estate agency
business and real estate investment funds and other potential
investment opportunities.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, in the opinion of directors of the
Company, the ultimate holding company and the ultimate controlling
parties of the Company were Pacific Wish Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, and Mr. Chan Vincent
Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily, respectively.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 17 October 2014.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA”"). The
consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are measured at
fair values at the end of reporting period.

1.

— R

BEERBRAG ([RATE] - R EM
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1111, Cayman Islands © 2NAR) 2 F B &2
WEHERBENERDPEEDE2NE 24
FERHNEAEEATERNAEEFIR
ERREFRN0-1165KEFERNEIE
906E  B2021F 11 A 12 BABAER »

ARRR—HREZERARF - REBET
RURFEOZURLRKEERZFE - T
AT EERALBE D - AR G)RESR
BERMBRBOM2EE RERRRE
BRERBHEREXGEFHMERER
T UREMEBEIRERS -

R2022F 202138318 ARRE
ERE AR ZEEIERAR RELK
ERG O REERERAR(—HERE
B 2 BRA R MK LR
AL -

RARNR2014F10 817 BHEEEBA R
SHBRAR ([BRAT]) R ET -

o S % B2 ) e

HEMBHRRCERBEMBRE LR
([BEBMBHEER ) (ZHHEEEE
St A ((EBEFAAE ) AR
ZBERERNEBMBREER  FAE
AHER([EBETHER ) M) Rma -
RAEMERRTTAEL R AR K5
R EWARR(TERRA ) 2 @A
BERE -

REERK REATEAEZETS
RIS AMBRERES AL
AR -

71



72

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S BA S R R P R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 28
PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company. All
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
stated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions have
been used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are set
out in Note 5 Critical accounting estimates and judgements.

ADOPTION OF AMENDED HKFRSs 3.

Amended HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted, for the first time, the
following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to
and effective for the Group's consolidated financial statements for the
accounting period beginning on 1 April 2021.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's consolidated financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or the disclosure set out in
the consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF AMENDED HKFRSs

(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

At the date of this report, the Group has not early adopted any of the
following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

effective, in these consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17

Amendment to AG 5

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contacts and the related
Amendments?

Accounting Guideline 5 Merger
Accounting for Common Control
Combinations (Revised)?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020?
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3.

ADOPTION OF AMENDED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the related impact
of adopting the above new and revised HKFRSs. So far, it has concluded
that the above new and revised HKFRSs will be adopted at the respective
effective dates and the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on these consolidated financial statements of the Group.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently adopted to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(U]

Consolidation

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquirers date carrying value of the acquirer's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from
such re-measurement are recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(U]

(i)

Consolidation (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquire over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from intercompany transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes directly attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investees net assets
including goodwill.
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4. HEAREETBORBE (4)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(b) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or
decreased to recognise the investors share of the profit or loss of
the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group's investments
in associated entities includes goodwill identified on acquisition.
Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and the Group's
share of the net fair value of the associates identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of
the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to share of profit of investments accounted for using
equity method in the consolidated income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the Group's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investors interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates of
interests are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

4. FEAREEBORBE ()

Wi v ] (%)

REERIGWIER 2 m M EER
AR AR - MEEKRER
Hib 2 s 2 EB AN E M2 E
Wk NEERR - S HIRE 2 BRE(E1F
HAEFEFREE o anAN SR [ e (5 — ] B
BRBZEEEN BB L
BRRZ R BREMEMBEE
MR - AEBE RIS HERE
—FEE - FRIFARELEHE QT
BEEDERIEERETHCARRE
BREMERMR -

AEEREREAHEEREAE
M ERNBREREL TBERE -
HAZEEERE  AEEFER
B BRR /AR & R ) A Y3 5008 Ko H
REEZZR  AREAKRERT
ERRERAEDEARZEBEHIRE
AN 2 A

AEBEREENR]ZEZ M
THERXHEE G MEBREAE
BB EwR T ER - BERNER
EREEREBERTIT 2R - B
HRFRABEERNERIEE
HIRRME - DRSS AREREIRE
HE S - B2 RRZ BRI

BT - AREREAEER
W2 BE— -

BB ) R B A 36 T
7 W3 S 1B B 2 M3 R PO e

7

[0



Annual Report 2022 F

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
oo A 55 HR R P R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation

(U]

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the functional currency). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

At the end of the year, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation

currency as follows:

(@)  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate

at the end of reporting period;

(b)  income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the

transactions); and

(©)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised in

other comprehensive income.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated income statement

during the year in which they are incurred.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses over their estimated useful lives from the date
on which they are available for use and after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method,
at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements 25% to 33%
Plant and machinery 20% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%

An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount. The assets residual values and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
other losses net in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an assets fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the financial assets.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") are added to the fair value of the financial assets, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or

convention in the market place.

Financial assets at amortised cost

All recognised financial assets of the Group are measured at
amortised cost on the basis of the Group's business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow

characteristics of the financial assets.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVOCI:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVPL,
except that at the date of initial adoption/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income (“OCI") if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combination adopted.

Financial assets at FVOCI are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive
income. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 29
to the consolidated financial statements.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVPL when the financial asset is
(i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as
part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held
for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term;

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that are the Group;

manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVOCI
as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at FVPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. Fair
value is determined in the manner described in Notes 25 and 29
to the consolidated financial statements.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments at amortised cost

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents).

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12 months ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for significant
balances or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
grouping based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference
to past default experience and current past due exposure of the
debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12 months ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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4. HEAREETBORBE (4)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a
low risk of default, i) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater
for cases where evidence of significant increases in credit
risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade
and other receivables are each assessed as a separate
group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors;

Nature of collaterals for the receivables; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each separate group continues
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12 months ECL at the current reporting
date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received

and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
(g) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at FVPL, loans and borrowing at amortised cost, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective

hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value.

The Group's financial liabilities comprise mainly trade and other
payables and accruals, other borrowings, lease liabilities and an

amount due to immediate holding company.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Non-derivative financial liabilities measurement

Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair
value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(8

(h)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group
or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated selling expenses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

(j). Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are
measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to

passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

(k) Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, except to
the extent it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(i) Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts

expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Current and deferred tax (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except in respect of taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Current and deferred tax (Continued)

4. FEAREEBORBE ()

(K) B R A S Al 3 (48

(ii) Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

(iii) Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.

(1) Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. HE K&aHBORmE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(m) &P EHBA (4)

(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Sale of goods

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of pearls and jewellery
product is generally recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods has been transferred, being when the goods have been
shipped to the specific location (upon delivery of goods) and the
customer acceptance has been obtained, being when the
customer has the ability to direct the use of these products and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of these products.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Retirement benefits scheme

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of

reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognised until the time of leave.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC
based employees of the Group participate in various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under which
the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make
monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage

of the employees’ salaries.

These plans are a state-managed retirement benefits scheme
being operated by the local PRC government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute 20% (2021: 6% to 20%) of the average basic
salary to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement

benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
PRC based employees payable under the plans described above.
Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in independently

administered funds managed by the PRC government.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Retirement benefits scheme (Continued)

(0)

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules
and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (“MPF Scheme"), which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all employees in Hong Kong. The
contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
relevant aggregate income subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per
month, effective from 1 June 2014. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution retirement
schemes are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a share option scheme for remuneration of its
employees (including the directors).

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share options
are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted. Their value is
appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets).
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. HREGFHEORBEE (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0) Share-based payments (Continued) (0)  PAIBAy 2 FEBREA 3K (4
All services received is ultimately recognised as an expense in HeEBIEEER 2B ZAER
profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions apply, or BN EEHRNERERZ AR
recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the share Yo RE R 2 BB
options granted vest immediately unless the expense qualifies for B AREEBH28ERAEH
recognition as asset, with a corresponding increase in “Share YW BEERT S ERERRA
option reserve’ within equity. If service or non-market BERRIN WEHERAZ [
performance conditions apply, the expense is recognised over the BREERE | FAEIZ I - HARFS S IE
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the MERBIGHER @ BB
number of share options expected to vest. Non-market B2 BRI B 2 HEMET RS
performance and service conditions are included in assumptions BAANERAY - siIEER B B
about the number of share options that are expected to vest. EHBELBEER Bt RIETS
Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that KRIBEREIEM - WBERPr %8
the number of share options expected to vest differs from RNTEERERE C BB EH B A RN G
previous estimates. The impact of the revision of the original AfhEr - BRERIERThE o 85
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the J?ﬁ{ﬁ AHEE(NE) NIEBEEE
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a R B FERAIRB&EE A
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve. 5t WARME AR R AR o
Where a grant of share options is cancelled, it is treated as if it had W 2 ERER S AR AR
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet A EHEASRE - M A A IR
recognised for the grant is recognised immediately. This includes HHERZEMEY - el
any grant where non-vesting conditions within the control of oo B IEIERE B IR EARERE K
either the Group or the employee are not met. 1 B 478 1) 0 [B] P9 18 18 AR R 2 AE /]
£ Qe

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount RITEREARAERS - B IR i
previously recognised in share option reserve and the proceeds EERAZ BB WE Z {5 RIE
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the (FBRERBEEEORZKA &
nominal value of the share issued are reallocated to share capital ZAEDERTROEE) SEHHE
with any excess being recorded as share premium. When the ERA - MEMBLESBEARAR
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 1818 o fRiEARIE R 57 B B B R 1Y
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in SR A B BRI i R 1T - BB
share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses. ARBREREER BB ER
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. HREGFHEORBEE (4)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (p) &
Definition of a lease HENES=

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand- alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. HREGFHEORBEE (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (Continued) (p) (%)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (Continued)

(¢)]

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group's and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company's shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

4. HEAREETBORBE (4)
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors, which are the Group’s chief
operating decision-maker for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group’s business components and for their
review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following the Group’s major
product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable and operating
segments: (i) sales of pearls and jewellery and (ii) strategic
investment and financial services. Each of these operating
segments is managed separately as each of the product and
service lines requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches.

All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.
The measurement policies the Group use for reporting segment
results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs. Segment results represents
the loss incurred by each segment and hence is arrived at without
allocation of certain income and expenses (including finance
costs, corporate income and expense and income tax expense).
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties

(@)

Or

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

as control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

®

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

0) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures the fair value of its convertible loan notes
and unlisted property fund at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

®

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to these fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 ~— based on Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)

or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

Level 3 — based on Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data (that is

unobservable inputs)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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®

A-PARE R ()

FEeREERNFEZERNZ2EM
L2EETNERZEERSEIZR
SR&REMR  HEREELRET
S—AIRERAZEERST &R k&
ERRZTE2REREL K

St
WS e

AEERAEEBATBEERS
RHBEA ANGEERNEERF
B ZECHARENERHARE
TEEHEREATATERGAH
& e

R BHRERAERRE R FERNMR
BEERABEAFERBR(IT
SRt o RIBHEE AT ER
EMEBEANRERREARBHE
T4
F1H& — REAFEELERE
TR BMISARE (R
RRE)

F2f — BRESIAMEEN
RENZEEXERE
MABRE AR
ARERBG mE
BB (REE
18)

RIBA A BT I5
PECEEXRES
ABE (T A R
AER)

F3k  —

R B R ERP B RERERN
BELRBEMS  AEEEBRE
WEMREFIEPB(REEQ
FEGEEEME BEANRER
BABR)BESEEETRALR
i .

107



108 Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
5o s R Mk
For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 220223 A31H IEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. HREGFHEORBEE (4)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(u) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
Government grants are recognised in the consolidated income
statement on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in consolidated income statement and
presented as “other (losses)/gains, net” in the year in which they
become receivable.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the
directors of the Company to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the adoption of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

The management estimates the amount of loss allowance based on the
credit risk of the customers, the Group then uses provision matrix to
calculate ECL for the trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar
credit risk characteristic. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable, and available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward looking information are
considered. In addition, certain balances of trade receivables and those
credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The provision of ECL is
sensitive to changes in estimates.

The above assessment requires management judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying amount of
receivables and credit loss allowance/reversal in the period in which the
estimate has been changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2022, the net carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HKS$5,667,000 (2021: HK$5,480,000). The management
of the Company determined that net reversal of allowance for ECL on
trade receivables were recognised in consolidated profit or loss
amounting to approximately HK$4,525,000 (2021: provision for
allowance ECL amounting to approximately HK$12,905,000) for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (Note 20(a)).
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S.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Allowance for ECL on other receivables

The management estimates the amount of loss allowance based on the
credit risk of the debtors, the Group then assesses the loss rate of the
debtors by referencing to the default rates from international credit
rating agencies, adjusted for forward-looking futures specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

The above assessment requires management judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying amount of
receivables and credit loss allowance in the period in which the estimate
has been changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2022, the net carrying amount of other
receivables was approximately HK$20,897,000 (2021: HK$33,684,000).
The management of the Company determined that provision for
allowance for ECL on other receivables were recognised in consolidated
profit or loss amounting to approximately HK$10,260,000 (2021:
HK$289,000) for the year ended 31 March 2022 (Note 20(b)).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated selling expense. The Group would evaluate
ageing analysis as to identify the slow-moving inventories. The Group
would also estimate the net realisable value of inventories based
primarily on the latest market price, current market conditions and
subsequent selling price, and make allowance for slow-moving
inventories when the Group identified items of inventories which have a
net realisable value that is lower than its carrying amount. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste and
competitors actions in response to severe industry cycles, such
differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/reverse in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2022, the net carrying amount of inventories was
approximately HK$23,976,000 (2021: HK$24,827,000). The management
of the Company determined that net provision for impairment losses on
inventories was recognised in consolidated profit or loss amounting to
approximately HKS$1,459,000 (2021: HK$9,995,000) for the year ended 31
March 2022 (Note 19).

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for
all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.
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S.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in different jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in
the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised when management considers it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and taxation charges in the period in which such
estimate is changed.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include unlisted property fund,
trade and other receivables and deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
other borrowings, trade and other payables, contract liabilities and
accruals, lease liabilities and an amount due to immediate holding
company. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments,
which include market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk, and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Save for credit risk, the Group does
not have written risk management policies and guidelines. However, the
board of directors (the “Board”) meets periodically to analyse and
formulate measures to manage the Group's exposure to different risks
arising from the use of financial instruments. Generally, the Group
employs conservative strategies regarding its risk management. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

5.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk

(U]

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the fair value of
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the
United States of America (the “USA"), the United Kingdom
(the "UK") and Europe with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in HKS, United States dollars
("US$"), and Renminbi ("RMB”). No foreign currency risk has
been identified for the financial assets and financial liabilities
denominated in RMB, which is the functional currencies of
the subsidiaries in the PRC to which these transactions
relate. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk
primarily arises from certain financial instruments including
convertible loan notes, trade and other receivables and
deposits, cash and cash equivalents and trade payables
which are denominated in USS, RMB, GBP and Euro. During
the years, the Group did not have foreign currency hedging
policy but management continuously monitors the foreign
exchange exposure.

As USS is pegged to HKS, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HKS exchange rates. No
sensitivity analysis in respect of the Group' s financial assets
and liabilities denominated in USS$ is disclosed as in the
opinion of directors, such sensitivity analysis does not give
additional value in view of insignificant movement in the
USS/HKS exchange rates as at reporting date.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(U]

6. AR Fe A PR H R R BUR (4])
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) i B (4)
Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SMNERE ()
The following table summarises the Group’s major financial TRBINHEBHAE
assets and financial liabilities denominated in currencies NEEBRAZINEER LA
other than the functional currencies of the respective group INZEEHEZETESHE
companies at the reporting date. EREHRAE-
Expressed in HK$'000
NFETE5
2022 2021
20225 2001
RMB Euro GBP RMB Euro GBP
ARE BT REE ARE BT HeE
Deposits and other receivables 1% 4 K E 1 IR - - 20,628 12 - 33394
Cashand cashequivalents B & RERBEE 763 220 1 2,262 275 95
Trade payables JERER (314) (235) - (1,073) ) -
Overall net exposure BERMRFE 449 (15) 20,629 1,201 273 33489
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. s E b A B H OB R BUR (%)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(@) Market risk (Continued) (a) T EBE (48)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SNERRE(E)
The following table indicates the approximate change in TREBERAEBR ZEEEHRE
the Group's loss for the year and equity in response to RiESZIBMAES) - GREE
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates B FEINEE R 2 5B A] 88
to which the Group has significant exposure at the reporting & FE(AEBRHEHHERE
date. ARERRER)
2022 2021
20225 2001
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
inforeign  Effecton in foreign Effect on
exchange loss for Effect  exchange loss for Effect
rates theyear  on equity rates the year on equity
HEER H SN B E3)
t#/ EEFE HiEs S/ FEFE Hign
(FB) A7 A% (TB&) LR LR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET THET
RMB ARE +10% 45 45 +10% 120 120
-10% (45) (45) -10% (120) (120)
Euro Bt +10% (2) (2) +10% 27 27
-10% 2 2 -10% 27) 27)
GBP s +10% 2,063 2,063 +10% 3,349 3,349
-10% (2,063) (2,063) -10% (3349 (3,349)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
reporting dates and that all other variables remain constant.

The stated changes represent management's assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over
the period until the next annual reporting date. A positive
figure represents a decrease in loss or increase in equity and
vice versa for figures in brackets.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are considered
to be effective.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Bank balances at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk while
the convertible loan notes included in other receivables and
other borrowings carried at fixed rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 March 2022, if interest rates on bank balances had
been 25 basis points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$29,000 (2021: HK$21,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income on bank
balances.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed
by the Group since prior years are considered to be
effective.

6. S )EbEE B H AR X BOR (4)
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. AR B P H B R BUR (4)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (b) 15 & B

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fall to discharge its obligation under the terms
of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.

Credit risk mainly arises from trade and other receivables, deposits
and cash and cash equivalents.

Trade receivables

Most of the Group's customers do not have independent credit
rating. Trade receivables are continuously monitored by assessing
the credit quality of the customers, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors. Credit limits of
customers are reviewed periodically. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the management of the Company has to comply with
the credit and risk management policies approved by the Board of
the Company, established credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up actions are taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount for each individual trade receivables including
reviewing the credit history, settlement patterns, subsequent
settlement and ageing analysis in determining the allowance for
doubtful debts and ascertain that the adequate allowance for
doubtful debts are made for irrecoverable amount at the reporting
date. In this regard, the board of directors considers that the
Group's credit risk is effectively controlled and significantly
reduced.

The Group adopted the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit loss which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for trade receivables.

Management assessed the expected loss on the trade receivable
with significant balances individually by estimation based on the
historical credit loss experience, general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HAHE B A B H B M BOR (A1)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) fEE B (%)
Trade receivables (Continued) EWE (&)
In addition, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that SN RAREERE B HI o0
there has been no default occurred in respect of certain largest B 2 BETHEAEEMmMS * I
customers past due 90 days or more and the balances are still EEEEOEARNRERBFEES
considered fully recoverable due to long term and on-going BERZERE PRI ENGE -
business relationship and good repayment record from these ZEERIWAR A REULE -
customers. As such, the directors of the Company considered that o KRB ESFEAAERETEAE
the presumption of default could be rebutted for certain largest Pm=E @ 24/ F0 FED
customers.
As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses EERNEBEERREREN—IF
geographical areas to assess the impairment for its remaining o AREBHAMERTIHES TR
customers because these remaining customers consist of a large FRRE BREAZSEHTEFRE
number of small customers with common risk characteristics that EAEAARERE-ENNRE
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts P mZzERREHEUARBRES
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The Group's trade BIEAS NG M E B I RIB R
receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared e REBMEKRERTIZEH
credit risk characteristics by reference to geographical area, past @ BEBHERRESALRS
default experience and current past due exposure of the debtors. BRE B AR 15 B K EE E R R R
These rates are adjusted to reflect the differences between the R BB DA - R B E T
economic conditions during the period over which the historical B R ML s R 1 B B A0 A
data has been collected and the Group's view of economic B AR E B EHEEAEE R
conditions over the credit risk characteristics of the debtors. Such BOEEMRAN R ZENEE -
forward-looking information is used by management of the KRB EIEEFERZEREEER
Company to assess both the current as well as the forecast AR RS B 8 2 IREFAK R & T8
direction of conditions at the reporting date. The grouping is KR FE e DETIRANREIRE
reqularly reviewed by management of the Company to ensure TERE  UNERENEEEEE

relevant information about specific debtors is updated. BEAZBREEER -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table shows the Group's expected loss rates (shown

on a weighted average basis) adopted to the ageing analysis of
trade receivables, based on due dates, as at 31 March 2022 and

S 5 Dl B A B R e BB ()

5 B b ()

w

B E K (&)

TRV 2022 F & 2021 F 3 A 31
A AEEHEKEFIREREA
ZERER DTN 2 TEHAE 18 K (%

2021: IR EAENIR) ¢
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
AR IREAE EERE EREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTET FAET
At 31 March 2022 ®2022%3H31H
Ageing based on the due date  1RIEFIEAE ~ BR#k
Not overdue R HA 0.13% 297 —* 297
Overdue by: B
1to 30 days 1%230H 0.24% 3,852 (9) 3,843
31 to0 90 days 31E90H 0.42% 1,533 (6) 1,527
91 to 180 days 91%180H 100% 660 (660) -
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 100% 362 (362) -
Over 365 days BiE365H 100% 16,602 (16,602) -
23,306 (17,639) 5,667
* amount less than HK$1,000 * SEDF1,000787T
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

S 5 Dl B A PR ) R B BUSR ()

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 E8)E\ B (%)

Trade receivables (Continued) ERER(E)
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
TRHIEIE X RE&E ity REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHExT FHET
At 31 March 2021 M2021%3H31A8
Ageing based on the due date 1R IEZIHI B Z Bk
Not overdue NIkt 0.26% 384 (M 383
Overdue by: B
1to 30 days 1£30H 0.22% 4179 9) 4,170
3110 90 days 31290 H 0.90% 446 4 4472
91 to 180 days 912 180H 62.08% 1,279 (794) 485
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 100% 12,095 (12,095) -
Over 365 days #8365 H 100% 13,368 (13,368) -
31,751 (26,271) 5480

BREAEWEZRN202F3A318Z

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit risk and

expected credit losses of trade receivables as at 31 March 2022 are
set out in Note 20(a).

As at 31 March 2022, the largest and the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 87% and 98% (2021: 74% and 84%)
of the Group's trade receivables balance respectively. The directors
of the Company considered the credit risk from this concentration
was not significant as these counterparties were sizeable and well-
established companies in the jewellery industry with sound
financial position, one of which is a company listed in Hong Kong.
All of these counterparties have retail stores in Hong Kong and
elsewhere in the world.

EERBREHEEERZAHE
IR MY EE 20()

MR2022%FE38318 BARAAR
EFoplhAEBE RN EREHL
87% K2 98%(2021 £F : 74% I 84%) °
RAREERBELAUETETZ
FEERRIFTEX  BRRBZSYH
FHAERKETERNABRT B
Rz BREREER Y NF H
PREARESLEMZAR - fTE
ZEHFIHUREEREREML
REFZTEL -



Annual Report 2022 &R 121

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
fr o s R Bk
For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z2022F3A31H IEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. AR B P H B R BUR (4)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) f&5& b (%)

Deposits and other receivables

The Group uses historical default experience, past experience, and
also available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information, as appropriate, to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. As disclosed in
Note 20(b)(i), certain other receivables of HK$20,628,000 are due
from the debtor and its wholly owned-subsidiary are well-
established multi-national companies in the realty agency industry
in the UK, the directors of the Company assessed the default rate
of the debtor and the recovery rate by referencing the
international credit rating firm after considering the updated
financial information of the debtor, the progress of the debt and
financing arrangements of the debtors as well as the expected
GDP growth rate. In view of such, the directors of the Company
have provided the expected credit loss on outstanding principal
and interest receivables of approximately GBP 1,540,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$15,836,000) (2021: GBP570,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,088,000)) and GBP36,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$370,000) (2021: GBP27,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$289,000)) respectively were
made as at 31 March 2022. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, in accordance with the final extension as described in
Note 20(b)(i), the entire outstanding principal amount and
relevant interest receivables are expected to be settled on or
before 31 October 2022.

Cash and cash equivalents

In respect of cash and cash equivalents, the Group will place them
in banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies. Management of the
Company considers the bank balances are short-term in nature
and the probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

7&K HAth B WRK
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BRABSZAERARERELHE
#(EA) A EERRE B V21
RARZED@EIL N o AP 5E
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& U BR 3% 20,628,000 7 7T 3K B % &
BARERENB AR ARBEFH
ERETERELEKANBEERA
Bl ARBEELEEREH AN
B AR R ER2ERBREET
BATF] - EHAGEBERBELHN
EE UREHBRRNEERERER
% DAFHAER AR ELBEE KUK
B o Rt - RARIFEBE R 2022
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1,540,000 5 £ (18 & 7 4915,836,000
7 JT) (2021 4F 1 570,000 % 48 (B &
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2 (FE A #7370,000787T) (2021 FF -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Convertible loan notes

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the outstanding principal amount
was yet settled and reclassified as other receivables. The board of
directors considers the other receivable classified from convertible
loan notes as credit-impaired and detail credit risk assessment is

included in the “"deposit and other receivables” as above.

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s

financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment:

6.

S 5 Dl B A P ) R R BUBR ()

(b) 15 &8)E\ B (%)

TERRERREE

R2022F %2021 3 A31 B » Ak
BEASBNAENLETHEL
HEWRER -E52RE 849
BREREBREH DB E MR
RREREERE - FANEER
KM EER EX Re R EMER
EEW\J

TRAVAETHEREEBRTG
MASEEREEZEERR :

External 12 month or Gross carrying
2022 credit rating lifetime ECL amount
2022 F MIBEEFTHR NREASZPEPEESE FREAE
HK$’000
FHET
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBHERANTEZERMEE
Trade receivables (provision matrix) N/A Lifetime ECL 5,682
FEU & TR (B R ) TiE A 2 HITEAE S E1E
Lifetime credit-impaired 17,624
2HEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 856
Re RE b R AR TR TiEA 218 AFEEREEEE
Convertible loan notes and interest Caa-C Lifetime credit-impaired 36,834
receivables included in other receivables
ST AEM YR RA P R EREE R CaaC 2HEERE
JEMA B
Bank balances High credit-rating 12 month ECL 23,585
IRITAEER ST -G 218 AFEEREEEE
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(0

Convertible loan notes (Continued)

6. S % )E bR B H AR X BOR (4)

(b) 15 &b (%)

TERREMRERE (&)

External 12 month or Gross carrying
2021 credit rating lifetime ECL amount
20214 HINBEERIR REAXZHEHREESE FRE#AE
HK$'000
FHETT
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBHEBATHEZERERE
Trade receivables (provision matrix) N/A Lifetime ECL 5,494
FEUE R (B RE e ) N3 R > HITEAE BB
Lifetime credit-impaired 26,257
EHEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 829
Be N CH M EUER K TEA 1218 AFE B EEEE
Convertible loan notes and interest Caa-C Lifetime credit-impaired 33,683
receivables included in other receivables
STAEMBURRRN AT MR EREE R CaaC 2HEERE
JEWIHB
Bank balances High credit-rating 12 month ECL 24,424
RITHEER RIEER 1218 AFE B EE RS

The credit policies have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to have been effective in limiting the
Group's exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will not able to
meet its obligation associated with its financial liabilities. In the
management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows in the short and long term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to have been effective in managing
liquidity risk.

AEEZEEBRREERSZF - I
RBEBERRARE A K EER 2
EERBRSIEREKFE -
(c) VRENE SRR
nBE SRR EARERERETH
ERTRABEZEENRARER -
EEERSESRRIE - ANEE
ERNMHERFEEERRENNRS
RERBREKY  BRAKEZEE
RH#EZREREREEB MK
RS TR -

AEBZRDECRRCERS
FURSBARBREREERS
Bk -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HAHE B A B H B M BOR (A1)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued) (o) TishE 4 b ()
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at TERARNBRESHARANEBENE
the end of reporting period of the Group's trade and other AREMENMER ANAaBENE
payables, contract liabilities and accruals, other borrowings, lease ER - HtiEE HEaEhE
liabilities and an amount due to immediate holding company NEEERATREBEZETEAR
based on undiscounted cash flows (include interest payments HARS M) - ML ARIBE RIS RE
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates (BIEERE LR =L (HAZEF
current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the R)PNBERRZAERAE 2R E
Group can be required to pay. MR ERAEEAHEERER R
FHEFHE -
The Group's financial liabilities have contractual maturities as AEBeRAECEOIEHAN
follows: ™
On demand Between Between
or less than 1and 2 2and 5
1 year years years Total
BRERDS
DPR—F —EME MERF #st
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
AT T THIT T4
At 31 March 2022 R202263 A31H
Trade and other payables JEASH B TR R E At FE A
and other accruals R R E et E 13,649 - - 13,649
Lease liabilities MEaE 1,351 791 = 2,142
Other borrowings (Note) Ha g E (M) 29,776 - - 29,776
44,776 791 - 45,567
At 31 March 2021 M202153A31H
Trade and other payables ERERREMER
and other accruals IR EMETER 13,200 - - 13,200
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,320 254 42 1616
Other borrowings (Note) EMEE (M) 30,000 - - 30,000
Amount due to immediate e EEIER A RIFUR
holding company 339 - - 339
44,859 254 42 45,155
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note:

Certain other borrowings of HK$29,776,000 (2021: HK$28,000,000) with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than
1 year’ time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2022, the
aggregate carrying amounts of these other borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$29,776,000 (2021: HK$28,000,000). Taking into account of
the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe
that it is probable that the borrower and the lender will exercise the
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of the
Company consider that such other borrowings will be repaid within one year
(2021: two years) after the end of the reporting period in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the
undiscounted cash outflows amount to approximately HK$31,176,000 (2021:
HK$34,300,000) at 31 March 2022. Further, the Company has completed
Rights Issue (as defined in Note 27(d)) after the year ended 31 March 2022,
partial of the net proceeds (after deducting the estimated rights issue
commission and other related expenses and professional fees of
approximately HK$2,354,000) amounting to approximately HK$32,900,000
had been used for repayment of the Group’s other borrowings of
HK$25,976,000 and accrued interest of approximately HK$1,214,000.

(d) Fair value estimation

(0]

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables, accruals, lease
liabilities, other borrowings and an amount due to
immediate holding company. The directors of the Company
consider that the carrying amounts of these financial assets
and liabilities approximate their fair values at 31 March 2022
and 2021.

6. S % )E bR B H AR X BOR (4)

(c)

(d)

T B i B ()

P EE -

BEEREREREIZETEMEE
29,776,000 7T (2021 £ : 28,000,000 7%
J0) R LB E B ST EEA [ERER
RAORA—F | HA - 720253 A31
A Z5HEMEEZERBRRENR
29,776,0007 7T (2021 £ : 28,000,000 7
TL) o KEEHRAEE 2 BB - AR
ARAEZATHEEERARERAH
ARETTERYIBHE KBNS EIE - AR
RESERA  ZSHMEEBREE
A pTEL 2 TEEEE A R ERE
Kg—F (20216 : ME)NEE - R
HEF - R202F3831 B2 ARMRE
% 49 531,176,000 7T (2021 4F -
34,300,000/ 7T ) © WA - AR RER
HZE202F3A31 BILFEEEAE
A& (Mi5E27(d)) + EB PTG B F (40
R FHE R A R EMERRAS kS
¥ B F 423540008 T %)
32,900,000/ T E AR EEAREBHE
{8 3K 25,976,000 7T & FE 5T F B 49
1,214,000 87T ©

AP

(M

YHEAFEABZEMT
2

YIHEAFEFEZERMT
BEREREWER  me RE
RN Re RERIR
% ERE R H M EMNER
»EFTEBER HEAERE-
HEMEEREMEZIZRA
RIRB - ARBEER A%
ZomBEERBE L REE
B2 H 2022 F 202143 A
3THZAFERE -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into
three levels based on the relative reliability of significant
inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial
assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

6. S )EbEE B H AR X BOR (4)

(d)

A PAEA R ()

(ii)

BAFEFEZERMIA

B 5 AR R AR R B IR 1R 0V BB
MBMEEBEZEREENR
BEZAFEELZ2EDS

HRBREAELSEME
ERBEZATFEEMER
ME 28 ABIRNEYE A 5
BE HemEEMABES
DRZEAR - 2 FERE
DRATER

HREENAEETR
B Z B (CREFHE)
(B18)

BREERF1EZRE
h BESABEZATEH
REE (BMER) sk
(BIR B B) @ A BUK
(F28) »

WIRIE R B T 5 8L
EmMETCEENAR
PN 87 Q- IRIR 3
BABUR) (F34) -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(ii)

6. S % )E bR B H AR X BOR (4)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) (@) 2°FAafhsE (88
Financial instruments measured at fair value (i) BRAFEFEZEMIA
(Continued) (%)
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the HEemEEZDEFR AF
financial assets is categorised in its entirety is based on the BERZKFEFENREQAFE
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value HEREAREZHEBA
measurement. The financial assets measured at fair value in HIEKFE o NIZEE BN
the consolidated statement of financial position are FARAFEIFEZEME
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: ENESBUATHRAFES
&
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E14 H2MR E3IR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Financial assets SMEE FET F#&xT FET FHET
At 31 March 2022 R202263A31H
Financial assets at FVOC| BAFEFAREMEER
Wz SBEE ¢
— Interest in Campfire Group  — B Campfire 5£[& 2
(detailed in Note 29) Rz (FF R MIEE29) - - - -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EHR EPF E3MR HEt
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
Financial assets TREE FHT FHIT FHIT FHIT

At 31 March 2021
Financial assets at FVPL:

— Unlisted property fund

7A2021F3A31H
BAFEFABRRZ
—ELmmEES

Financial assets at FVOC|

— Interest in Campfire Group

(detailed in Note 29)

BAHESAEMEE
W EBEE :
— R Campfire £ 2

ez (FF R M 29)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HAHE B A B H B M BOR (A1)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) (d) 2Pt ()
(ii)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (i) BRAFEFMFEZEMIEA
(Continued) (#&)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised RAFEEREIZDEZA
within level 3 of fair value hierarchy: FEFEHER
Interest in Unlisted
Campfire  Convertible property
Group loan notes fund Total
A Campfire
JE v Ik FEM
Bm  EREER  WEES Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAET TAT TRT

Carrying amounts as at R2020F48182
1 April 2020 REE - 31,992 4,710 36,702
Fair value loss recognised in RIFRERERZ
consolidated profit or loss ANFEERE - (4,168) (4,710) (8,878)
Exchange differences ERER - 2,083 - 2,083
Reclassifications S A8 (RMEE20/%29)
(see Notes 20 and 29) - (29,907) - (29,907)
Carrying amount as at R2021563 83182
31 March 2021 BREE - _ _ _
Interest in Unlisted
Campfire property
Group fund Total
 Campfire LT
EEESE NEES st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET

Carrying amounts as at 1 April 2021 202154 B1 B 2 REE - - -

Disposal of unlisted property fund ~ H&FE FHEES
(Note 25) (PH3E25) = - -

Carrying amounts as at 2026331 BZREE
31 March 2022 = = -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

The methods and valuation techniques used for the
purpose of measuring fair values are unchanged compared
to the previous reporting periods.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfer between levels of
fair value hierarchy as of the date of the events or change in
circumstances that cause the transfer. There have been no
significant transfers between the levels in the reporting
periods.

The Group's financial assets classified in Level 3 use
valuation technique based on significant inputs that are not
based on observable market data.

Information about level 3 fair value measurement

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of investment in Campfire
Group was assessed to be zero as the Group considered the
COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020 and ongoing travel
restrictions which has caused adverse impact on co-working
spaces industry. (2021: zero), and the current operating
situation under co-working spaces industry, please refer to
Note 29 for the management assessment.

As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of unlisted property fund
was assessed to be zero as the Group determined to
suspend the investment in the properties market in the UK
through the unlisted property fund.

6. S % )E bR B H AR X BOR (4)

(@) 2°FAafhsE (88

(ii)

RAVEFEZERMIA
(&)

HERTMEHBLE - BE
ERFEERZITAREE
Aol m ) -

AEBEZ BRI B8 &
ZEHEBRABIE BER
NP EFR 2B R
BEHRSR WAL EEXN
-

AEESEREIRZEME
EEAERERE AR (XL
FERABEMSER) 2 b
B -

BEHEIRLFHEHAEZE
%\/

M2022F3A8318H ¥
Campfire R EIZ E KA TFEWH
FEHEAT  BAAEEZEEE
B 2020 4F ¥ 4 16 89 2019 7@ ik
RERZBMFENHITR
8 HEE TEERMITEENX
MR EEQNE: Z) -
AR HEZ TEERITERNIR
TRERR  BEEET MG
BLBMEE29 -

R20219F3A8318 3E £
MEES ZAFERTES
T REAEASEATHES
BIEETYMEEZCHERY
EMBZERA -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of

financial position relate to the following categories of financial

assets and financial liabilities:

S 5 Dl B A B ) R e B SR ()

(e) FZEUHE 43 (4 hk TR

RAMBHRERS 27 2 BRE(EHE
ATeRmEERSREBEHENE
8 :

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ExT FHET
Financial assets as per consolidated FEMBRRRAIEHEE
statement of financial position
Financial assets at FVPL BATEFABRSRZEMEE
— Unlisted property fund (Note 25) — JEETWEES (H5E25) - -
Financial assets at FVOC BRATFEFAEMEERE
TRVEE
— Interest in Campfire Group (Note 29) — HA Campfire £ B 7 #E 25
(B&E29) = -
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 1R B K AT EZ S RIEE
— Trade and other receivables and deposits — FEU & Zx [ E fib FEUR BR 7k &2
(Note 20) & (M3 20) 27,151 39,703
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) — e kERBES (H:E21) 23,585 24,424
Total st 50,736 64,127
Financial liabilities as per consolidated #Z& M KRR KT SHE &
statement of financial position
Financial liability measured at amortised ~ IZ# kAT E 2 SR B E
costs
— Trade and other payables and other — ENERREMENERR KL
accruals (Note 22) Hip et &M (MeE22) 13,649 13,200
— Lease liabilities (Note 23) —HEAaE(MiFE23) 2,061 1,559
— Other borrowings (Note 24) — BB E (it 24) 29,776 30,000
— Amount due to immediate holding — EREEERAFRIA
company (Note 26) (P45t 26) - 339
Total st 45,486 45,098




Annual Report 2022 F

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o B 285 R T

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

REVENUE 7.

Revenue from sales of pearls and jewellery represents the amounts
received and receivable from customers in respect of goods sold less
returns and allowances.

Interest income on financial assets is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate

applicable.

The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

LN
HEDUKREKRB 2 WMAERERD B K
RN B P 2 RIRBRE MATH -

SREE L FBIATIES % k(8
A% R A A R R IR R 2 e 2
5o

FADERZAEERANT :

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Sales of pearls and jewellery from contracts PESEEFER 2 E B 5 8|
with customers within the scope of FISHRBEAZHEZIHK K
HKFRS 15 recognised at a point in time KREEPLE WA 59,942 41,244
— Sales of pearls —HEEI 4,956 1,987
— Design and sales jewellery products — R MHEEREES. 54,986 39,257
Revenue from other sources outside the BRI EERE 15HEEIN
scope of HKFRS 15 H A 2O 2 WA
Interest income from strategic investment AR E R TS RS L2 A
and financial services 2,705 2,080
62,647 43,324

The Group has adopted the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of
HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for pearls and jewellery products such
that information about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when
it satisfies the remaining unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) performance
obligations under the contracts for all contracts that had an original
expected duration of one year or less is not disclosed.

AEBEDBEEM B RS ENEI55RE
121 B2 BEREEERANEZIRNIK
BEMZHESH  RULRRAEHRF
HA—FIUTZAEANME - L&
BREAEMASEEENANETZHT
el R R (B EB D K ) B B (LI B #E
WA Z WA 2 B
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(ZE2022F3A31H IEFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. &R

The Group's operating segments have been determined based on the REEZREDEBERBREATTES (A
information reported to the executive directors, being the chief REBTERERRTA)REZERE
operating decision maker of the Group, that are used for performance T ABERTBEFGERERMEESR
assessment and to make strategic decisions. The Group’s operating BEMERTE - AEB 7 EEEKRER
businesses are structured and managed separately according to the EBRMEERTIRER 2 ERERISEER
nature of their operations and the products and services they provide. BUYEBE - AEEFZEEDBEREEE
Each of the Group's operating segments represents a strategic business m MRS 2 RS MEEE BN - ERER &
unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and O R A PR E M & D20 o ANEE IR
returns that are different from those of other operating segments. The B AL EDED -

Group currently has two operating segments:

(@)  Sales of pearls and Design and sales of jewellery @) HEERHRN RIALEERTER-
jewellery products products, and sales of pearls KEER IARHEL I
(b)  Strategic investment Real estate financial assets b) HIEER EWESREERSE
and financial services investments and investments B 75 AR 75 SN ANEIA
in associates 15E
The executive directors assess the performance of the operating HMITEERESEEE 2 ETHEE
segments based on a measure of segment results. This measurement DERIE o WA EEETBIFLEDEL
basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure and of corporate IR BT HRDERST I E 1R
expenses from the operating segments. Other information provided to I HMITES 2 HMWERHRRE S TS
the executive directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in wMER—BZHAREE °

the consolidated financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. &R ()
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment revenue, results, assets, INEEIREL S B E| S T B 2D 2k
liabilities and other selected financial information by operating segments A EE BE BEMEMEEHBE
are as follows: BRI
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYKRR FBRRER
KREER B 7% AR5 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET
For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% 202293 A31BLLFE
Segment revenue 2 EBULA 59,942 2,705 62,647
Segment profit/(loss) DEEFR(EE) 1,908 (9,013) (7,105)
Finance income g AlEay 5
Finance costs R AN (4,381)
Unallocated corporate gains RO ERES 511
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBERS (4,492)
Loss before income tax BRETISBIRTBE (15,462)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ2021E3A31BILFEE
Segment revenue ZEBULA 41,244 2,080 43,324
Segment loss HEEE (39,664) (2,600) (42,264)
Finance income B e 7
Finance costs B T X N (4,445)
Equity-settled share-based payments A% AE 4% & LARR 17 A B~ =X (30)
Unallocated corporate expenses AOEEMS (5,345)
Loss before income tax BRETISBIRTBE (52,077)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from

external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the years.

ERZz2 A BRAEHEINEPEL

ZH&Z/\ o W B S E A 8 ) BRFE $H 6
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. HEbEMR (#)
Segment results represent profit/(loss) incurred by each segment DHEBESHIHEEZEN (B
without allocation of central administrative expenses including directors’ B) HETESREFRITHAY @ BEE
emoluments and salaries and other operating expenses incurred by the Ee RFEARKRD R RIEEZERA
Company and the investment holding companies, certain other (losses)/ AEEZEMKEERST  BETHMS
gains and finance income and costs. This is the measure reported to the B),/ Wk R B RS RN o It T
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation R &R N e A D 2B RIR M M = BALE R
and assessment of segment performance. RARHZF=E -
Segment assets and liabilities o3 ¥R e M AL
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of assets and TXEINEREBKEMEMRS D 2
liabilities analysed by the geographical area of operations of the Group: EENBBEZEREES T
At 31 March 2022 7202263 831H
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYKRR FEBRRER
KREER B 5 AR A% st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET
Segment assets PHEE
— Hong Kong — BB 56,759 105 56,864
— The UK — - 20,628 20,628
— The PRC — 4,361 - 4,361
61,120 20,733 81,853
Unallocated corporate assets AOBEEE 256
Total assets BERE 82,109
Segment liabilities SHEE
— Hong Kong — B (7,394) (295) (7,689)
— The PRC — (1,186) - (1,186)
(8,580) (295) (8,875)
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOoEEEE (37,367)
Total liabilities BEHER (46,242)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. iR (%)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) 43 e e K AR (5)
At 31 March 2021 2021538318
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HELHKE HBRAR
KREEm BT PR %S HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Segment assets DEEE
— Hong Kong — &5 52468 60 52,528
— The UK — B - 333%4 333%
— The PRC — 3,227 - 3,227
55,695 33,454 89,149
Unallocated corporate assets AP EEE 2616
Total assets BEMBE 91,765
Segment liabilities PHEE
— Hong Kong —&E (4,138) (1,536) (5674)
— The PRC — P E (1,013) - (1,013)
(5,151) (1,536) (6,687)
Unallocated corporate liabilities APECEEE (39,133)

Total liabilities BERE (45,820)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. HEbEMR (#)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) SR E R A ()
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating BERSHREENDBEIEER :

resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain . BRETUE  WELREE - &1k
property, plant and equipment, certain deposits and prepayments, S RFENZE  ARETRERE
and certain cash and cash equivalents that are not attributable to RIE STzt A@EBIDEBIN - FREE
individual segments. ENDRELEDE -

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain . METREAERREMEMERR
accruals and other payables, contract liabilities, an amount due to SHEE ENEEERARIRIE
immediate holding company and other borrowings that are not NEMEE T AR DS - BT

attributable to individual segments. ERAEEPREREDE o
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. &R ()
Other segment information oAt 43 5 R
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3831ALFE
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYKRR FBRRER
KREER B 7% AR 5 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Amounts included in the measure of 2% %%, (EE) &
segment profit/(loss) and PHWEEMSAZSH
segment assets
Additions to property, RNEWE - BEREE
plant and equipment = 46 46
Depreciation of property, M - WERBEITE
plant and equipment (185) (4) (189)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE (1,166) = (1,166)
Reversal of allowance ROogWER s BHEER
for ECL on trade receivables, net ESiERE - B 4,525 = 4,525
Provision for allowance ETIRE M EUBR R 2
for ECL on other receivables TR EEBERE - (10,260) (10,260)
Provision for impairment losses on FEREBEESEEE  F5E
inventories, net (1,459) - (1,459)

Impairment loss on property, plantand ~ #12 « BiE & R RE K18
equipment - (4) (4)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. &R ()
Other segment information (Continued) HAl 4R &R (5)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021F3A31HLEE
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEPHRE  REERKRAER
KREEM B 7% AR 7% 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHT FHT
Amounts included in the measure of :T 25 HEER T HEE
segment loss and segment assets st AZ &5
Additions to property, REWME  BE LK
plant and equipment 25 - 25
Depreciation of property, M - WEREBBITE
plant and equipment (466) (62) (528)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE (1,236) (415) (1,651)
Gain on disposals of property, HEWE - B &&E 2 WS
plant and equipment 156 - 156
Fair value loss on convertible loan notes A& E =45 2 N F{EE1E - (4,168) (4,168)
Fair value loss on unlisted property fund JE F T2 ES 2 A F(EEE - (4,710) (4,710)
Written off of prepayments W EH TR SRIE (1,491) - (1,491)
Provision for allowance SHERWER ZEHEE
for ECL on trade receivables, net EriaE - 58 (12,905) - (12,905)
Provision for allowance FHEEM BRI Z
for ECL on other receivables TEHEEBERE - (289) (289)
Provision for impairment FHEFEREEIEEE - JFE
losses on inventories, net (9,995) - (9,995)
Impairment loss on property, M - BEMEEBER
plant and equipment and FREEEREEE
right-of-use assets - (378) (378)
Written off of property, WY - BB RE

plant and equipment (888) - (888)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical Information

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA, the UK and
Europe. The Group's revenue from external customers based on the
locations of operations and information about its non-current assets by
geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

8. iREFR(#)
O I YO
AEETBRES  PE - ZH KD
REGNE % - AEBEEEHEDDS

ZREEIINEPZNGERIBAEEELZ
wEED ZIFRBEEZERFIIT

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets*
REEMIEF 2 WH FRBEE*
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F 2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FH&T FET FH&T
North America* b2
— The USA —% 53,595 30,098 -
— Others — HAih - 37 -
Europe BM
— The UK — & 2,894 2,329 - -
— Others — Hih 1,449 1,328 - -
Hong Kong BB 3,352 6,786 2,078 1,098
Asian countries EEVIIETER
— The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) — B ("B IEE %) 53 966 476 651
— Japan — HAK - 84 - -
— Others — Hth 69 22 - -
Others Hh 1,235 1,674 - -
62,647 43,324 2,554 1,749

Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

only.

f Included in the sales of pearls and jewellery products segment, revenue from the
transactions with one individual customer, which is located in the USA, amounted to
approximately HK$50,954,000 (2021: HK$25,336,000) which represented
approximately 81% (2021: 58%) of total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022.

* FREBEEEBTENE BB RBREHNARE
REERE -

¢ HERKRKREERD BEIEHZE202F3
ANBIEFE  BE—fZURERZERNEP
RS Z WA #) 550,954,000 7T (2021 4F :
25,336,000 7T ) + 15 7N & B 42 U A £981%
(20214 : 58%) ©

139
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9. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

9. Hfb(iH), sk - FE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Exchange (loss)/gain, net X (F518), W= - F8 (1,105) 6,331
Gain on disposals of property, HEME REMREZ
plant and equipment (Note 34(b)) W %5 (B 5% 34(b)) - 156
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 33) HEMB ARz MEs (FE33) 511 -
Written off of property, plant and equipment sS40 % - = R (FizE15)
(Note 15) - (888)
Impairment loss on property, plant and M WEREEREAEEE
equipment and right-of-use assets T EEE (4) (378)
Gain on early termination of lease premises REEIEHEEME 2 W - 33
Compensation of early termination of lease* 12 F 4% [FTHE ~ #{E * - (1,840)
Government grants’ eGSR = 381
Others Hith (138) 510
(736) 4,305
* During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had negotiated with certain *

landlords for terminating certain lease agreements for the operation of factories in

HZE2021F3A3HILEFE  A£E@EDHE
TEFEERIEPEREREERAE

15
BiE

the PRC and office in Hong Kong. The compensation of early termination of leases of WETHERZ BMEEZMNRFRILEA
B2 18 41,840000/8 7T © WRARA B TE

RREMEE -

approximately HK$ 1,840,000 was paid to landlords and recognised as other loss in

the consolidated profit or loss.

The government grants were mainly consisted of the sum received from the relevant # BT B) = E e IE 1 P BAB R E0 P W B bA 2

BT 20198 MEEHREIBEAFRNE
TENEDE - ZEHYALEAER G K

HAREIA -

authorities of the PRC to support enterprise against the negative brought by the
COVID-19 pandemic. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating
to these grants.
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10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. B P 4 B i s 18
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Costs of inventories sold, excluding provision B HEFERKA -
for impairment on inventories TNEEFTERERE 48,493 38,362
Provision for impairment loss on SR EREREEEE
inventories, net* FEE 1,459 9,995
Employee benefits expense (including BERIAX (BEZEEME)~
directors’ emoluments)* (Note 11) (fzET1) 11,159 16,003
Auditor's remuneration 1% EREN N
— Audit services — Bz
— current year — KEE 580 550
— Non-audit services — AR 58 10
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB RBEITE (FiE15)
equipment (Note 15) 189 528
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) & ETE (H:E16) 1,166 1,651
Written off of prepayments WEH TR BOA = 1,491
(Reversal of)/provision for allowance for ECL (BE), FHERKERZBHEER
on trade receivables, net (Note 20(a)) EsiEE - JFER (FYsE 206)) (4,525) 12,905
Provision for allowance for ECL on other SHEEMEWER 2 BSHEE
receivables, net (Note 20(b)) E R R - JFER (M5 2000)) 10,260 289
Short-term leases payments, gross (Note 16) 2 BfFHE 0 - 4258 (5E16) 304 174
Exhibition expenses BREMX 298 9%
Commission expenses Max - 53
* The amount was included in the cost of sales in the consolidated profit or loss. : ZEEEFAREGIBE ZHERAR ©
* No forfeited contribution available for offset against existing contributions to pension * RARFEER - WAL W KA AR E R
costs defined contribution plans and social security costs during the year (2021: nil). AEMFETERARSBARTREBELD

WEEK (202145 ) -
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

11. 0 B A B 52 (B9 3 S )

2022 2021
2022 2021 %
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ExT FAET
Salaries, wages and other benefits He  ITEREMETR 10,305 15,669

Equity-settled share-based payments* (Note 30) A%#gE 45 & LARR {7 A B8 (< 30
(BftE30) - 30

Pension costs defined contribution plans and ~ &Z &K A FREHRETEI &

social security costs LR RER A 854 304
11,159 16,003

During the year ended 31 March 2021, certain directors resigned before the vesting

condition of the relevant share options were satisfied, the Group reversed the

corresponding equity-settled share-based payments recognised in prior years of
approximately HK$1,359,000 in the consolidated profit or loss.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for the
year include one (2021: one) existing director of the Company, whose
emoluments are set out in Note 37. The emolument of the remaining

* HZE2021F3A3BILFE  ETEFERE
HERE . BB IR REERAEE  A5E
EREEEEABBNBEFERR AR
& 45 B DARR A A EL IS 50 491,359,0004 7T ©

EIR 30T 1N R
TR AKELARSFMALEER

REA—HQ2IF: —R)REEE K
Z B ERRHIFE37 o HEArNE (2021 F ¢

four (2021: four) individuals is as follows: mEZ) ALzBenT :
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FiET
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 2,624 2,586
Equity-settled share-based payments [ e 45 B LA IR (0 B E R 5K = 132

Pension costs defined contribution plans BEORAERERTE R

and social security costs M EIRER AR 72 71

2,696 2,789
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 11. BEMAMA X (BFHEFEHE)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (78)
(CONTINUED)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued) h AL ()
Except for the directors’ remuneration disclosed in Note 37, the number BRMIE7HREZEEZMEI  BRT
of the remaining four (2021: four) individuals whose remuneration fell Bl R E 2 E e PUE (2021 € : PUE)
within the following bands is as follows: AT AEAT

Number of employees

EEA"

2022 2021

2022 20215

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZZ 1,000,000 87T 3 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 78 7L Z 1,500,000 7 7T 1 L
During the year ended 31 March 2022, no emoluments were paid by the REZE202F3A831BIEFE » K&
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including directors, as TENLZEaFMAT(BRES)X
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for HEMBENE - EARSIEMA R IA
loss of office (2021 Nil). N £ B B 2 8% B ok B B 4 B (2021 F -

&) -
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT 12. i BLik i

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHBx FET
Deferred tax; RIERIA
Net credit for current year (Note 17) REEHERFEE (MizE17) = (292)
Income tax credit sz - (292)

Hong Kong Profits Tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has
tax losses brought forward which are available for off-set against the
estimated assessable profits for the year. For the year ended 31 March
2021, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made as the
Group had no estimated assessable profits. Under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of entity not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

PRC corporate income tax

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance notes, subsidiaries in the PRC
are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at 25% of the estimated
assessable profits during the year (2021: 25%). No provision for PRC
corporate income tax has been made as the PRC subsidiaries have no
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021:
Nil).

Withholding tax on distributed/undistributed
profits

The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a
tax treaty, for dividends distributed by PRC subsidiaries to its immediate
holding company outside the PRC for earnings generated beginning on
1 January 2008. No withholding tax on distributed/undistributed profits
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

AR 3B

AR AEBEREANRIERIE - AT
FRZMGETEZRBER  RLEREE
FEBIERE - HE2021F38318 1k
FE ARAEBETEMGTERTE S
A R BB RS BAERE - RIB
FISTHMES - & EKE 2 H2000000
7B T0 0 F 15 #2 8.25% 4B+ T 2,000,000 78
ToUA 2 SH M % 16.5% 8 - TRAE
BIRBEFERMARF T2 BB 5
1B IR &) — TR 16.5% BT ©

B A 3 i B

RERERBECEMSTIERE - RO K
EEIESIFEE  FEMBAREZRFTAN
i 51 8 &R 75 5% M 25% 2 B & (2021 4F -
25%) BhAN AR B (R ZEFTSFY o B R AR B I
BRAANREBE20NF3IANBLEFEY
EAEFERB R (2021 F - &) -
fEph R B FTEBE B -

B4R AR A IR 2 T AR

BH2008F 1 A1 B - BRIERBEFRGEK
BT LR A - BRI AR B A 3R 5E P B
BAaAEERRMREFRERINEE
TRE N E) DR B B BB 10% TEHE ©
HE20NF3IANBLEFE  AEEE
DR, AR 5 F) I 48 T8 40 R 51 (2021
Fom)e
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) 12. Fifa Bk % (44)
The amount of income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the AREESHIREHEBRTERATEEZ
loss before income tax as follows: HERWT -
2022 2021
2022 F 20215
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Loss before income tax BRETISTLATE 1B (15,462) (52,077)
Tax calculated at statutory income tax rate REESHREAE 2TH1A (2,551) (8592)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBAEREEZHE QT
operating in other jurisdictions TRABEZZE (233) (639
Tax effect of; Mg s -
Expenses that are not deductible for R 2 B2
tax purpose 2,106 2,763
Income not subject to tax BARB WA (1,341) -
Temporary differences not recognised EEN A st 14 1,990
Tax losses not recognised BEN e ) 2,254 4,903
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised FALRIRER Z HIBEE
previously (249) (717)
- (292)
13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. #kiEHE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the BREKRBE ZETENIRFANDN G T
loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company EA IS R FE( E R R LA Em AR 2 A
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares. HEETE -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company

AR AR FEE B 1R

(15,462) (51,785)
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13.

14.

LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 13. B8 (4)
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
‘000 ‘000
TR THx
(Restated)
Number of shares BREE (F&&E75)
Weighted average number of ordinary REATEERENSEMAZ
shares for the purpose of calculating LB INEFHE (FRR)
basic loss per share (thousands) 354,590 248,837

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year. The weighted average number
of shares used for the purpose of calculating basic loss per share for the
years has been adjusted for the adjustment factor calculated in respect
of the issue of shares pursuant to the Rights Issue (Note 27(d)) which
occurred subsequent to the end of reporting period. Accordingly, the
basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2021 have
been restated.

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. The potential ordinary shares of the
Company are share options (Note 30). The calculation of dilutive effect of
share options is determined by the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market
share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to the outstanding share options. The
number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options.

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the assumed conversion
of potential ordinary shares in relation to the share option has an anti-
dilutive effect to the basic loss per share.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend any payment of dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

14.

BREREBIIZARTREELES
BRIAFERE BT SRR 2 I HEGE
o ARFTEMTFFAETRELREED
mEFHRBCHBIBEREAREEE
RO AR (B 5E 27(d)) BATRR D RT B M A2
ARETHAE - Bt - BE2021F3 A
NAEFEMNSREARAREEHIECE
| o

BREEBRVEBABRETENZE
BENEFASE - UERERMAE
BEBEEAR ARRZEEEBARK
RIERE (MiEE30) - BREEEZEZ
At ETIARE W RITEBEREN 2R
BRZERER JRATFEEEAR
RABRGD 2 FH2FEmERN ER) KB
ZEMBBETE - B LM EZRNDE
BEERITEBRERD BT ZRNDE
BT

HE20202FK2021FE383BIEEE
BEREREAEREZBELBRES
RERSEEAEREETELE -

it &

EETEEREEZ202F3A31HIEE
FERFHERIIE B (2021 4 « £) »
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W3k ~ W Kk i

Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
HE il RE

BFEE R R tas Rk e @t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THET THR TET

Yearended 31 March 2021 #Z2021%53H31H

LFE
Opening net book amount FURmFE 462 1,169 133 10 1874
Additions RE - 25 - - 25
Disposals (Note 34 (b)) & (F3E34(0)) - - - - -
Depreciation (Note 10) HE (M3 10) (123) (233) (62) (110) (528)
Impairment loss RESE - - (66) - (66)
Written off* (Note 9) s (PEE9) - (889) - - (888)
Exchange differences fERERE - 116 - - 116
Closing net book amount FREMFH 339 189 5 - 533
At 31 March 2021 R202153A318

Cost B AR 493 20,349 323 2650 23815
Accumulated depreciation Z:tinE (154) (20,160) (318) (2,650) (23,282)
339 189 5 - 533
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W3 ~ Wb Rt (%)
(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
B #E
HERTHE  BEREH SES HE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR TR TEx THET
Yearended 31 March 2022 #Z202253A31H
LFEE
Opening net book amount FUEmFE 339 189 5 - 533
Additions NE 46 - - - 46
Depreciation (Note 10) HE (M5 10) (127) (61) (1) - (189)
Impairment loss RESE - - 4 - (4)
Exchange differences N Z%E - 26 - - 26
Closing net book amount FREEMFR 258 154 - - 412
At 31 March 2022 R2022%63A31H
Cost B 539 20,376 314 2,650 23,879
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (281) (20,222) (314) (2,650) (23,467)
258 154 - - 412
* For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s plant and machinery with carrying * BZE2001E3AHILEE  AEEERE
amount of approximately HK$888,000 was written off upon the close-down of the #95888,000 8 TR E R k2N EEPE T

factory in the PRC. BRAEES -
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. 1 ) RE % 2
Premises
LY ES
HKS'000
FAT
Cost: AN :
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 A1 H 9,192
Additions NE 708
Early termination of lease RRKRIEEE (6,504)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R2021F3A31BK2021F4 A1 H 3,396
Additions INE 2,092
At 31 March 2022 7202263 H31H 5,488
Accumulated depreciation: RiHE
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 A1 H 566
Charge for the year (Note 10) FRFZ (FE10) 1,651
Impairment loss BERE 312
Early termination of lease REKIEEE (349)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 MR2021F3A31BKR2021F4A1H 2,180
Charge for the year (Note 10) FRRAZ (FE10) 1,166
At 31 March 2022 7202243 A31H 3,346
Net carrying amount: BRTENFE :
At 31 March 2022 7202243 A31H 2,142
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3H31H 1216
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 16. i FREE & (4)

The right-of-use assets mainly represent the Group's rights to use
underlying leased premises as offices for its operations under operating
lease arrangements over the lease terms, which ranged from 1 to 2
(2021: 1 to 3) years, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the early termination of lease was
resulted from the closure of certain factories in the PRC.

The right-of-use assets have been recognised, on a lease-by-lease basis,
at the respective initial carrying amounts equal to that of the related
lease liabilities, which are determined based on the lease payments
discounting using respective subsidiaries’ incremental borrowing rates
of 5.1% to 15.0% (2021: 5.1% to 15.0%) as at the date of initial recognition
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

FRAEEEXZEALEERBELLHAE
ZHEREHR (N T1 2 25) (2021 F -
1E3F ) AR AL EFERAABEEDE
ER AT ZREF) » ETIRK AR R 5137
ERZRERBE(E)YE WA
MEFTEREAEERRE -

HZE2021F3A31BIEFEE BRI
HMETBRREFHBEEET IR -

FREEECKEEZBEHEEENZR
RAEEESNERAEaEVGER
B)ER - MzERAEREZE202F3
A3 BEFEDNREBEFAEYISERA
Hrz&WBARIEEERFENF51%
Z15.0% (2021 4F : 5.1% & 15.0%) 8L 38 1
ENKET -

BRHEARENHEEEET 2 EREDS
S HE WY EEINERRE - HE
BETARIEEERER -

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHT FET

Fixed payments (Note 34(c)) AT (B3 34(0)) 1,669 1,450
Expense relating to short-term leases (Note 10) E242 BAFE G #HRE ~ 9 5% (Ffi3E10) 304 174
Total cash outflow for leases MEZReRLEE 1,973 1,624

During the year ended 31 March 2022, rental payment of HK$60,000
(2021: HK$480,000) was not yet paid and recognised in the other
payables in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022.

HE0NFIAJNBILEFE  MAIM
460,000/ 7T (20214 © 480,000 7T) -
W 202293 A31 BAWERE MR E
B EL At (TR NP 1R ©
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17. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES 17. BHEBIE (& &), Al

REBPEE202F3 831 B ILFERE
RZEIBRELEMEHR(BEE) BERE

The followings are the major deferred income tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the year

ended 31 March 2022. BEHIIOT o
Timing
differences
arising
from tax
depreciation Total
RIEFEEE
ZEHER #at
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T
At 1 April 2020 202054 A1 8 292 202
Net credited to consolidated profit or loss (Note 12) 5t A4R& B2 F58 (MizE12) (292) (292)

A2021%F3H318
2021 F4 818 R
20223 H31H - -

At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021
and 31 March 2022

As at 31 March 2022, subject to the approval by relevant tax authority,
the Group has unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences
relating to the allowance for ECL, all of which are arose in Hong
Kong and may be carried forward indefinitely under the current tax
legislation of approximately HK$133,486,000 and HK$17,639,000 (2021:
HK$70,756,000 and HK$26,271,000) respectively. On 19 November 2021
and 13 December 2021, IRD issued statements of loss for the assessment
year of 2020/2021 to certain Hong Kong group companies and showed
the tax losses carried forward were approximately HK$75,411,000.
Subject to the approval by relevant tax authority, the Group also has
unused tax losses arose in the PRC, which will be expired in 5 years from
the year that the losses incurred, of approximately HK$36,876,000 (2021:
HK$36,714,000). Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these balances due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.

As discussed in Note 12, withholding tax would be payable on the
unremitted retained earnings of certain PRC subsidiaries. The PRC
subsidiaries have been incurring losses since commencement of
operation and there were no distributable retained earnings as at 31
March 2022 (2021: Nil).

2022538318 MRBEEBHRG
MW E  ~EBEMBEREHREER
FEERE s RS AHIBEEBEERITIRY
REEHUREBES  BRTEHNTA
1 PR BR 4% 82 9 Bl £9133,486,00078 7T &
17,639,000/ 7T (2021 4F : 70,756,0007% JT
526,271,000 7T ) © 22021511 A19H
K 2021512 A13 8 » BB 2020/2021
ARFERAETESEE AR BT ES
Wk TPLEENBRRKBLDO A
75,411,000 7T » 2N RS 56 BT 751 7
RibE  AEEEBRSTERRELNR
185 AR ULIB 2R 49 36,876,000 78 7T (2021 £
367140008 70)  BEZEBREEE
FHREFTSFEAEHE - ARKREETERT R A
FImE WY ERZELEHRERELER
THEEE °

AN 12 TRl - A E TR EN B
REIZ KREERBREF BN - B
MR EEUR  RENBAR—HELE
B8 > R 2022F3 A3 HY EA] DR
REBEF| (2021 4F : #£) -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. REEE A FM R E

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 &

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#&T FH&TT

Investment cost, unlisted WERA - EE™ 80,193 80,193
Less: Impairment loss A R EETIE (80,193) (80,193)

Dellos Group (as defined below)

At 31 March 2022, the Group had hold 33% equity interests of Dellos
Group Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Dellos Group”), of which the
particulars of investments in associates are set forth below:

Dellos % B (€ # KT 3X)

M2022F 38318 K& & #F B Dellos
Group Limited } H [ff B 2 7] ([ Dellos &
B ) 233% 2 &RREE AR
BEFBERHINNT -

Proportion of ownership interest and
proportion of voting power

held by the Group
Place of AEERENEERERL A
incorporation/ RERBLH
Name of associates operation 2022 2021 Principal activities
Ll NGRCY EMARYL EE R 20225 021 FEEH
Directly held
EERA
Dellos Group Limited* the Cayman Islands 33% 33%  Investment holding
HEHS REER
Indirectly held
BEEE
Natural Spring Global Limited*  the British Virgin Islands 33% 33%  Investment holding
(the "BVI")
KBRAEE REER
((KBRZEE])
Dellos F&B Co,, Ltd" Korea 33% 33%  Manufacturing, sale and distribution
("Dellos F&B") of fruit juice and other beverage
products
#E g HERDHERTR
Hit S mE m
Dellos International Limited® Hong Kong 33% 33%  Trading of beverage products
BB BEEYmEMR

global network

Not audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited or another member firm of Moore

¢ WIHAREFHEGHMERRAERAR KL
REBREBHPR 2 5 — KB FBIEX
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(CONTINUED)
Dellos Group (Continued)

The financial reporting dates of the above associates are not
coterminous with those of the Group, as they have financial years ending
31 December or 30 June.

Investments in and loans to Dellos Group were fully written down during
the year ended 31 March 2018. The Group was informed by the
management of Dellos Group on 20 June 2018 that Dellos F&B had filed
an application for commencing rehabilitation proceedings (the
“Rehabilitation Proceedings”) with Seoul Rehabilitation Court (the
“Court”) on 13 February 2018 and the Court had approved the
commencement of the Rehabilitation Proceedings on 7 March 2018.

The rehabilitation plan (“Rehabilitation Plan”) involves, among other
matters, reduction or exemption of the outstanding debts owed by
Dellos F&B, conversion of all or part of the creditors’ claims into shares of
Dellos F&B and repayment plan for the remaining debts. The
Rehabilitation Plan was put forward for approval by the creditors and
shareholders of Dellos F&B and the Court.

Based on the advices from the Group's legal advisers, the Group
considered it was probable that the shareholding of the Group in Dellos
F&B would be diminished. Hence, the directors of the Company
considered that Dellos F&B had ceased to be an associate of the Group
since the date of filing of application for commencing the Rehabilitation
Proceedings and that as a result of the Rehabilitation Plan, there was no
significant value in the Group's equity interests in the Dellos Group as (i)
the main operating subsidiary in the Dellos Group prior to the date of
filing of application for commencing the Rehabilitation Proceedings is
Dellos F&B; (ii) the shareholding of Dellos Group in Dellos F&B would
likely be very significantly diluted; (iii) the important decisions of Dellos
F&B would require the Courts approval; and (iv) there would be no
dividend payout during the rehabilitation period. It was considered
highly unlikely that Dellos Group would bring to the Group any future
economic benefits.

18.

TR W o w1 ()

Dellos £ 5] (%)

THiBE N R 2 SRS A EAEE
EWTHER - REAZERR 2P HF
EAEEZ12A3183%6 A308 1k -

HZ2018%F3 A31 HILFE * R Dellos&
B ERMEER ZERD 2HM
e ANE BN 20184 6 A 20 H & & Dellos
EBEEERA  Dellos FRBE 722018
FoAHMBEBREREER([ERK]) IR
REFRBDERREF((EBEF]) B
EBRE R 201843 A7 B AR BN EERR
ﬁio

SETEH(ERFE D PR (EFEEE)
Bl J8 2K 34 % Dellos FRBEE R I K B IR &
% BEEANZHNISBRELR
Dellos F&B BI I 13 LA le 842 T B IS BB 5K 7
2 o EEFEIB 1R X Dellos FRBHIERE A
T A5 BR BA RS Be A S SR BEE o

BEAEEEZZBERZER  AE£ER
A NE B R Dellos F&B 7 % #E 15 1R A BE
WL Al AAFEERE B
RXEFMBEEREF BB Dellos
FREBETHAREE VEE AR - BEXE
ST 2 E A £ [F 7 Dellos 52 B 2 AR HE T 4
BREE - JREA R ()Dellos & E A 12 X H
ERSERREFAHAZESLENEB
A a] A Dellos F&B : (i) Dellos ££ B 7 Dellos
F&B 2 A% #E A5 1R AT AL & FE 5 R IR HEE ¢ (i)
Dellos F&B Z B AR R EBL LT HE + &
(VVREEHRNE NS EIRAES ° Dellos
EBERBEET B REELERMA
{R] R SR A FI| 25
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REEAFKNRE (5)

(CONTINUED)
Dellos Group (Continued)

According to the Rehabilitation Plan, the loans made by the Group to
Dellos F&B had been made part of the rehabilitation claims, with the
Group having been regarded as a rehabilitation creditor. Although the
Group, as a rehabilitation creditor, will be able to obtain recovery of the
loans in accordance with the terms of the Rehabilitation Plan, it is subject
to approval by the Court and also the economic conditions of Dellos
F&B. In addition, based on the latest financial information provided by
the management of Dellos F&B, the financial position of Dellos F&B is net
current liabilities. Furthermore, by reference to the published audited
financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2018 all the non-
financial assets of Dellos F&B were pledged to certain banks in Korea. The
directors of the Company considered that the likelihood of recovery of
the loans and interest receivables owed by Dellos Group to the Group
was low.

On 17 October 2018, the Court approved the Rehabilitation Plan and
under the Rehabilitation Plan, there will be yearly cash payment
instalments over a 10-year period (starting from 2020) in respect of the
30% of the outstanding debts and the remaining 70% of the outstanding
debts will be converted into the equity of Dellos F&B. However, based on
the latest financial information for the year ended 31 March 2019
provided by the management of Dellos F&B, its financial performance
continued to deteriorate and its financial position is still in net current
liabilities. In view of the diminished shareholding upon the conversion of
debts to equity and no reliable estimation of future economic benefits
derived, the directors of the Company considered that the above
investment cost and loans and interest receivables were still unlikely to
be recovered.

Based on the advices from the Group's legal advisers, the management
of Dellos F&B entered into the bankruptcy proceeding to the Korean
court on 16 July 2020. Once the bankruptcy proceedings confirmed, the
Rehabilitation Plan would no longer exist and the probability of the
Group getting back any of the outstanding debts is low. In view of this,
the directors of the Company considered that the investment cost and
loans and interest receivables are unlikely to be recovered to the date
when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

o

Dellos £ 5] (%)

RIEEREETS - A% E A Dellos F&BIEH
2EREAEBRREZ X5 MA
EEEHGASEGRA - BEAEH
(EREREEAN) BEREERS
ZAEFRUR B B R - M B AR ART i
% HA{EE » BIREURM Dellos F&B 2
LOBEARIL o HEoN - ARIE Dellos F&B & 12 [E
REZBEAMEER - Dellos F&B Z Bf
BRALEBRDEESE - BE  £2=
BRI ZEZE2018F3ANHIEFEY
IREAZBTE IR - Dellos FRBFT A JES Al
EEDRBTEERTERT - ARAE
EEEEWRE Dellos & EAE R AL E 2 fE
WERKRF B 2 A sl AR -

R2018F 10 B17H » AR E O EEEE
B MBBEERE e KREEES
Z230%T 5 ¢ #5104 B R (2020 4F
) BFHETRE DA - MEARE
BER 2 B8 70% 15 88 5 Dellos F&B 2
REZR o SRT » 4B 4E Dellos FRBE IE B IR 14
HE2019F3A3BILFE 2 HIT
HER  EFBRRFES =R EH
BRI E B & EFEMN - ERR
TR D R TR SERETFNE £ 2 R RAE
B MARARESERA L&
FRAN DA B B MBS 51 e I BT N K o] B J&
e

BIEAREREEREMZER  Dellos F&B
ZEIBEMN 202047 16 B R EEER
REBERF —BRERFERER
BEHEBEIEEE MAEERE T
MAEEBOBRRIRE - HENL - &
RAIEERE  PERERMMEHRE
BEH REKANUNERE K NF BN
KAl B YR [E] o
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19. INVENTORIES 19. i &
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Raw materials R 11,687 20,475
Work in progress TE& 629 76
Finished goods B o 11,660 4,276
23,976 24,827
The provision for impairment losses on inventories is generally made for — R A 1S0R N B 1 E R EE
those inventories aged over 180 days to 1 year with no subsequent sales BIEZZEFEERZFEREBBRE
while the reversal of provision for impairment losses on inventories is . MEEREEGEREERELIEEE
only recognised for those inventories which are sold subsequently with EERNEAEZBREL ZZELRERE
the prices higher than the carrying amounts. F
As at 31 March 2022, certain inventories with original cost which R202FE3A318 H F B K &N 4
amounted to approximately HK$64,949,000 (2021: HK$65,581,000) were 64,949,000 78 7T (2021 £E : 65,581,000 78 7T )
stated at net realisable value of approximately HK$3,510,000 (2021: 2 FE IR EFEE 43,510,00078 7T
HK$5,600,000). (2021 4F : 5,600,000 77T ) 5Bk °
20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 20. JEWBF AHMEKIEDR - %4
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS B TR kI8
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Trade receivables (Note (a)) FEWE K (5T () 5,667 5,480
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  H{th FEULBRRR ~ 124 MBI FIE
(Note (b)) (F45E (b)) 26,327 35,285
31,994 40,765
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

20. FEWCE K B 3L REOIR K~ 1R
Be FEAF sk 0 (4])

(CONTINUED)
Notes: BiaE -
(a)  Trade receivables (a) ERER
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Trade receivables, gross EWER - 42 23,306 31,751
Less: allowance for ECL on trade receivables W ERE R B EEEERE (17,639) (26,271)
Trade receivables, net EWER  F8 5,667 5480

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for ECL, as at
the reporting date, based on invoice dates which approximate the respective

AT ARERERGIRFAREREEREE) R
BEAPREBEREAH(EZaRAERA

revenue recognition dates: HEE) ZBRER DT
2022 2021
2022 2021 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
0to 30 days 0&30H 4,140 4,501
31 t0 90 days 31290 H 1,527 494
91 to 180 days 91ZE180H - 485
5,667 5,480

AEEAEFPZTEHETEURSIER
ERRNRIEL - ERARHEEELZ BKE
RBER—EMEALEXARNEE - RETE
BT E RS 78  ERRERRKLE
- AEBE-RAKTEPREI0BE20
AZEEH - BERIFNREH 2 KRB RE
SLEAFPAERBREESS -

The Group's retail sales to customers are mainly made in cash or through credit card
payments. The trade receivables arising from credit card sales are normally settled in
one to two business days in arrears. For the remaining customers, the Group generally
grants a credit period of 30 days to 120 days, according to industry practice together
with consideration of their credibility, repayment history and years of establishment.
A longer credit period may be granted to large or long-established customers with
good payment history.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

22 /N 23
w1 B R M R E
For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z2022%F3A31AILFE
20. JBE W B K B Al RE R K~ R &
B AT sk I (%)
sk ()

(a) PEWES(H)

An ageing analysis of these trade receivables, net of allowance for ECL, as at the
reporting date, based on due dates, is as follows:

ZERRER (MNREREEBBRE) N R
EHMIBBIIEE ZREATOT -

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FET

Not overdue 3 4 460 5 297 383
Overdue by: peng=t: M

1to 30 days 1230H 3,843 4,170

31 to 90 days 31290H 1,527 442

91 to 180 days 91 & 180 H - 485

5,667 5,480

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements in
respect of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired.

The management of the Company makes reference to the historical repayment to
assess the impairment for individual debtors with significant balances while the
Group collectively assesses the impairment for its remaining customers using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings based on shared credit risk
characteristics of customers by reference to geographical area, past default
experience and current past due exposure and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the current and forecasted economic growth rates, export
data and default rate in respective regions, which reflect the general economic
conditions of the regions in which the debtors operate) that is available without

undue cost or effort.

The allowance for impairment are measured at lifetime ECL in accordance with
simplified approach. Included in the overdue balances of approximately HKSNil (2021:
HK$485,000) has been overdue more than 90 days and the directors of the Company
consider these are not in default based on the expected subsequent and historical

repayment from certain largest customers and continuous business with the Group.

AEE W E L OB B RBUE 2 BUE 5K
B ER R ERIR e A5 AEAR -

ARAEBE2EBERFAFHAERLE
Bz ERNEBAZRE MAEE2ZH
E - BEERERERFADRR  EHA
BEREEPHAGEAREHZEEDEZ
BEEEEEIGERTEL ZME I
BEANEBERARE HEIRGZAIBEE
BOnRRES NS ERER 2 BB
R ARR 2B RFEILEERE
HOBUR R R ) (EH A o

BIBEE L REREDRE2HESEE
B8 E - BB EIEDE0 AN LY
T (2021 4F ¢ 48500058 7T) © MIREE T
BRARFP B GRABTERREAREE
ZHREBEERG  AAREERARSHEBIE
B o
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

(a)

20. FEWCE K B 3L REOIR K~ 1R
Be FEAF sk 0 (4])

(CONTINUED)
Notes: (Continued) MIsE - ()
Trade receivables (Continued) (a) PFEW S 2% ()
Movements in the allowance for ECL on trade receivables under HKFRS 9 are as BEEBN SRS LR SO Y ERE R
follows: EREEFERRERNT
Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
not credit credit
impaired impaired Total
2HFEH 2HFEH
FEBR— FEBE—
EEERE FERE wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET
As at 1 April 2020 202064818 2367 14,731 17,098
Changes in the loss allowance: EiERE#
— Written off — sH - (3,732) (3.732)
— Transferred to Lifetime ECL — ERE>HEHEEEE
— credit impaired — ZERE (806) 806 -
— (Credited)/charged to consolidated — (5t N)/ azsiEss
profit or loss (Note 10) (Mt 10) (1,547) 14,452 12,905
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 K221 FE3A3E K
202154 A1 H 14 26,257 26,271
Changes in the loss allowance: E a2 &
— Written off — s - (4,107) (4,107)
— Charged/(credited) to consolidated —ma/ Gt E&ReExR
profit or loss (Note 10) (FF&E10) 1,024 (5,549) (4,525)
As at 31 March 2022 720223 H31H 1,038 16,601 17,639
Notes: ffeE -
(a) There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant (a) FERRFT G ER S R 7 IR EREI

assumptions made during the year in assessing the loss allowance for the

trade receivables.

(b) As of 31 March 2022, trade receivables with gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$16,601,000 (2021: HK$26,257,000) were fully impaired and

provided for those credit-impaired customers which are in unexpectedly

difficult economic situations.

BREEETERERBRR ©

HE202F3A318  RAKLENAR
16,601,000 7T (20214 : 26,257,000
T0) 2 R E R 2 EURE KRB
FREAZEEERERFPENKLEE
BT AEERE o
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

20. WEWCE K B 3 b REOIR K~ 1R &

Be FEAT k0 (4])

BaE - (&)

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (b) HitEWERD - e REMEHE
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Other receivables Hh FEUBR IR
Transferred from convertible loan notes (Note (i) EE SRR EREZE (FEEa0) 20,628 33,394
Others Eith 269 290
20,897 33,684
Deposits Be 587 539
Prepayments T RRIE 4,843 1,062
26,327 35,285
Note: FfsE -

On 10 November 2017, the Group entered into the investment agreement
and subscribed for certain convertible loan notes issued by Wonderland (UK)
Holdings Limited (“Wonderland (UK)"). The principal amount was
GBP3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$35,994,000) which carried
interest at 6% per annum and payable on the date on which the convertible
loan notes become payable or are redeemed. The maturity date of the
convertible loan notes was on 9 November 2020 and would be redeemed at

100% of the principal amount.

On 9 November 2020, all convertible loan notes expired and no conversion
option was exercised by the Group. The outstanding principal amount of
GBP3,500,000 and accrued interest of approximately GBP571,000 were not
yet settled. At the date of expiry, the directors of the Company reassessed the
business model for holding the convertible loan notes. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Group opted for not converting any
conversion option to convert the loan notes to the ordinary share of
Wonderland (UK) and the purpose of the Group held such receivables are for
collecting contractual cash flows which are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, as such, the receivables are
classified as financial asset measured at amortised cost during the year ended
31 March 2021. Accordingly, the Group has reclassified the convertible loan
notes at fair value through profit or loss measurement category into the
amortised cost measurement category and its fair value amount of
approximately GBP2,930,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$29,907,000)
has become the gross carrying amount of other receivables in the

consolidated statement of financial position upon its expiry.

R2017F 1M B108 REBFTZE
& W & I 2 BEWonderland (UK)
Holdings Limited ([Wonderland (UK)J)
B2 ETARREREE - A&8
743,500,000 3 £% (8 & # 4935,994,000
BT HIEBFoE2FRFE - I
BRI AR R B SR IR K B FE A Bk S [
ZEHETFULM - ARRERZEZ
FHEIE 52020511 A9 B - WiRA
ESREZ 100% fEE ©

R2020F 11 A9H - FTA AR E R
ZREE B A EE R BT ERE -
% K (8 38 7K & %8 3,500,000 B 88 K fE
F B 47571,000 3 85 K 45 1+ o A B HR
A AQREREMTEFE AR
BEREBENEBER - AAREER
B ASEEETEHLEBEREZES
2 75 Wonderland (UK) #) 3% 38 3% B9 (T {7
BN RASEREZSEBERR
M E K BKEE LIRS R - BEMRE
ABHAEEASENEAS RIS
oA BE2021F3ANAILSF
& R D RIS AT 2
HEREE - Bt - AEEEBZRA
FET B 2RO AR ER
ZRSEFHEABERAEET
M £ A B #92,930,000 5 48 (18 % %
#929,907,0007% 7T ) B 1A B B Ak B 4R
EHMBRRROE YR REA
{E °
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

0]

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding carrying amount of the principal of
convertible loan notes of approximately GBP1,960,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$20,158,000 (2021: GBP2,930,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$29,907,000)) was recognised as receivables and included
in other receivables.

As at 31 March 2022, gross carrying amount of the outstanding principal and
its accumulated interest receivables of approximately GBP3,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$35,994,000 (2021: GBP3,500,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$37,407,000)) and approximately GBP82,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$840,000) (2021: GBP221,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,364,000)) were not yet settled and accumulated
allowance for credit loss on outstanding principal and interest receivables of
approximately GBP1,540,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$15,836,000)
(2021: GBP570,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,088,000)) and
GBP36,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$370,000) (2021: GBP27,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$289,000)) respectively were made.
Subsequent to the end of reporting period, the Group further entered into a
deed of variation with Wonderland (UK), together with all the guarantors (ie.
all the shareholders of Wonderland UK), pursuant to which the repayment
date of the convertible loan notes is extended to 31 October 2022. The
directors considered this extension of repayment date is the final extension.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the entire outstanding
principal amount and relevant interest receivables are expected to be settled
on or before 31 October 2022. The receivables are guaranteed by the
shareholders of Wonderland (UK).

As at 31 March 2022, such other receivables with carrying amount amounting
to approximately HK$20,628,000 has been pledged to secure the other
borrowings granted to the Group (Note 24(i)).

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables approximate their fair values
as these financial assets, which are measured at amortised cost, are expected to be

received within one year.

20. FEWCE K B 3L REOIR K~ 1R
Be FEAF sk 0 (4])

Bt - ()

(b)

HittER RN - RERBNREA

BRE : (8

(0]

e
(=K

(&)

MR2022F3A31 8 - AT BRBRERZRE
N ) ) AR R BRI B 4Y 1,960,000 34
$#E(FRE M 420,158,000 7T ) (2021 4 -
2,930,000 2% £ (48 & R #9 29,907,000 7
TT)) HER A FE AR BR SR I 5T A EL b FE UK
FEK -

R202F3A831H HAREEBASE
WEELER I ERTED
3,500,000 2 £ (48 & 7 #935,994,000 78
75) (2021 4F : 3,500,000 54% (AEE R4
37,407,000 7T )) K #782,000 % 45 (48
B #7840,000787T) (2021 £F © 221,000
FHE (B R 49236400078 7T)) ik
B R R R AREERNSE R ERF
BIEEBEEES BIX /1,540,000 3
5 (FEEH 415,836,000/ 7T ) (2021 4 -
570,000 5 85 (A5 7 476,088,000/ 7T) )
136,000 2 5 (46 & 7 #7370,000 % 7T)
(20214F : 270002 #( B & B 4
289,000/87T)) c RIEHIR 2% - &K
£ [B 82 Wonderland (UK) & & ZBHE IR A
(BPWonderland (UK) B9 i B IR R ) 3 —
HERE—MEERE - R ATRR
EREERMNERBBHERE 20210
A318 - EFERAILXEREKA H
N&E—RER - ARREERA
FEARERA S RABHERF STE
2022510 A31 B 2 B 4558 ©
% 5 e YRR IE H Wonderland (UK) &9 A%
BIEIR -

R202F3A318 Z K EE D
20,628,000 7 7T ) H A & U B 5K B VB
HAERAEEREROEAMER
F24()) ©

ERREAMERIERZ EEEEER
- REAEMZERBHKAANE
AEBI—FRUEL -

N
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents approximate
their fair values.

As at 31 March 2022, bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to approximately HK$3,189,000 (2021: HK$2,262,000). The
conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign currencies and
the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank balances
and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

21.

Bl B 5 M B &

RARSEE A RTERAE LT
EHEFLE -

BehkFRASZRAEEEAFER

Eo

R202F3A831H  REBUAARES
B Z SR1T & 84 49 /53,189,000 JT (2021
F :2262000870) c IFAAREEFEZ
EHRHIRBINEI I F AN E 2
RITEBRRRSELRFRH - BEFH
ERIT BLANE & HI AR5 < FHRE R BI K AR 51 -

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS 22, FEWCE K S H i RE iR K~ M
RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS 4 I e wt 2 R

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Trade payables FERTER 4,595 2453
Accrued payroll and employee benefits [EFt & RIEBEF 756 722
Other payables and other accruals HAb BRI R H A EST & A 9,054 10,747

14,405 13,922
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS
RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

23.

An ageing analysis of trade payables, as at the reporting date, based on

invoice dates, is as follows:

22, WEWCE sk B 2L fib R WBOIR s ~ B
e KR8 A (4])

RBEEH ENEFRREZEZEHL
BREEDATINT -

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

T FHIT

0 to 60 days 0£60H 4,089 2,153
61 to 120 days 612120H 428 141
More than 120 days Hidm120H 78 159
4,595 2,453

As at 31 March 2022, consideration payables of HK$4,000,000 (2021:
HKS$4,000,000) for acquisition of 30% of the issued share capital of
Guardian City (as defined in Note 29), and loan interest payables of
HK$698,000 (2021: HKS$1,109,000) (Note 34(c)) were included in other

payables.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables, deposits received and

accruals approximate their fair values.

LEASE LIABILITIES

7202243 A31 8 + Y& Guardian City (E
& R 29) BB ITRRANE) 30% KBS 1R
fZ4,000,0007 7T (2021 4F : 4,000,000
JT) iR E B BUR B 698,000 T
(2021 4F : 1,109,000 7T ) (Fff 3% 34(c))
EREAM SRR -

ENERREMEMER  CRIRER
FEETE M ZRmEEE A HERS

23. HEARK

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Within one year —FR 1,282 1,271
Within a period of more than one year RiBiE—FETHBBME AR
but not more than two years 779 246
Within a period of more than two years FAEBAM BT B A R F HE A
but not more than five years - 42
2,061 1,559
Less: portion classified as current liabilities B OBRARBEREZHS (1,282) (1,271)
Non-current liabilities FERBAE 779 288
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

24.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the future minimum lease payments of

the net minimum lease payments are as follows:

23. M f1E (4)

R2022F N 2021538318 REHEE
NEFBZARFERENFTOT

2022 2021
2022 F 20215
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Within one year —FR 1,351 1,320
Within a period of more than one year BB —FE T EAME HHA
but not more than two years 791 254
Within a period of more than two years BB F BT AR F HM A
but not more than five years - 42
Total lease payments HENREE 2,142 1616
Less: Future finance charges W RREEER (81) (57)
Total lease obligations MEEFRT 2,061 1,559
OTHER BORROWINGS 24, Hibfg &
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FH&T
Other borrowings — secured HinfgE — BiEH
Within one year or on demand (Note (i)) —F R EER (M) 29,776 28,000
Other borrowings — unsecured Hinfg & — &R
On demand (Note (ii)) & Z sk (MIEE (i) = 2,000
29,776 30,000

Notes:

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's secured other borrowings with carrying amount of
HK$29,776,000 (2021: HK$28,000,000) bear fixed interest rate at 15.0% per annum and
is scheduled to be repayable on 25 July 2022 with repayable on demand clause. The
borrowings are provided by an independent third party of the Group. The other
borrowings are secured by other receivables (Note 20(b)(i)) with an aggregate
borrowing amount of HK$29,776,000 (2021: HK$28,000,000) and accrued interests, if
any. After the year ended 31 March 2022, and up to the date of issuance of these
financial statements, other borrowings of approximately HK$25,976,000 and accrued
interest of approximately HK$1,214,000 have been repaid upon receipt of net
proceeds from Rights Issue (Note 27(d)).

As at 31 March 2021, the borrowing was repayable on demand with a fixed interest
rate at 12% per annum. The borrowing was provided by the Company's beneficial
owner, Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
interest expense of approximately HK$181,000 (2021: HK$240,000) (Note 32(b)) was
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss, and fully settled during the year.

Wi

(in)

R202F3A318 A E B EREER
29,776,000 7T (2021 4F : 28,000,000 7T ) Z
AHEAREAEFIREE FFE 1500512 0 I
TBER202F7A2BEE  EhFREEE
SKIBBIEK - ERE—BBIRNAEENE
=7 ER A o ELAD 5 R ER E IR AR R FE AT
FE (nA) EMP (M FE200)0) - EREEA
29,776,000 7T (2021 4F : 28,000,000/ 7T ) °
HE2002F3A3NBUEFERREZ LS
TSR M B E - EAhIEFAY 25,976,000 78 7T
R FERTFIB.491,214,000 7 7T B 12 U B 44 A% 59
FRS B F R EE (MsE27) »

M202143A31 0 BREBEREKRESE
EEMEE12% - ZERARRR 2 ESHE
BABRKE AR - BE2022F3A31H
IEFE - F B F X #181,0007 T (2021 F -
240,000787T) (FIFE32(0) ) R 4R & B am = FERR
WA REREET ©
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25. UNLISTED PROPERTY FUND 25. EETiERS

HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 April 2020 202044 A1 8 4,710
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated profitorloss ~ R4R&EBZER 2 AV EER (4,710)
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R2021F3A31BR2021F4H1H -
Disposal HE =

As at 31 March 2022

720223 A31H

On 23 February 2018, the Group acquired 3,800 non-redeemable, non-
voting participating shares (“Fund Shares”) which represents 50% of an
unlisted property fund (the “Fund”) incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group further subscribed 380
Fund Shares at a consideration of HK$3,800,000.

The investment objective of the Fund is to achieve capital appreciation
through investing its assets available for investment in residential real
estate projects in the UK. The investment is unlisted and the Group has
no power to govern or participate the financial and operating policies of
the investee so as to obtain benefits from its activities and the Fund was
mandatorily classified and measured as financial assets at FVPL.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the uncertainty of Brexit and the
outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic have profound impact on the
property market of the UK. The directors of the Company noted that the
property market has been adversely affected in a wide array of aspects,
including for instance, pricing of properties and financing. It could be
observed that prices of properties in London have slid in 2020. Despite
that Brexit happened on 31 January 2020, its related uncertainties over
regulatory, labour and trade relationships with the European Union
continue to affect businesses and investment sentiment. Brexit and the
Covid-19 pandemic continue to represent major uncertainties to the
economy of the UK, and Covid-19 mutated strains and further
coronavirus wave and Brexit could further stall the economic recovery
following a pandemic-induced recession. The Group considered that,
should the major uncertainties linger, there is a risk that property prices
will see a major downturn in the UK

P2018F 28238 AEBWEBERHES
BHEdMRIzELEmMERES(E
£ 1)3800 % N AIIE D ~ MRRAEE 2 26
BH(TEERED AERES 2
50% ° HZE2021F3 AN BILFE A&
Ei#E—REBOBRESRNL  REA
3,800,000 7T ©

Ao ZREBGE/BE/EIHRKREZ
BERENRBEEEFMERE » E
HEARE RERFLTH MAKH
W EENEE N2 RWRERF 2 W
MEBRE  ABEEXBTESH =
MmESRRE DB R EREAFER
ANEBRKRZEREE -

HE2021F3A3BIEFE - ZERE
ZRRABREERIBEE 2019BREFTHE
BEHRAYENSGERRETE - XA
RERIBRIMEMSRLZETEXT
Pl PEMETERRE - BH
R BBEMEERN2020FTE - EE
HER 202051 A31 AR - HEEE -
BIREHBE A2 E5BEERSHEET
A REETERERRERS - &
BIRRE R 2019 MRS REBEE BT
gz EENEBAEZ - 201978 4k
REEEREEAT EERBSEE
MABB B AT aE i — S HEIE R IEEI B R
R 2 &BERE - XEERAE - WE
ZTHAPRERRBE  IGEREYMEE
BAIE T2 B -
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UNLISTED PROPERTY FUND (CONTINUED)

Given the circumstances surrounding the property market of the UK as
described above, the Group considered that it provided an opportunity
of the Group to be released and discharged from its onerous obligations
of making further payments in the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$34,200,000 (Note 31) for a property project with major risks and
uncertainties associated with it. Furthermore, taking into account the
financial position and business strategy of the Group, the Group
considers that the such release would have the effect of freeing up
capital and enhancing liquidity of the Group. The Group would then be
able to enjoy increased flexibility in utilising and reallocating its
resources, including making investments in other appropriate
investment projects. The Group will further use its resources as a listed
company to add value for viable and profitable acquisition projects with
reasonable certainty, so as to increase its profitability and return. Details
of the transaction were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 14 May 2021.

In view of such, the directors of the Company determined to suspend
the investment in the properties in the UK through the Fund and all
deposits amount was forfeited and assessed the fair value of the Fund
approximates to zero and, therefore, the fair value loss of approximately
HK$4,710,000 was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2021.

On 11 January 2022, the entire unlisted property fund was disposed of to
an independent third party with a consideration of USD1.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group does not hold any unlisted property
fund.

AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The amount due to immediate holding company was unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand and was offset entirely by
transferring to other borrowings during the year.

s

26.

kBT R & (4)

ERN EMREYENISZER  AEE
RAEMW T AEEFR MRS
AEB KR THBHEZYFIEE (EE—
H A H4934,200,00058 7T (i 5E31) 2
EEEB2HE - N KEEAEH
SR R ETE RS - ASBER A
BRI RRES MREAREE Z RSB
Be AKBEBTERREFNSEL
ERAEBEAE B BEHEM
ABELEEEELRE - AEEFE—
SERAEEALEMARZER  BEA
AEEFEZAIITEANTEKEER
BE - Mg MERFEEH KRB -
SHBRARRBEA2021F5 8148
MAENEEE -

ERNY RAREFRATELEEBHE
SHRAYEETIRE  MABEESR
BEWERREITESZAFEERS
Al REZE2021F3 831 HIEFERE
RAFEEELI 4,710,000 7T ©

R202F1A1ME BEFELITMEERE
SHWHETFT—RBIFE=H REHI1=E

JC °

R2022F 38318 NEB I EZEMT
FELEMMERES -

W AsF L 3 42 e 2 ) sk JH
BNEEERARFESERR 28

REARBREE TRFREBEAR
B RTE 2 o
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. A
Number Share
of shares capital
ROEE B2
‘000 HK$'000
TR TR
Authorised: AR ¢
At 1 April 2020, ordinary shares R2020F 4 18 - BREE
of HK$0.002 each 0002 BT 2 &K 5,000,000 10,000
Effect of share consolidation (Note (a)) R An Tl 2 S228 (B 5E (a)) (4,500,000) -
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and 31 March 202143 A31 8 -
2022, ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each 20214 H1H K%202263H31H -
BREME02 BT TR 500,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRER
At 1 April 2020 202054 A1 H 1,849,950 3,700
Placing of new shares (Note (b)) BR & A0 (B 5T (b)) 369,900 740
Effect of share consolidation (Note (a)) IR & OF < 522 (MifE @) (1,997,865) -
Placing of new shares (Note (b)) BeE# D (BTEE (b)) 44,392 888
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 MR2021F3A31B K
20214 A 1H 266,377 5328
Placing of new shares (Note (c)) B & FT D (3 () 53,272 1,065
At 31 March 2022 R202263A31H 319,649 6,393
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3 September 2020, a
share consolidation was approved with effect from 7 September 2020 in which every
ten shares issued and unissued ordinary share of HK$0.002 each in the share capital
of the Company was consolidated into one consolidated share having a par value of
HK$0.02 per consolidated share (“Share Consolidation”). Immediately upon the
Share Consolidation becoming effective, the authorised share capital of the Company
of HK$10,000,000 was divided into 500,000,000 consolidated shares, of which
221,984,964 consolidated shares were issued and fully paid. Details of the Share
Consolidation was disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 10 August 2020.

Placings in 2021

On 14 May 2020, the Company entered into the placing agreement with the placing
agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place, through
the placing agent on a best efforts basis, up to 369,900,000 placing shares at the
placing price of HK$0.025 per placing share to certain independent placees. The net
proceeds (after deducting the placing commission and other related expenses and
professional fees of approximately HK$461,000) from the placing has been used for
general working capital for the Group including the settlement of the writ of
summons as detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 17 March 2020.
Accordingly, the Group's share capital was increased by approximately HK$740,000
and the remaining balance of approximately HK$8,047,000 was credited to the share

premium account.

On 7 January 2021, the Company entered into the placing agreement with the
placing agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
through the placing agent on a best efforts basis, up to 44,392,000 placing shares at
the placing price of HK$0.116 per placing share to certain independent placees. The
net proceeds (after deducting the placing commission and other related expenses
and professional fees of approximately HK$229,000) from the placing has been used
for general working capital for the Group including the partial repayment of the
Group's loan and accrued interests due on 12 January 2021. Accordingly, the Group's
share capital was increased by approximately HK$888,000 and the remaining balance
of approximately HK$4,033,000 was credited to the share premium account.

Placing in 2022

On 1 September 2021, the Company entered into the placing agreement with the
placing agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
through the placing agent on a best efforts basis, up to 53,272,000 placing shares at
the placing price of HK$0.103 per placing share to certain independent placees. The
net proceeds (after deducting the placing commission and other related expenses
and professional fees of approximately HK$260,000) from the placing has been used
for general working capital for the Group including the partial repayment of the
Group's loan and accrued interests of approximately HKS1 million as detailed in the
Company’s announcement dated 1 September 2021. Accordingly, the Group’s share
capital was increased by approximately HK$1,065,000 and the remaining balance of
approximately HK$4,162,000 was credited to the share premium account.

27. A (%8)

GEE

(@)

(b)

(c)

BIEARRQFREMN 202059 A3B BT ZA
RAIRERFRAE LBB2 LBRER &
MEHEERE - WE B 202069 A7 HiRE
W EHRARATRAHGREE002BITZ
B+REBITRABITEBEREHA—RE
BEAEREHRM 02T ARG (TR
BEB]) - BRERGOAHFERE - AARZ
72 TE A% 72X 10,000,000 7% 7T 9 4 500,000,000 B &
BERX D - E R 221,984,964 B & BHAX (D BT B
TRER - ROEHZHBRAARBEA
2020F 8 A 10 B 2 KNI EE -

2021 FERESE

M20209F5 A 148 - AR R EAECERIER L
BE W% Bt AARERGRESEBRE
ERERZFNEEMNETEYARALRES
% 369,900,000 i% Bl & i 17 - BL & B A TR
ERR5 00258 7T o BLE TS RIEFRE (&
RESHEeREMERRIREEBRLN
46100078 TT) EAER KB —REEES
BEARAF B A2020F3 A 17HHREM
A ERSRZ AR - Bt - NEBARAR
3 I3 740,000 78 7T K $R FE 478,047,000 %8 TT AT
ARt i B AR o

R2021F1 78 - NAREEERIEET LA
EE - Bt AARERGHRAESBRES
REZZENEEQAETEILARALRERS
44392000 RECER D - BLEEBABRE SR
701168 7T o BREFTS I F R (KR E
EMe REMABBRAS REEE AL 229000
BLT)ERERSEN—REEES - BIEE
HEEREBER 20211 A2 AN ER
LEGFE - At REBMRAE MO
888,000 74 7T K #4 88 49 4,033,000 7% T 5T A BR 19

2022 FHRESHE

R2021F9A1H » AAREEERIBET LA
i Bt AARERGRAESBREE
RIEBERNEEAETBEYARARS RS
53,272,000 IRFRE B 1n - RSB AT RS
1501037 7T © BL & FT18 S IBF 58 (KRR EC
ERe REMABAMZRFEZEE R 260000
BLT)ERAEAEEN—REEES  BIEE
788 AR B K B 5K & FEFT .S 491,000,000
B HFBRERARRBEA2021F9A1H
BAE o Bt - AEBERRAIEINAT1,065000
BT R ERTEHI4,162,0008 0T ARRD S B BR ©
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

Rights issue after 31 March 2022

On 28 January 2022, the Company proposed rights issue on the basis of one rights
share for every one existing share held on 17 March 2022 ("Rights Issue’), at the
subscription price of HK$0.11 per rights share ('Rights Share”).

On 4 May 2022, total of 18 valid acceptances and applications had been received for
a total of 292,798,833 Rights Shares, which comprise: (i) a total of 9 valid acceptances
for provisional allotments under the renounceable provisional allotment letters
("PALs") in respect of a total of 159,587,737 Rights Shares, representing approximately
49.93% of the total number of Rights Shares available under the Rights Issue; and (i) a
total of 9 valid applications for excess Rights Shares under the form(s) of application
for use by the qualifying shareholders who wish to apply for excess Rights Shares
("EAFs") in respect of a total of 133,211,096 Rights Shares, representing approximately
41.67% of the total number of Rights Shares available under the Rights Issue.

On 5 May 2022, all conditions to the underwriting agreement entered into between
the Company and underwriter dated 28 January 2022 have been fulfilled and became
unconditional. As a result of the under subscription of the Rights issue and in
accordance with the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, the underwriter has
procured subscribers to subscribe for 26,850,131 unsubscribed Rights Shares,
representing approximately 8.40% of the total number of Rights Shares available for

subscription under the Rights Issue.

The Rights Issue has been completed and the Group received total net proceeds
(after deducting the estimated rights issue commission and other related expenses
and professional fees of approximately HK$2,354,000) amounting to approximately
HK$32,900,000. Partial of the proceeds had been used for repayment of the Group’s
other borrowings of approximately HK$25,976,000 and accrued interests of
approximately HK$1,214,000.

Details of the transaction was disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 17
March 2022, the prospectus of the Company dated 19 April 2022 and
announcements of the Company dated 28 January 2022, 17 February 2022, 1 April
2022 and 12 May 2022 respectively.

27. A (%8)

Bt - ()

(d)

20223 A31 HZBHK

202241 A28H © AA A EZER2024F3
17 BIREHE —REARGEE —RER
RS EEETERBR(THER])  REEAS
RRARAR AR 17 ([ AR5 1) 0.1 87T ©

MR202F 5848 BEES K180 B ME
MRS - R $£292,798 833 HLAZAR (D
H g VAR REBEITNEE CiEER
NE(EEREBENE ) ENE TRECE
MIZER - B RA 159587737 BRHE AR AR 1
FRE R AR IE T AR 2 AR AR D B EK
4993% : K& HXINIBREEEERERE
H B R IME IR AR 1 BT A FR s R A% (B R B
Rk ) AFFEIMERIR D 2 BRBE - SR
A 133,211,006 IR AR AR 15 - EE R AR IE
T AT EREE 2 AR AR (D 4R BRAY 41.67% ©

MR202F5 A58 - ANARIEBHEEAEI A
B /202241 A28 AWM B B 22054
KEER BN AEEY - BRHIRRBETRE
RAREBHEBRNGR  BHEECRERRE
AFRBE 26,850,131 RTERBE AN, - HE
RERETAEREZHBRKROBED
8.40% ©

HARE A kAR E BRI TS RIB R
(MR AR S Rt aRE M R E
B F 492,354,000/ 7T ) A BL47 32,900,000 % 7T, ©
FIiSHRIBFREN—BOEAREEAEEN
H 18 5K 492597600078 7T R EEHFI B4
1,214,000 BT °

RBHBEENBHA202F3 A17HHA
ANTFEEK - BHAE202F4 A 19RHARQT
MR ER R BB B A202F1 A28H
2029 2R178 ~202F 4818 K202%5
ANBEMARARAL -
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FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 28. A% W g B R A
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&T FHETT
Finance income B iges
Interest income on short-term bank deposits %8 HA$R 1T 5% 2 2 A 5 7
Finance costs ZURCID RN
Interest expenses on borrowings (Note 34(c)) &8 2 R8BS (B 5E 34(c)) (4,302) (4,241)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABEZMNERXZ
(Note 34(c)) (FF5E34(0)) (79) (204)
(4,381) (4,445)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

On 10 June 2019, the Group and the two independent third parties
entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
vendors have agreed to sell and the Group has conditionally agreed to
acquire the sale shares, representing 30% of the issued share capital of
Guardian City Limited (“Guardian City") at a total consideration of
approximately HK$176,005,000, of which is satisfied by cash as to
HK$10,000,000 and 153,000,000 shares issued by the Company at
HK$1.085 per share (equivalent to HKS$166,005,000).

On 25 June 2019, the acquisition was completed, Guardian City became
an associate of the Company. Guardian City was principally engaged in
investment holding which holds 62.55% equity interest in Campfire
Holdings Company Limited (collectively as “Campfire Group”). Campfire
Group was principally engaged in operation of co-working spaces and
co-living spaces in Hong Kong and the UK.

29. 5 P ER A B fth 2 v W g5 BY
L § <93

MR2019F6 108 REEBERZE L
FE-HFIVEEH®E B ZEES
ERELNE  mMAKBEDHEHRZEK
A& 85 & A% 10 (#8 & 7 Guardian City Limited
([ Guardian City ]) B2 87T I& A8 2 30%) -
R B H 417600500078 70 © & AR
% 110,000,000 7T R IBBAR RIS
1% {% £ 1.085 & 7T 8% 17 153,000,000 % A% 19
(FRE 7 166,005000787T) Z T AT AT -

R2019F6 A25H - W FEIBE K -
Guardian City X B AN A &) 2 B & A A o
GuardianCity = ZE{ F R EE IR - %
& Campfire Holdings Company Limited
(%78 [ Campfire 2@ ]) 2 62.55% A& 4 -
Campfre REF ER BB R ABEH EH
ZETEEEARAZEAEMEE -
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29.

30.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (CONTINUED)

In February 2021, Campfire Group was under the capital restructured by
transferring and allotting shares of Guardian City and Campfire Holdings
Company Limited among the shareholders. Upon the completion of the
capital restructuring and as at 31 March 2021, the Group no longer holds
any equity interests in Guardian City and has directly held 2.5% of
Campfire Holdings Company Limited. In view of such, the directors of
the Company have classified the investment of Campfire Group from
associate to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income at the completion date as the purpose of the investment is for
long term investment during the year ended 31 March 2021.

In view of the COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020 and ongoing travel
restrictions which has caused adverse impact on co-working spaces
industry, the directors of the Company estimated the fair value of the
investment approximates to zero (2021: Nil) as at 31 March 2022.
Accordingly, no fair value change is recognised for the year ended 31
March 2022.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 17
October 2014. Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 28 September 2018, the refreshment of the Scheme
has been approved and the terms are stated below.

Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives to participants to

contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high caliber employees and attract those that are valuable to the Group.

208

30.

/N R AN N T & U
il e ()

F 202142 A » Campfire EEEBERE
i 8 2 K BP #% Guardian City & Campfire
Holdings Company Limited J% 15 # 17 i% 2K
B ERRAEAR RN2021F3 A
318 - REETHHFE Guardian City BI1E
o] B% # & & #% ¥ B Campfire Holdings
Company Limited #92.5% ° 5 & Itk » &
RIEEBMDARBIRE 220215
3ANRAILEFE  ARAEFTNTKA
B Campfie S E MR E BB & A7) 5
BARAFEFAHMZEKZ SR

AN B B 2020 F ¥1 B 4R B9 2019 & Ak
REREBRFHENEITRIEEET
EEBITEERTAEZE  ARFES
HEHREN A FER2022F3 31 B#E
MZEQ21F ) Ay ERER
20293 A3 BILFERRBAFEEE -

B HE % B DA I 2 B B A5F K

ARBR 201410 A 17 BERM BB
2 ([ZT8l]) - BIBEARARER 2018
FORAMHBITZARRBRERER RS
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30. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Participants of the Scheme

The board of directors of the Company, may at its discretion, grant
options to the Group's directors, officers, employees (including, without
limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract consultants
(including executive and non-executive consultants) or any member of
the Group, to subscribe for shares of HK$0.02 each in the share capital of
the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

Under the Scheme, subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders, the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme if the grant of such option will result in the limit being
exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under this Scheme and any other
share option of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution
adopting this Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
Options granted to each participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of Options to a participant which
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
Options granted and to be granted to such participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding the limit
shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in advance with such
participant and his close associates abstaining from voting.

30. il & S DA B Ay 2 RE BE A sk (46)
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30. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Maximum entitlement of each participant

(Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on
the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of
HKS5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

Period within which the share must be taken up

under an option

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors of the Company, save that such period shall not be more than
ten years from the date of the offer of the share options, subject to the
provisions for early termination as set out in the Scheme. Unless
otherwise determined by the directors at their absolute discretion, there
is no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must be
held before an option can be exercised. In addition, there is no
performance target which must be achieved before any of the options

can be exercised.

Amount payable upon acceptance of the option and
the period within which the payment must be made

The nominal consideration of HK$1.00 shall be paid within 28 days from

the date of offer of the option.

30. il &5 S DA B Ay 2 2L BE A sk (460)
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30. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Basis of determining the exercise price of the option

The subscription price for shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and notified to the
participant in the offer and shall be no less than the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(2)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant (provided
that in the event that any options is proposed to be granted
within a period of less than five business days after the trading of
the shares shall be used for the purpose of this paragraph; and

(3)  the nominal value of a share on the day of grant.
Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
date of adoption (i.e. 26 September 2014 and ending on 25 September
2024), after which no further options will be granted but the provisions
of the Scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted or exercised prior to otherwise as
may be required in accordance with the provision of the Scheme.

30.

B 3 B VLI oy 7 B BREASF sk ()

2 9 P R A o

REZENEOABBELSESTER
REBEETYREZNPNE2EEZE
% AATMERUTREZ&SE :

(1) BORELBEARBEIMELZE
BRERMRZWTHIE

Q BROREERHAHMAELXA
RERPEL 2 BERERMARLZ
FHYHEERREOERRD
RABERA ZMEREREROE
B - ARABRABIE) K&

3 RELBHZEMHEE -
WZnl#l Z B IR

ZATEEmEA AR I0FRE R RE
B (BN201449 A 26 B & 202449 A 25
Hib) HEToE— PR EERE
ZETEIZ B Z RN BHERDAB
W A RIRRZ AT MG AT BE B 1T 2R
ZRIATEE IR TR AT R IR A A -

173



174 Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
5o s R Mk
For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 220223 A31H IEFE

30. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 30. JBHE &5 VLB Oy s BE B ALk ()
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued) et El Z R IR (4])

REBZABIR L ZBREFBNT -

Details of share options granted under the Scheme are as follows:

29 October 13 December

2018 2018 Total
2018 2018 5
10H29H 12813 H e
Number of ordinary shares to be RITERRTETC
issued upon exercise: LTmREA -
— Chairman —xF 16,968,000 - 16,968,000
— Directors — &% 35,936,000 - 35,936,000
— Independent non-executive — BN IEMITES
directors 3,392,000 - 3,392,000
— Employees — &R 8,500,000 1,000,000 9,500,000
64,796,000 1,000,000 65,796,000

LT LR EBEREMNS - T &K
A Z50% BN R A B 1218
AIEm 2 SRR FITE(TE—4t )
KR F & AR A 2 50% 88 IR X B
HARE 5T 24 8 A J@im 2 (R R A] 174
(=) - WARATBR2EE
AR T AR ANBRERNEARATE

For all the share options granted, 50% of the share options granted to be
exercised by each grantee at any time after the expiration of 12 months
from the date of grant (the “first tranche”) and 50% of the share options
granted to be exercised by each grantee at any time after the expiration
of 24 months from the date of grant (the “second tranche”). In the
event the grantee ceases to be the participants, the share options
granted to the grantee shall lapse on the date which the grantee ceases

to be the participant.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, share-based payment expense of
approximately HKSNil (Note 11) (2021: HK$30,000) for the share options
granted and vested was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss
with a corresponding credit in share option reserve and the vesting

condition of first tranche was fulfilled.

In respect of the share options granted on 29 October 2018, they are
exercisable commencing from 29 October 2019 to 28 October 2023
(both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from 29 October 2020 to

28 October 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the second tranche.

In respect of the share options granted on 13 December 2018, they are
exercisable commencing from 13 December 2019 to 12 December 2023
(both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from 13 December 2020

to 12 December 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the second tranche.

RBBEZ AR -

HZE2002F3A3I8IEFE  ERER
FECEREZBRODAERNHAIY
T T (FFE11) (2021 4F © 30,0007 7T )
ERRAE=ER - WHEG ARERE
B MEB M EBIKGFCEERK -

BF2018F 10 A 208 B AV EERREM E -
H Al 72019410 H29 8 £20234%10 A
2B (BRIEEEMA) A T1IE(E—4)
K 52020910 A29 8 E 20234910 A 28
B(BEEEMR) A T (E4) -

BF2018F 12813 B AEREmS -
H Al 201912 A13 8 £20235F12 A
NHE(BEEEMB) A 7176 (B —#t)
N 2020912 H138 E2023F 12812
H(REEEMB)AIFITE(EH) -
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30. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued)

Details of the exercise prices and the movement of number of share
options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are

30. il & S DA B Ay 2 RE BE A sk (46)

WZnt & Z B IR (%)

P02 %2021 E3 A31 B 21T EER
MARATE R AT TTE 2 A B 2 Em

as follows. T o
Number of share options
BREZA
adjustment
Exercise Lapsed/ on share Lapsed/

price Asat forfeited  consolidation At forfeited At
per share 1 April during during 31 March during 31 March
(HKS) 2020 the year the period 2021 the year 2022
BRTHE 20205 Er Hrske R0 5 £ H20225
(&) 4818 RWRM AHiMBEE 3A31A &M/RK 3A31A
290ctober 2018 2018F10A29A 134 30,860,000 (7,669,600) (21,024,000) 2,166400 (169,600) 1,996,800
13 December 2018 018%F 128136 120 1,000,000 - (900,000) 100,000 - 100,000
31,860,000 (7,669,600) (21,924,000) 2266400 (169,600) 2,096,800

As a result of Share Consolidation, adjustments were made to the exercise price of
and the number of the outstanding share options under the Scheme with effect from
7 September 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 169,600 (2021: 3,834,800) share
options were lapsed. The corresponding share option reserve of
HK$708,000 (2021: HKS$1,917,000) was transferred to accumulated losses.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 3,834,800 share options lapsed
and the vesting condition has not been fulfilled. The corresponding
reversal of the share-based payment expenses of HK$ 1,359,000 incurred
in the prior years was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

* HARMD A 8202159 A7 B - Uikt
BT RARTENERENTEBRREET

B -

B E20293831HIEFE » 16960013
(2021 4F : 3,834,80017 ) ¥ AR #E 2 7k - 48
JiE Y B8 A% 4 5 % 708,000 7% JT (2021 4F -
1917,0007870) B8 A Z5HEE -

HEZ2021%F3A31H It F Z - 3834800
MEBRED RN BRBIEGREE
Ko HERBONBAFEEEZRG A
A FB 213590008 TTE RiE A 18
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30.

31.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 30. B &S DL Uy 25 Bk B A K (%)
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued) W% al il 2 B IR (A)
The fair values of employee services received in return for share options AHEE R B A HE i YR Y 1B B IR 7S
granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options NAFEEDZ2EEREOERERIRE
granted at grant date. The fair value is determined by the directors of the HEIR A FEFE - R FETIBEAAT
Company with reference to the valuation performed by an independent EERKAEB T HEMESEA -_BR
valuer, CHFT using the binomial option pricing model and significant HRErTBEAET mMzEANTEEH
inputs into the model were as follows: ABBENT -
29 October 13 December
2018 2018
2018 2018 F
10H29H 12A13H
Expected volatility TR i 48.71% 50.07%
Expected option life Te B A AR £F 51 5 years 4 5 years &
Expected dividend yield T8 B AR B s X 0.00% 0.00%
Annual risk-free interest rate FEERRFIR 2.26% 2.1%
Fair value — First tranche ~EE —HE—H# HK$0389/ 87T  HKS$0.3958 7T
— Second tranche — Bt HKS0.445787C  HK$0454 77T
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical T8 HA R R S R R R B 2 A R R R 2 R
volatility of future trends, adjusted for any expected changes to future % WiBE AR RS E RS KK E IR
volatility based on publicly available information, which may also not T FEEAE SHEHFAR - HAJge IR T —
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the options was EABERGER - NP EFETHEt LB
incorporated into the measurement of the fair value. RS i 7 A1 -
The variables and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the HetERENATFEMEANEH LK
share options were the directors’ best estimates. Change in subjective RABENEEMT - EBHABREKS
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value. EEO U AT EELEEATE -
The Group does not have a legal or constructive obligation to NEBW M EFRAH TR FARSER
repurchase or settle the options in cash. B REARAE -
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. EAKE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had commitment, which was contracted
but not provided and subject to fulfillment of condition precedents for
to make the remaining capital commitment to the unlisted property
fund of HK$34,200,000. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the capital
commitment was released (Note 25). As at 31 March 2022, the Group
does not have any material capital commitment.

M2021F3A31H AEEBEEHE
KRB 2 ANEW AR E K SR G R
FAEE  UBIFELTWERSIEL#
T & AN HHE 34,200,0008 7T © B E 2022 F
3A31BIEFE - EREED R (M
25) c FR2022% 3 A31 B - NEBE ET
A R E ANFIE ©
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

(b)

32. HEANLRS

Key management compensation (@) EHEEHANEZHM
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEAMEF] 2,966 3,044
Equity settled share-based payments & e 45 E LARR 1 B ERE A 3R - 1,257

Pension costs defined contribution BEZSMAERHKE R

plans and social security costs HERER A 54 54
3,020 4,355

Key management personnel include the directors of the Company
and other senior management of the Group. The remuneration of
key management personnel is determined by the management of
the Company having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

Save as disclosed elsewhere on the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material related
party transactions. These transactions are made of terms mutually
agreed by the related parties.

(b)

IZERABBRARRERLA
SEAMSRERE - FT2EBA
EMHFMa AR EEBREEA
KRR TSBEETE

BREEMBHRREMBOARE
O REBETUTERRBEAL
Ry ZERPIHIREZRBEEA
T EMRWE 2 RRETL -

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALERE REME THERT FET
Beneficial owner Interest expense 181 240
ERBEAA FMEBFX
Company with common executive director Interest expense - 3,147
BEBEHRAMITESE 2 AR MERX

The Group rented one property as office from a related company,
which one of substantial shareholders of the Group had beneficial
interest, with a lease term of two years and monthly lease
payment of HK$40,000. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
lease payment was HK$360,000 (2021: HK$480,000) and the lease
expired in December 2021. As at 31 March 2021, the leased
property was recognised as right-of-use assets with net carrying
amount, after provision of impairment, of approximately Nil and
respective lease liabilities of approximately HK$343,000. As at 31
March 2022, there were no relevant rental payable included in
other payables (Note 22) owing to the related company (2021:
HK$640,000).

AEERAAEEEF —ZFERE
BEESESNEEAREA |
MEEBRAE  HHAME
B4 5400008 7T - REE 2022
FIANBULEFE HEMKA
360,000  7T.(20214F : 480,000 %
JC) 0 AR 2021 F 12 BRI - B
2021F3A31H  HEMERER
BERBEEE  EREFHEGHE
BER)HAS HBAHREARY
£5343,000%8 JU e F20224 3 A 31
B WEG AE M EAER (T
22) W HE A FE T A& A R A& (2021
£F 1 640,000787T) °
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33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Disposal of Summit Pacific Group Limited (“Summit
Pacific”)

On 15 December 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Gain
Global Inc. ("Gain Global”) entered into a sales and purchase
agreements with an independent third party, pursuant to which Gain
Global agreed to dispose of 100% equity interest in Summit Pacific
(representing the entire equity interest in Summit Pacific held by the
Group) with an aggregate cash consideration HK$2,000 (the “Disposal”).

The principal activity of Summit Pacific was engaged in property holding
until 31 March 2020 and Summit Pacific became inactive since the year
ended 31 March 2021.

The breakdown of consolidated assets/(liabilities) of Summit Pacific as at
15 December 2021, the completion date of Disposal, and the
consideration of Disposal are as follow:

33. B HHE 2w

Hi & Summit Pacific Group
Limited ([ Summit Pacific |)

R2021F12 A158 ° AXRABNEEKE
2 A Gain Global Inc. ([ Gain Global |) 82—
EBYE=FAIVEEHZE Bt
Gain Global [8] & H & Summit Pacific 100%
RS HE ({5 7N = B BT Summit Pacific 2 2BA%
) #BeREAE2008T(HES
B

fE2020F 3 A31H Z B * Summit Pacific
ZJEEFES AL EWESLER - Summit
Pacific B & Z 2021 43 A 31 B I FE#EW
METEEE o

Summit Pacific A2021 €12 B 15 B 2424
BE/(BE)PAUNLREEEE KRB
o

HK$'000

FH&TT
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITHEER 2]
Accruals and other payables FEETE R R EAth FE T BR K (530)
Net liabilities disposed of: BHEBEFE (509)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 9) HEW B R Rz Y (iFE9) 511
Total consideration to be satisfied by cash IR X2 EBRE 2

Cash flow movement in relation to the Disposal during the year ended

HE202F3IANAILFEHEREEIE

31 March 2022: BEEzREREEE :
HK$’000
FET
Cash consideration received BUIRESRE 2
Cash at bank Disposed BHERITHES (21)
Net cash outflow arising on Disposal HEEBEEEZRESRLFRE (19)
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34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@)

(b)

(0

. n\;ﬁ/\ﬁﬁ{fciié Mi FIEE

Major non-cash transaction (a) FHEHIFEHRERT
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the accrued finance cost in REZE202F3A31HIEFE @ fE
amount of HK$1,506,000, lease payment of HK$911,000, other TSR AN 1,506,000 7 « THE K
borrowings obtained from Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing in amount TH911,0007 7T+ B B K B %t 4 BX
of HK$2,000,000 and the amount due to immediate holding B Eﬁﬁ/rmfﬁ%ﬁ’\ZOOOOOOE%TE&fg1"JL
company in amount of HK$339,000 were offset entirely by E%@J FXIE 339,000 78 TT i
transferring to other borrowings. @L%ﬁﬁ@%?ﬂi\%{ﬁﬁﬁ
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from (b) REFEBEERERF  HEWHE -
disposals of property, plant and equipment comprise: MENEEAERTERTE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Net book value (Note 15) AREDFE (3R 15) - -
Gain on disposals of property, HEME - B & #EREE
plant and equipment (Note 9) (Mt3E9) = 156
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - BEMREBTERIA
plant and equipment - 156
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) RbEWEEEZ BB
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from TRELNAREERS mﬁlé&@]Zﬁ
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. ELE) BIERENIERESE

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from
financing activities.

ﬁﬂéﬁxé%ﬂ?iZfﬁi /E'Ji%%/ﬂL%E
KAARKRASREBNAER Z 4R
/Ez\fﬁi//wgﬁ':':/\*ﬁﬁj@ﬁ;ﬁéﬂé
EZREREZAE -

179



180 Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZR AR QA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S BA S R R P R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(ZE2022F3A31HIEFE

34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 34. &ZA&B4e R EEMEE (8)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) TG B A A 2 AR R (4)
financing activities (Continued)

Other
borrowings Amounts Total
interest dueto liabilities
included in director/ from
Lease Other other former financing
liabilities borrowings payables director activities
SEAR AR

R R ENEE/ BEIDEL
BEafk AftfEE EERNE AEEHA ZREER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FAR TAET AT FAR TET
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4 718 8,765 30,734 1,001 848 41,408
Changes from financing cash flows: BERLREEY:
Proceeds from other borrowings HiEB 2 EE - 28,000 - - 28,000
Repayment of other borrowings EBHMEE - (28,734) - - (28,734)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREAE (1,246) - - - (1,246)
Payments for interests FEMT (204) - (4193) - (4397)
Repayment to former director/director IR E %,/ EZEH - - - (559) (559)
Total changes from financing cash flows B &R &R ELTHEE (1450) (734) (4193) (559) (6936)
Other changes: 2 :
Interest charges on other borrowings ~ HAEE 28X H
(Note 28) (MzE28) - - 4241 - 4241
Interest charges on lease liabilities HEAE RS
(Note 28) (MizE28) 204 - - - 204
New lease liabilities MEEBRE 708 - - - 708
Early termination of lease RELHAE (6,189) - - - (6,188)
Lease payable (Note 16) RS (Fi516) (480) - - - (480)
Reclassification to other payables ENHRZEMEMIRR - - - (289) (289)
Total other changes Hth#8meE (5,756) - 4241 (289) (1804)

At 31 March 2021 R202163A318 1,559 30,000 1,109 - 32,668
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34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 34. LZA&B4e R EEME (8)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) TG B A A 2 AR R (4)
financing activities (Continued)

Other
borrowings Amount Total
interest dueto liabilities
included in immediate from
Lease Other other holding financing
liabilities borrowings payables company activities
st AR AN

RRzEM EAERER REEDEL
HEAE A& EEANE NAFAE ZEEAE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TER TER
At 1 April 2021 R0 F4A1H 1,559 30,000 1,109 339 33,007
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSREEY:
Proceeds from other borrowings EMEEZMEHE = 20 = = 20
Repayment of other borrowings EEHEMEE - (3,000) - - (3,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHERE (679) - - - (679)
Payments for interests FEMT (79) - (3,207) - (3,286)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BY AR &R ELTEE (758) (2,980) (3,207) - (6,945)
Other changes: HiEE) -
Off set with related parties balance BHEEATES - 339 - (339) -
Off set with lease liabilities HHHERE (911) 911 = - =
Off set with interest payable EHEARE - 1,506 (1,506) - -
Interest charges on other borrowings ~ EftEE 2 F B % H
(Note 28) (MizE28) - - 4,302 - 4,302
Interest charges on lease liabilities REREFEXH
(Note 28) (PizE28) 79 - - - 79
New lease liabilities MHEERE 2,092 - - - 2,092
Total other changes Ewggms 1,260 2,756 2,796 (339) 6473

At 31 March 2022 R202%3A318 2,061 29,776 698 = 32,535
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35. SUBSIDIARIES 35. B A H

Place of Nominal value Percentage of equity attributable
establishment/ of issued to the Company
principal place share capital/ RATREEREREAL
Name of subsidiary of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
k1 v BRITRE/
WEAR SR TEREHE HEMEREE ¢ Mg TEXK
Arcadia Jewellery Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of = 100%  Trading of jewellery products
HK$500,000
EEUMHER A B MR 500000/ 7T BEREEM
Man Sang Jewellery (Hong Kong)  Hong Kong Ordinary share of HKS1 - 100%  Trading of pearl and jewellery
Limited products
RERE (FE)BRRA EE LERET BEEREER
Hui Bao Feng Jewellery the PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Purchasing and processing of
(Shenzhen) Limited US$2,000,000 pearls and assembling of pearl
jewellery
EFLRECRINERRA  HE FEE 2 2,000,000 % 7T FRRENTBHRER
UHRE
Full Wealth Investment Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Financial assets investment
Hong Kong Limited
ERREEBRRATF &k EREKET TRIEERE
Sparkle World Inc, British Virgin Islands Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment Holding
HEBEAHE LER =T REER
Full Wealth Inc. British Virgin Islands Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment Holding
EmBRAF RERAES L@k %L REZM
Arcadia Global Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment Holding
EELRIERBRAT) HRELES L@k %L REER
Gain Global Inc. British Virgin Islands Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment Holding
HRELES L@k %L REER
Thriving Oasis Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Dormant
EBEAHS LB 1= TE
Eminent Affluent Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Dormant
ERELES Tmk1ET TEH
Arcadia Investment Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Investment Holding
Limited
EELREZFRERDA 0 LRk BT REER
Man Sang Innovations Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$5,000 - 100%  Dormant
REARERAF B TR 500087 TEY
Pro Art Jewellery Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$100 - 100%  Dormant
BEERBEARLA 0 L@k 1008 TEY

The English name of a subsidiary represents the best effort by the
management of the Company in translating its Chinese name as it does

not have official English name.

As at 31 March 2022, none of the subsidiaries had issued any debt

securities (2021: Nil).

—RIBARLEE TR AR K
XEBNAARERERRAS NS
Y S TR RIS -

&
H

2022938318 - EN B AR %
ITHERERES (202146 « £) °
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36. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 36. AN wHZMHEER
COMPANY
Statement of financial position B 5 R L 32

As at 31 March 2022 A 202243 A31H

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T TET FETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets kREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBARIZEKE 11,198 11,198
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NGBS 49,518 57,684
60,716 68,882
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables T8 kI8 K At FE W AR 3K = -
Cash and cash equivalents RENZERRE 246 2,562
246 2,562
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables E At AR R 7,561 8793
Other borrowings HMEE 29,776 30,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries RS NGIE 28,819 25,196
Amount due to immediate AN N=RE32 ) NI /S|
holding company - 1,539
66,156 65,528
Net current liabilities RBAEFHE (65,910) (62,966)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BB BESE (5,194) 5916
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity RATBREGRER
holders of the Company
Share capital f& R 27 6,393 5328
Reserves % @ (11,587) 588
Total equity BrEs (5,914) 5916
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by AAB MR RKE R 2022F6 4298
the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022 and is signed on its behalf. EEEet AU TEERREE -
Cheng Chi Kin Cheung Sze Ming
HyFER RErE
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director

FERBTEF HITEF
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36. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 36. KnwlZ B ER (%)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Statement of financial position (Continued) B R DR (4])
Note: Bt sE
(a)  Reserves mov t of the Company (a) FAAFFEES
Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B EE BRERE RitER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FAExT FAET FAT
At 1 April 2020 202054 H1H 576,509 11,348 (550,324) 37,533
Loss for the year REEER - - (49,055) (49,055)
Equity-settled share-based [ w45 5 LARR 19
payments (Note 30) REGA R (B 30) - 30 - 30
Lapse of share options (Note 30)  f&A%#E 528 (Fff 5 30) - (1,917) 1917 -
Placing of new shares (Note 27(b)) B2 &A% {5 (Fff &£ 27(b)) 12,080 - - 12,080

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 7202183 A31 B &

20214818 588,589 9,461 (597,462) 588
Loss for the year AREEEE - - (16,337) (16,337)
Lapse of share options (Note 30) B A% #E k28 (P& 30) - (708) 708 -
Placing of new shares (Note 27(c))  Be & #TAR 1 (MisE 27(c)) 4,162 = = 4,162

At 31 March 2022 A2022F3831H 592,751 8,753 (613,091) (11,587)
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37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 37. #H P15 S i

(@) Directors’ emoluments (@) FEFMHE
The remuneration of every director is set out below: SERZMEHEHWMT :
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE2022F3A831ALLFE
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in MEABEEF(TwmARQAIEK B
respect of their services as directors, whether of the company or NAEB)ZREENFESHE
its subsidiary undertaking: SR EfNS -
Employers
Equity contribution
settled toa
share- retirement
based benefit
Name of director Fees Salary payments scheme Total
RELENRD EXHRAER
32 e ¢ RERAREX SRR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiET FER TiET FER TET
Executive directors UiTES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman) HFREL (1) - 390 = 18 408
Mr.Leung Alex AT L E 120 - - - 120
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REQAE - 884 - 18 902
120 1,274 - 36 1,430
Independent non-executive directors B EHTES
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny HERTE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic EN S 180 - - - 180
Mr.Wong Siu Keung, Joe kg (RunE
(appointed on 14 January 2022) 1A 14 BEZT) 39 = = = 39
Mr. Lee Kin Keung FRBEE(R00EF
(resigned on 14 January 2022) 1R 14BE(E) 173 - - - 173
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37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(@)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set
out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in

respect of their services as directors, whether of the company or
its subsidiary undertaking:

37. EEN R ()

(a) HHEME(H)

EEERITHRAZ 2S5 &M
N ¢

BZ2021F3A31HILEE
MEBEE(THRARANEKEB

RAEBR) ZREENTEERE
ERYZ ENE

Employers
Equity contribution
settled t0a
share- retirement
based benefit
Name of director Fees Salary payments scheme Total
REZZEIRGD ETHRKEN
BEEMY Hne ¥4 BERMAHEX Bk st
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FHL FEL FHL FAR THEL
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman) BYREE(TRE) - 39 - 18 408
Mr. Leung Alex RREHAE - 120 122 - 2142
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming s O - 914 1032 18 1,964
- 1424 1,154 36 2614
Independent non-executive directors BV HTES
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny HERLE (R 20205
(appointed on 30 September 2020) 9R30HEZMA) 90 - - - 90
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic B E(R2020F
(appointed on 30 September 2020) 9A30BEZME) 90 - - - 90
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen REREE (R 20205
(resigned on 30 September 2020) 9A30HET) 110 - - - 110
Mr. Lee Kin Keung FRBLE 20 - 103 - 33
Mr. Leung Ka Kui Johnny RFERE(R200F
(resigned on 30 September 2020) 9A30BET) 110 - - - 10
620 - 103 - 723
Notes: s -

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
non-executive director's emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no directors agreed to waive their partial
emoluments voluntarily (2021: Nil).

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there is no Chief Executive Officer
(the "CEO") of the Group employed. In the absence of the CEO, the duties of the CEO
have been to be collectively undertaken by all executive directors of the Company.

EXFrBTEEZ e T BEmRNEEMR
HEARBRAEEEHEE BRI
EXPTRERITE R 2 T EARNREE
RARBLEMB AR ERARMEZ R -
EXFTRBERITERE M T BRI R
SERARBERMEH R

REZE202F3A3BILEFE  BEEER
EEMRERSZBOME (2021 F : ) ©

HZE20202F K201 38318 ILFE - KE
U EEATRAR ([THREAR]) - =17
HAHNERT  THREHNBBHEAQA
PRPITESHEFE -
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37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 37. EHEH KRR (4)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination (b) = Z IR AR B gl i A )
benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any retirement AEE AR EE S IEE S YER
benefits or termination benefits during the year (2021: Nil). AR R FI S BER AR 1 (2021 £F -

) o

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for (c)  HUHE 4 3L o = I T 1 28 =
making available directors’ services At Z A
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company did not pay REZE202F3A/3MHLEFE K
consideration to any third parties for making available directors’ A AN LA R A & R AR T M
services (2021: Nil). ]38 =75 ST HME (2021 4F « ) ©

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other (d) ARU#ESR - EfFZ22H%
dealings in favour of directors, controlled HEREREEZEAZE
bodies corporate by and connected entities with o SR M HA AR 5 2 BB
such directors
During the year ended 31 March 2022, there were no loans, quasi- REZ2022F38318IEFE - #
loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or BITVINESENEE 2 XEGEAE
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such NEABERASTAZER  EE
directors (2021: Nil). AR EMIZ P LB (2021 F ¢ &) °

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, () HFENRY “HhHEGHPZ

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial statements, no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2021: Nil).

39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issued by the board of directors on 29 June 2022.

HORBEDE

ZEROUBHRERAIBEEN
NG G R 8 AN S TR B
RRRWEFTERS RARF]Z
EBEMARG ZESHERBERE
EFEEEAER I EERS &
HERAH (20214 « &) »

B
JiS

39. bk B R

GAMBHERN202FEc AR EES

SHUE R HETIE -
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RESULTS E

Iy

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31MALFEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 F 20215 2020 20194F 2018 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET FET FET FET
Revenue A 62,647 43,324 111,978 171,266 187,357
Loss before income tax TSR AR (15,462) (52,077) (280,402) (43,220) (128,555)
Income tax credit/(expense) TSR E R, (FAX) - 292 (1,420) 404 (1,232)
Loss attributable to equity AR PR R EAL
holders of the Company FEBE
for the year (15,462) (51,785) (281,822) (42,816) (129,787)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 299 &=L
At 31 March
M3H31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 F 20215 2020 20194 2018 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET FETT
Total assets BEE 82,109 91,765 158,657 277860 254,068
Total liabilities BEE 46,242 45,820 73,525 79,882 17,560
Equity attributable to equity ~ ZxA B A& E
holders of the Company FEfL 35,867 45,945 85,132 197,978 236,508
Note: ffeE -

The financial figures were extracted from the consolidated financial statements in the annual report. B ES T IEE ER Y S MBEEHRE -
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